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PREFACE TO THE PAPERBACK EDITION

THIs BIOGRAPHY of William Z. Foster, former National Chairman of the
American Communist party, was near completion in 1991 when Russia’s
new government outlawed the disgraced Communist party of the Soviet
Union and seized its main archive collections. The subsequent “opening”
of these previously secret records created an excellent opportunity to ex-
pand my knowledge of Foster’s career.! The former central party archives
in Moscow, now known as the Russian Center for Research and Preser-
vation of Documents on Modern and Contemporary History (RTsK-
hIDNI), contained Foster’s personal papers. In addition, it was revealed
that from 1919 to 1944, the American Communist party had deposited
its own papers, correspondence, and records of operation in Moscow at
the now-opened Soviet archives. The RTsKhIDNI also contained the pa-
pers and records of the Communist International (Comintern), a large
and very secretive apparatus headquartered in Moscow that coordinated
the activities of Communist parties around the world from 1919 until its
dissolution in 1943. Also available at the archives were the records of the
Red International of Labor Unions (Profintern), which served as a coordi-
nating body for Communist activities in labor unions in different coun-
tries. This was of particular interest to me because Foster’s main sphere of
activities during his career as a Communist was in the American labor
movement.

During extended trips to Moscow in 1992 and 1993 for research for
this book, I examined the Profintern (American section, 1921-1933) and
the Foster collections most thoroughly, surveying all of the relevant files
in each. The Foster papers, useful as they are, contain mostly political
documents and correspondence; [ was disappointed to find that they con-
tain very little that can shed light on his family and closest personal rela-
tionships. With regards to the very large CPUSA and Comintern collec-
tions, I focused my research on periods of intraparty controversy, records
of significant strikes and organizing campaigns, and files containing cor-
respondence with party leaders before 1932, the year Foster suffered a
breakdown that put him out of commission for several years. The CPUSA
and Comintern documents thin out considerably after 1936. Nonethe-
less, as a result of my research in Moscow, I was able to add considerable
new information to my biography of Foster, which was published in
1994. In 1996, I conducted additional research on a topic related to the
history of the American Communist party. This research yielded some
additional information on Foster. In this preface I discuss the most impor-
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tant new material on Foster that I have discovered since the first pub-
lication of this book.

The opening of the RTsKhIDNI has made available much new evi-
dence for historians who have debated whether the American Communist
party was directed and sustained primarily from Moscow by Soviet po-
liticans and the Comintern, or whether it was a relatively independent
political movement that responded primarily to social and economic con-
ditions in the United States. This biography of Foster contends that al-
though American Communism was connected in complex ways to Soviet
ideology and politics, its impetus, motivation, and accomplishments were
derived from mostly American sources. There is, of course, considerable
documentation of the party’s relationship with the Communist Interna-
tional and the Soviet Communist party in the recently opened archives.
Because of the secrecy of the Communist movement, it is tempting to treat
these previously unavailable documents as decisive “revelations” that
finally uncover the “true” nature of American Communism. However,
the information contained in these collections often raises as many ques-
tions as it resolves. The reports of various organizers show a degree of
“diplomatizing” with higher party officials, but they also show how
strikes, organizing campaigns, and other acts of protest had a spontane-
ous, ad hoc dimension that often defied convenient Soviet political analy-
sis or the exigencies of “line.” The documents show that debate over pol-
icy at all levels was often vigorous and open, especially in the 1920s.
Thus, the personalities of organizers and high-level officials like William
Foster can be given new complexity.

When I undertook research in the archives, my requests for specific
materials were vetted but in every case eventually approved. The cata-
logues in each collection are organized by files (“delo”) that are indexed
under general topics. The CPUSA and Profintern collections are princi-
pally in English, accompanied by Russian translations of the most impor-
tant documents. Foster’s correspondence is scattered in many different
Profintern, Comintern, and CPUSA files and occasionally surfaces unex-
pectedly. As far as I am aware, the largest amount of Foster’s correspon-
dence was with Solomon Lozovsky, the director of the Profintern. These
letters help to explain the nature of Foster’s working relationship with the
Profintern and Comintern, and illustrate his continuing attempts to es-
tablish a sphere of Communist trade-union organizing that was relatively
independent from party political activities. Lozovsky was usually sympa-
thetic with Foster’s aims, and perhaps for this reason Foster’s letters to
him are straightforward, honest, and reportorial in style, rarely pleading
or evasive. I was unable to locate Lozovsky’s letters to Foster. Letters
announcing Foster’s plans or activities were often marked “received” by
the Profintern weeks and occasionally as many as three months after the
date they were written. Foster sometimes complained about not receiving
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Lozovsky’s criticisms or news of important resolutions in good time.? The
letters illustrate that while overall strategy was often set in Moscow, the
day-to-day tactics of party activists were largely beyond the purview of
the Comintern.

A large number of documents in the CPUSA collection, especially per-
taining to the Party’s early years (1919-1922) are in code. Appearing
without translation, these documents illustrate some of the problems in-
volved in gaining a comprehensive view of the early history of the Party,
and Foster’s role in it. In addition, pseudonyms were commonly used at
various points by high-ranking party officials. Foster, for instance, had
several. However, despite his and the Party’s secrecy, Foster did not ap-
pear to have significant interaction with Soviet intelligence agencies. I
found evidence that he was not considered a particularly reliable Com-
munist politician by the Comintern apparatus in Moscow. This conclu-
sion, however, must be considered tentative, since the archives of the var-
ious Soviet intelligence agencies, including those of the Central Commit-
tee International Department from the 1940s and early 1950s, the KGB’s
First Chief Directorate (foreign intelligence), and the Foreign Ministry
were unavailable to me when I was in Moscow. It is worth noting that the
“Venona” transcriptions of covert intelligence communication between
the U.S. and Moscow from 1942-1948, recently released by the Ameri-
can National Security Agency, contain little mention of Foster, and it is
significant that when he is mentioned, he does not appear under the guise
of a “cover name.”3

I should acknowledge that some of my personal experiences and en-
counters in Moscow influenced my ideas about Foster. When I began
research, polite and friendly archive officials, many of whom had worked
at the archive in the Soviet era, were still somewhat unaccustomed to the
idea of individual archival research as a legalized public right. In 1992,
this access was considered a most important political objective by dissi-
dents, journalists, and historians anxious to discredit the many lies prom-
ulgated during the Soviet era. I met Russian historians for whom western
concerns about objectivity and “textuality” were trivial and conceited,
and who scoffed at the idea of writing a biography of Foster. As students,
some had been assigned to read Foster’s writings on U.S. history; now he
was dismissed as nothing more than a hack, a convenient and willing
mouthpiece for Soviet propaganda.* I was asked: What could possibly be
the significance of Foster’s discredited writings? I visited the sloping hill
behind the Novospassky Monastery in Moscow, which holds the remains
of hundreds of executed Comintern officials, including those of the Amer-
ican Communist John Pepper (Joseph Pogany).® In October of 1993, on
the day when Communists and rebellious members of the Russian parlia-
ment staged a violent attempted coup against the government, I happened
to walk through a giant tank barricade that had been erected by Yeltsin
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supporters on Pushkin street near the closed archives. Initially, I had con-
ceived my study of Foster as primarily a work in American labor and
social history. When it was completed it also sought to address some of
the questions raised by the demise of Soviet Communism.

One of the chief interests of historians of the Communist International
and American Communism has been the nature of Communist discipline
in these organizations. In the United States, accusations that members of
the Communist party acted primarily as covert agents of a foreign, enemy
regime and ideology were not trivial, and provided a rationale, morally
and intellectually compelling to many, for repressive measures taken
against Communists in the labor movement, government, and academy.®

As a labor organizer concerned with the building of larger and more
powerful unionns, Foster was familiar with the complex problem of es-
tablishing discipline in working-class organizations. At the same time, his
temperament was consistent with the “necessary style of work” suppos-
edly formulated by Stalin himself: “American practicalism plus revolu-
tionary zeal.”” In the 1920s, Foster directly challenged Comintern policy
on several occasions, implying that he might leave the party if Comintern
decisions prevented him from “effective work.”® In 1929, before a special
“American Commission” called in Moscow to resolve a bitter dispute
between him and a Party faction led by Jay Lovestone, Stalin directly
accused Foster of “rotten diplomacy” and “disgraceful” conduct in his
relations with the Comintern, which he termed the “holy of holies” of the
working class. I have recently located Foster’s speech in reply to these
accusations. Foster obediently suggested that the Comintern send repre-
sentatives to the U.S. to “take over the party, to correct its line.” How-
ever, the heart of Foster’s speech to the assembled Soviet officialdom was
an affirmation not only of loyalty to the Comintern, but also of his own
essential independence:’

Comrade Lovestone stated that the Comintern bought me. Well, I feel in-
clined to say, Comrade Lovestone, that the Comintern didn’t buy me but the
Comintern could sell you for a nickel and make a big profit. No, the Com-
intern didn’t have to buy me. The AFL would have found several rich posi-
tions for me, I was offered good jobs. I came to the Comintern and I stayed
with the Comintern and I shall be with the Comintern when many of those
comrades who have got the guts to stand up and criticize me will be on the
other side of the barricades, and I ask the Comintern to put a stop to this
campaign against me, it doesn’t enable me to work effectively in the Party
and I ask that a stop be put to it.

Foster did indeed stay with the international Communist movement
for the rest of his life. However, his occasional dissents against official
policy continued to resonate within the American movement. I found that
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in 1932, a scant three years following the above encounter with Stalin, a
Comintern representative in the U.S. reported to Moscow that Foster had
openly disobeyed his instructions concerning the conduct of a large coal
miners’ strike in the Pittsburgh area. He observed that Foster virtually
ignored the party and “political work” during the strike, serving as a
“mere” trade union functionary among the workers and refusing to men-
tion the party with “even a single word.” Under Foster’s direction, he
asserted, the Communist party was reduced to an adjunct to the union
and its immediate needs. This constituted an open defiance of the Party’s
“Third Period” line, which emphasized the Party’s need to take open
leadership of strikes and unions in the United States. In order to correct
Foster’s “sectarian, trade-unionist, syndicalist attitude,” the outraged
representative felt a direct intervention was necessary:'°

When [ made use of the absence of Comrade Foster in order to enlighten the
staff of section organizers on this question and to work out with them the
arrangements for the speeches for the following Sunday mass meeting, Com-
rades Foster and Stachel were extremely indignant. After their return to
Pittsburgh they organized an open drive against me, called a special confer-
ence of the section organizers so as to convince them of their *left deviation’
and to withdraw my *dangerous influence.” However, their drive was frus-
trated by the interference of the Polit Bureau [of the American party].

The reasons for the eventual failure of this important strike are com-
plex, but the strike was carried out largely according to Foster’s designs,
and it is now clear that he made no secret of his contempt for the pro-
nouncements and maneuvers of the American party leadership and the
Comintern representative at the time.

Perhaps the most significant instance of Foster’s unruliness and “syndi-
calism” occurred in 1937, at a vital juncture in the history of the Ameri-
can Communist party and the industrial union movement in the United
States. In order to maintain the Party’s Popular Front alliance with
John L. Lewis and leaders of the CIO, Earl Browder and his adjuncts in
the Communist leadership in the U.S. sought to suppress unauthorized
sit-down strikes of autoworkers in Detroit that occurred from March
through November. The strikes were particularly significant because they
revolved around the explosive issue of shop-floor authority. The strikes
also raised the question of the extent to which Communist organizers
would assist the CIO and the new United Auto Workers’ union in disci-
plining its members and establishing its credibility with General Mo-
tors.!! It is now clear that during this period, Foster initiated a full-scale
behind-the-scenes attack on Browder and his conduct of the American
Popular Front. Foster derided Browder and the Party hierarchy for their
passivity, “tailing” after Lewis and the New Deal labor coalition center-
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ing around Franklin D. Roosevelt rather than working to establish a firm
identity for the Party as a champion of workers’ “immediate” demands.
Foster and William Weinstone, the Party chairman in Detroit, initially
supported the strikes, or at least refused to criticize them at a time when
the UAW had come under intense journalistic scrutiny for harboring
Communists in its ranks. At an enlarged Politbureau meeting of the
American party in November, with approximately 80 party leaders pres-
ent, Foster duly pointed out the dangers the strikes posed to the Party,
and endorsed a rationale for ending the strikes or at least the Party’s asso-
ciation with them. However, it is a measure of Foster’s contempt for for-
mal Party procedure and pronouncements that a few days later Wein-
stone and Bill Gebert, the leading organizers under him in the auto union,
“carried out the exact opposite of the decision, and instead . . . initiated
a fight in the [UAW] executive for the legalization of the strikes as a pre-
condition for their ending,” according to Browder. Browder accused Fos-
ter of insubordination and eventually told him that a vote for removal of
Weinstone had to include his assent. “Comrade Foster responded in an
extremely subjective manner, such as we have not had in our Party leader-
ship for many years.” Browder, appearing before yet another “American
Commission” in Moscow in January 1938, termed Foster’s actions a
“basic challenge to the conduct of our Party.” In statements in Moscow,
Browder acknowledged his and the Party’s debt to Foster as an indispen-
sible organizer, but nonetheless accused Foster of common purpose with
Trotskyist and Socialist dissenters in the auto union who opposed the
logic of the Popular Front. If he challenged Foster on an issue of organiza-
tion, Browder incanted, “it is only because I have, I hope, been learning
from even greater teachers, from the greatest teacher of all, Comrade
Stalin.”'? In Moscow in 1938, in the midst of Stalin’s terror, Browder
called for unity in the American party because at any moment,

war may cut off our connections with the comrades of the Comintern, and
from Comrade Dimitroff whose guidance has become for us as precious as
the air we breathe. [It] becomes a matter of life-and-death for our Party to
consolidate its leadership completely and without qualification. Our Party
must model its leadership, to the full extent of our powers, upon the glorious
example of the All-Union Communist party, whose teacher and guide is also
fully ours.

In reply, Foster denied being “shaky” on the Comintern line, maintain-
ing that his critique of Browder’s leadership was entirely consistent with
the general aims of the Popular Front. However, Georgi Dimitroff, direc-
tor of the Comintern, sternly rebuked Foster for sectarianism, for fear of
“going into the masses, particularly of going into the petty bourgeois
masses, of going forward together with the Democratic and Republican
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progressive elements.” More pointedly, in his speech he aligned Foster’s
alleged sectarianism with the “influence of ’left’ elements, Trotskyite ele-
ments, those agents of fascism who take advantage precisely of such sec-
tarian remnants and utilize them for conducting counter-revolutionary
plotting in the Party and the working class.”’3 Foster returned from Mos-
cow chastened, and Weinstone was later removed as district organizer,
However, the debate in Moscow was largely post facto; the most impor-
tant decisions regarding the Communists’ relation to the wildcat strikes
had already been made in the United States.!*

Confidential Comintern assessments of Foster in the 1930s and 1940s
questioned his motives and doubted his ability to lead the Party. At the
height of Stalin’s repressions in the USSR, reports in his “personnel” file
pointed to Foster’s past associations with Trotskyists and indeed showed
that his first visa to the Soviet Union was procured by Alfred Rosmer,
later a French Trotskyist leader.!S Such past associations probably would
have placed a Soviet party official in mortal danger. As a prominent pub-
lic figure in a legal party, Foster was under no threat of imprisonment or
execution. This fact no doubt emboldened Foster in his critiques of the
official leadership and in his continuing efforts to make trade union or-
ganizing the main focus of the Party. “We have great respect for Comrade
Foster and we value him very much,” Dimitroff asserted in the midst of
his philippic on Foster’s “sectarianism.”!® Foster’s value to the Comin-
tern lay precisely in his experience with and knowledge of the American
labor movement. As a result he was finally less “disposable” and more
independent than other leaders of the Communist party.

Thus, the Comintern files showed Foster’s “discipline” was rather ten-
uous but self-willed and enduring nonetheless. In this book I suggest that
Foster’s acceptance (or rejection) of the various turns of Communist doc-
trine corresponded with both his lived experiences and larger changes in
the American political economy from the period of World War I through
the Great Depression. New information on Foster’s career continues to
point, in my opinion, to indigenous factors as the most compelling expla-
nations for his radicalism.
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INTRODUCTION

AMONG twentieth-century American radicals, William Z. Foster will
surely stand as one of the most implacable. His was an obstinate revolu-
tionary temperament, unadorned by complex ideological convictions and
only lightly constrained by legal or political convention. Driven by a
deeply held hostility to many of the central assumptions of American pol-
itics and economic life, his career as a socialist, Wobbly, syndicalist, labor
organizer, and Communist spanned five decades.

Foster’s long and circuitous political journey began at the turn of the
century in Philadelphia, where a compelling soap-box speaker inspired
his first identification with the American socialist movement. However,
his articulate public life as a radical began in the 1910s. During these
early years as an itinerant labor agitator and journalist, he sought to
adapt the complex dynamics of the “new unionism” to the development
of a coherent revolutionary program for American labor. At the end of
the decade, working as a “free-lance” radical within the American Fed-
eration of Labor, he was the architect of unprecedented organizing drives
in the meat-packing and steel industries. During World War I and imme-
diately afterward, he was considered by many to be one of America’s
most effective (and dangerous) labor organizers. Yet, despite his activi-
ties during these years, it was his subsequent career in the Communist
party that would largely define his place in the history of the American
labor movement.!

In the early 1920s, when Foster joined the American Communist
movement, it was a tiny underground sect engaged in a debilitating fac-
tional quarrel over whether or not it should function openly as a “legal”
party. Moreover, at the founding conventions of the Communist and
Communist Labor parties in 1919, few in attendance had any knowledge
of or experience in the trade union movement. By 1936, the Party could
portray itself as an organization with substantial roots in American labor
unions. As the Party’s chief labor organizer during its early years, Foster
played an important role in bringing about this transition in the Party’s
membership and orientation. Yet, in many respects his personality and
outlook were not suited to the new politics of labor that emerged in the
1930s. Later, during the Cold War, he would preside over a period of
sharp decline in the Party’s influence among American radicals. At the
end of his life, he was a deracinated figure, tragically out of touch with the
native oppositional traditions that had nurtured his career.
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Despite his prominence, historians have not been particularly attentive
to the man whose activities and ideas contributed significantly to the
character of American Communism. Foster was one of the few leadership
figures to remain in the movement from the first years of its development
through its decline in the 1950s; understandably, treatments of his per-
sonality and politics have focused on these years. Generally, he has been
portrayed within this milieu as an adroit factional infighter and oppor-
tunist, a politician more in tune with the ideological requirements of the
Comintern than with the needs of the American working class. Theodore
Draper, in his two detailed studies of the early years of the party, The
Roots of American Communism and American Communism and Soviet
Russia, documented Foster’s rapidly shifting positions on issues such as
the labor party movement of the early 1920s, “American exceptional-
ism,” and trade union organizing strategy. According to Draper, these
changes illustrated Foster’s “ability to change, or appear to change, his
convictions as often as the party line demanded.”? Draper’s view of Fos-
ter corresponds to his thesis that the American Communist Party was
chronically hindered by its fealty to policies and strategies set in the Soviet
Union.

This study of Foster’s life seeks to address a different set of issues. Most
basically, it begins with the assumption that it is impossible to understand
Foster’s career in the Communist party in isolation from his earlier radi-
calism. When he joined the Communist movement in 1921, he was forty
years old. A stubbornly independent figure, he was a fully formed person-
ality with coherent ideas about the problems confronting American un-
ionism. He commanded a respectful audience among influential progres-
sives in the mainstream labor movement. In other words, he was hardly
a cipher upon which a political movement, however disciplined, could
easily inscribe its ethos and ideology. One measure of this was the fact
that Foster was never trusted by the Comintern with a confidential over-
seas assignment, a rite of passage for most Communist leaders. When he
acknowledged toward the end of his career that he had made “many po-
litical mistakes,” his confession was meaningful beyond the ritual re-
quirements of Communist self-criticism.? Foster was deeply attracted to
Communism, but the movement was hardly a monolithic phenomenon;
its appeal encompassed a wide variety of political personalities. Thus, this
study has not devoted much effort to pushing Foster into any particular
objective category of “Communist,” or specifying a moment of conver-
sion. Foster’s education as a radical began many years before the found-
ing of the Comintern. At the same time, in certain very significant in-
stances, his ideas departed from Communist orthodoxy after 1921.

Once Foster’s Communism is grounded in the history of modern
American radicalism, the influence of the Comintern becomes less impor-
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tant in explaining his motivations. There is no doubt that Foster was a
devout admirer of the Russian Revolution and respected the revolution-
ary authority and resources of the Comintern. But the more important
question addressed by this study is: What was it in Foster’s personality,
politics, and experience that led him to devote his life to international
Communism? He was, after all, an American, and his life cannot be fully
understood without reference to this basic fact. Foster fought for years
after he became a Communist to establish an “exceptionalist” perspective
for American Communism. Before he joined the Communist party, Fos-
ter’s experiences had convinced him that the revolution in the United
States could be brought about by radicals working within the trade union
movement. He held himself aloof from the American Socialist party and
remained suspicious of Marxist doctrine. After he joined the Communist
party, he retained much of his syndicalist outlock. His unfamiliarity with
Marxist thought often left him ill-prepared for the numerous theoretical
disputes that characterized party life at its upper echelons. He was a
somewhat anomalous figure in the Party; in an organization that was
dedicated to working-class revolutionary activity, he was one of the few
members of the leadership who was of undeniably proletarian back-
ground. He was also the only leader who had any real experience leading
“mass struggles” or large-scale strikes. Bertram Wolfe, who joined the
Communist party at its inception, once suggested that Foster’s belief that
the unions were the most important focus of revolutionary activity in
America was “the first expression” of American exceptionalism in the
Communist party.*

While this study seeks to locate William Foster in a native tradition of
labor radicalism, in several important respects his career represented a
significant departure from an earlier socialist legacy. For instance, during
the years that Foster was most active in the labor movement, Eugene Debs
was perhaps the figure who best represented what twentieth-century so-
cialists inherited from earlier American radicalisms. Foster and Debs,
however, were strikingly different figures. While the two agreed briefly in
the early 1920s on the best strategy that radicals might pursue in the
mainstream labor movement, Foster was generally disdainful of Debs.
This disdain, however, not only arose from conventional differences of
strategy and politics, but was complexly rooted in each man’s personality
and experience. These differences, as well as Foster’s critique of the So-
cialist leader, provide insight, I believe, into some of the fundamental
disjunctures that American socialism confronted in the early twentieth
century. Debs and Foster, ultimately, could not share a viable definition
of “community” or “citizenship,” and this had profound implications for
one of Foster’s central failures: his inability to develop a powerful and
credible vision of an alternative American social order. Partly this was a
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failure of language; Foster never developed a radical lexicon that was
anywhere near as evocative as was Debs’s. This study, however, assumes
that Foster’s uniquely disabled voice was the expressive correlative of a
particular historical experience, an experience that was, in the end, pro-
foundly American.

This study pays particular attention to the history of Foster’s rhetoric.
He and his generation of radicals, after all, are often remembered for their
distinctive political grammar. Foster was an eclectic thinker and improvi-
sational activist whose rhetoric borrowed from American trade union-
ism, various currents in American and European syndicalism and anar-
chism, prevailing notions of gender, and to a certain extent, the ideologies
of American corporate enterprise. He was not a learned or original theo-
rist by any means, and it is tempting to dismiss much of Foster’s writings
as mere propaganda or factional posturing. There is a lack of veracity in
his public speech that many found repellent, but there is another sense in
which his language was profoundly honest. He did, after all, believe that
he lived in a world of large economic imperatives and ubiquitous capi-
talist power; the terminology of Communism (as well as its “Aesopian”
evasiveness) did, in this sense, fit with much of his experience. It was a
world, he believed, in which dialogue was not particularly valuable.
Nonetheless, ideas were important and useful to Foster, and the public
presentation of his politics was closely related to his successes and failures
as a radical.

Ironically enough, despite the reams of political writing that Foster
produced, his personality was characterized by certain “voicelessness” or
aphasia. Of course, his voice was often circumscribed by powerful forces
outside his control, but he himself often denigrated the “talk” of politics
in favor of decisive action and the power of organization. Related to this
was his tendency to downplay the importance of workers’ voice not only
in politics, but in the management of their own labor. The economists
Richard B. Freeman and James L. Medoff have proposed that one vital
function of labor unions in our society is to provide workers with a “col-
lective voice” in regard to the day-to-day conditions of their employment.
Tragically, despite his lifelong devotion to labor unionism, Foster often
underestimated the necessity for developing a truly democratic, participa-
tory “voice” in the workplace. However, Foster’s peculiar failure of voice
and language, I have assumed, can be explained as much by an inquiry
into the complex social history of his times as by an understanding of his
unique personality.’

From the very beginning of his career in the Communist movement,
Foster was among the leadership of the Party. Just as I believe that he was
not merely a cipher for decisions about policy and orientation made at the
international level, so do I believe that an examination of his career in the
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Party can provide important insights into the nature of the Communist
movement. Like any political party, the Communist party was organized
around a set of hierarchical relationships. In this context, the rank-and-
file membership did not act completely autonomously, even though it is
now clear that the relationships between shop-floor and community-level
organizers and the party hierarchy were characterized by a significant
degree of independence.® Whatever the exact nature of Foster’s political
influence within the Party at different times, he was able to leave a large
and distinctive imprint on its general orientation.

I argue that Foster’s syndicalism was particularly influential in this re-
gard. Earlier accounts have acknowledged the syndicalist background of
many of the Party’s early leaders, but generally have not traced how these
personal histories affected Communist policy after the founding of the
Comintern.” I believe it is possible to detect significant continuities be-
tween Foster’s earlier syndicalism, as formulated in the 1910s, and the
texture of later policies adopted by the American Communists. In the
1920s, originally as a result of Lenin’s injunction that American radicals
should “get into” the trade union movement, the party hesitantly adopted
much of what had come to be known as “Fosterism,” the idea that the
revolution in the United States would come about as a result of the ac-
tivities of a “militant minority” in the trade union movement. This idea
may seem anachronistic today, but Foster and his allies in the Party held
to it years after the death of Lenin and through a number of changes in
line. This orientation was by no means inevitable, neither was it always
in accord with the views of powerful ideologists in the apparatus of the
Comintern. Within the American Communist movement, opposition to
Foster’s policies was often bitter and intense. I do not believe that such
opposition was merely opportunistic; rather, it reflected genuine differ-
ences of interpretation and background among American radicals, differ-
ences which, of course, predated the Bolshevik Revolution. Outside of the
Communist movement, Foster’s strategy met with determined resistance
by both the leadership and much of the rank and file of the trade unions.
Nevertheless, “Fosterism” proved to be a strong enough interpretation of
American conditions to help the Party gain some of its most important
successes in the labor movement, though it was not ultimately compelling
enough to create a unified Communist movement in this country.

Earl Browder, who perhaps knew Foster better than any other of his con-
temporaries, once claimed despairingly that the wily Communist leader
could “abandon his ideas with the greatest facility of any man I’ve ever
met—and repudiate them publicly, without the slightest embarrassment.
... So, if you’re trying to develop a line of Foster’s over the years, you
may be able to do it but it’ll be filled with the most God-awful contra-
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dictions.”® Jay Lovestone, a bitter political opponent of Foster’s, fastened
on him the nickname “Zig-Zag.” I have attempted in this study to explain
in detail some of the more notable and astonishing zigzags in Foster’s
career, but in a larger sense it may be useful to the reader to think of this
biography as comprising three large parts, each documenting the most
basic transformations in his life and identity.

As a young man Foster was a drifter, a member of the large class of
floating American workers at the turn of the century who are only inter-
mittently visible as individuals to today’s historians. The first three chap-
ters of my account of his life follow his early wanderings as closely as
possible, and document his developing political awareness. Like many
others of his disposition and social class, Foster left no journals, and only
a few early letters. Despite such impediments, I believe it is possible
to offer a complex portrayal of Foster as an important historical actor.
He wrote detailed autobiographies, and his actions and thoughts can be
discerned as well in the correspondence, testimony and memories of his
associates. Thus there is an abundance of sources for the historian to
consider.

The middle (and largest) part of this study deals with Foster’s career as
a labor organizer and Communist. During World War I, his roles in the
meat-packing organizing drive and the Great Steel Strike placed him at
the center of momentous conflicts among giant corporations, Progressive
politicians, and organized labor. His activities during these years show
him to be a transitional figure, gaining national prominence at the end of
a particularly violent half-century of labor unrest, but also before and
during the emergence of the modern labor movement in the United States.
Ever the modernist and organization man, he was nonetheless an idio-
syncratic figure—either a new type of labor organizer, as some styled him,
or a “lone wolf sort of operator,” as Earl Browder described him. Both as
a labor organizer and Communist, Foster personified the contradictions
of the “borer from within.” While professing loyalty to the organization,
he in fact never quite fit—either in the American Federation of Labor or
the American Communist movement.

The final four chapters of this study, encompassing the period follow-
ing his breakdown in 1932 to his death in Moscow in 1961, address
Foster’s role in the most important transformations that the Communist
party experienced in its recent history: the abandonment of sectarianism
for the Popular Front during the Great Depression and World War 11, and
finally the reversal of this policy during the Cold War. Foster unquestion-
ably played his most important role in the later shift toward sectarianism;
without his powerful presence in the crucial period after 19435, it is quite
possible that the American Communist party would have evolved into
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a different organization than it is today. However, both hardened and
transmogrified, “Fosterism” became a logic of decline, isolation, and
helplessness during the Cold War era. With his death in 1961, William
Foster left a legacy of complex and often negative lessons for later genera-
tions of activists.



Chapter 1

BEGINNINGS

I cannot remember the time when I was not
imbued with that class hatred against employers
which is almost instinctive to workers.
—William Z. Foster, Twilight of World Capitalism

IN THE INTRODUCTION to his 1937 autobiography, From Bryan to Stalin,
William Z. Foster explained that “I have tried to show those forces which
impelled me, an American worker, to arrive at revolutionary conclusions,
to become a Communist.” Similarly, in the introduction to his collection
of more personal sketches, Pages from a Worker’s Life, Foster noted that
the rationale for the book was to illustrate “the forces that made me ar-
rive at my present political opinions.” In his deterministic analysis of his
own life, he left little room for a consideration of his family and the sub-
jective experiences of his early childhood. Yet there is no doubt that the
circumstances of Foster’s early life, especially the poverty in which he
grew up, decisively shaped his political identity. When asked by a Senate
committee investigating the Great Steel Strike of 1919 to explain his polit-
ical views, he began by asserting that “I am one who was raised in the
slums.”?

In Foster’s portrayals of his childhood, only one personality emerges
from the formidable welter of “forces” he describes to influence his life in
a decisive manner: his father, James. Even so, his father as well as his
mother remain shadowy figures, possessing neither complexity nor di-
mension in Foster’s accounts. His reminiscences reveal no deep affection
for either one, and he offers no elaboration at all when citing the fact that
both died while he was still in his teens.

James was born in County Carlow, Ireland, and was twenty-seven
years old when he arrived in the United States as a Fenian political refugee
in 1868. A vigorous, combative, and intensely political man, he was a
devoted member of a secret revolutionary brotherhood that had con-
spired to raise an armed revolt by Irish soldiers of the British garrison in
Ireland. James told his son of a “traitor” who betrayed him and his com-
rades. At the time, British officials were acting decisively to purge the
garrison of nationalist plotters; the Habeas Corpus Act was suspended
and police were making wholesale arrests of suspected Fenian insurrec-
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tionists. Hundreds of others besides James fled to the United States to
escape imprisonment.?

James’s forced emigration brought him first to Boston, then to nearby
Taunton by the late 1860s or early 1870s. It is quite possible that James
was initially drawn to the town by family ties, but the only evidence for
this is an occasional proximity of addresses recorded in the city directo-
ries. When he arrived in Taunton, the town already possessed a sizable
population of first- and second-generation Irish immigrants, many of
whom worked in the town’s large textile factories. James, however, ap-
pears not to have been directly employed by the mills. His name first
appeared in the Taunton city directories in 1874, with his occupation
listed as “hostler”; this is consistent with William’s description of his fa-
ther’s occupation as that of a livery stableman and carriage washer.?

James’s wife, Elizabeth McLaughlin, was born in Carlisle, England,
into a family of textile workers. It is unclear when or where James and
Elizabeth met or were married, but James may have met his wife during
his residency in Taunton. She was ten years younger than James, and
unlike her husband was a devout Catholic. Neither James nor Elizabeth
possessed any formal education. Of the two, Elizabeth may have had
more experience as an industrial laborer; James, a stableman, was “of
peasant stock.” In the mid-nineteenth century, Elizabeth’s family, which
for generations had made their living producing textiles from the hand
loom, witnessed first-hand the terrifying starvation conditions that had
attended the transition from the hand to the power loom in the British
textile industry. Although William recalled that Elizabeth’s “political ac-
tivities were nil,” it is quite likely that his mother possessed at least an
understanding of the traditions of labor unionism, which were well de-
veloped in the English textile industry by the 1850s, particularly so in
Carlisle.*

It is difficult to speculate on the nature of James’s and Elizabeth’s rela-
tionship, but the family raised one child whose baptismal record shows
another woman’s name listed as the mother, with James as the father.’ In
addition, the elder Foster was a heavy drinker whose “special predilec-
tion” for fighting Irish policemen often landed him in jail. A restless man
with few attachments, his most valued possession was a fine homespun
overcoat that he had brought with him from Ireland.® In Taunton, James
was unwilling or unable to establish a home of any permanence for his
family. When William was born in 1881, the family’s address was an
apartment located on an interior alleyway near the center of town; how-
ever, James and Elizabeth made their home at nine different addresses
during the years in which they lived in Taunton, between 1872 and 1887.
During this period, according to various records, Elizabeth gave birth to
nine children, including William E. Foster (the “Z” was added much
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later). Of these nine children, four survived into adulthood; three are re-
corded in Taunton municipal records as having died at age three or
younger. Two of the children succumbed to common respiratory infec-
tions, croup and bronchitis, while two other children “disappeared” in
the sense that they cannot be accounted for in either municipal records or
census manuscripts.” They are not mentioned by name in either of Wil-
liam Foster’s autobiographies. It is possible that they were given for adop-
tion, yet, according to Foster’s account in From Bryan to Stalin, most of
the twenty-three children his mother bore died in infancy.?

Through these years of frequent moving, the family continued to have
their children baptized at St. Mary’s Catholic Church; the congregation
may have provided a center of support and orientation for the immigrant
family, as it did for many of the Irish that settled in Taunton in the 1860s
and 1870s. The extent of the Fosters’ involvement in church, community,
and ethnic organizations in Taunton remains unclear, however. Such
memberships, if they were indeed a part of the Fosters’ life at this point,
apparently did not enable them to overcome the problems that resulted in
frequent childhood deaths in their family: poor health care, inadequate
nutrition, and uncertain housing.

In the winter of 1887, James and Elizabeth moved their family to Phil-
adelphia. While the reasons for the family’s move remain obscure, the
family’s mobility itself is significant, for it is a theme that persists in Wil-
liam Foster’s early life. Geographic mobility was an important part of an
immigrant family’s strategy for survival and advancement, yet many such
families cannot be traced by historians or demographers studying the
social life of a particular community. Not only did William’s family re-
locate frequently, its members appear and disappear in municipal, census,
and church records and are often never mentioned. However, despite the
incomplete evidence available on the precise composition of the family,
it is possible to locate William Foster in a particular Philadelphia com-
munity during the years 1887 to 1900, and to establish what kind of
“forces” were at work there, as well as the kind of choices that may have
been available to him.

It is easy to imagine that the family’s relocation in Philadelphia was a
jolting experience. Census records and city directories reveal no other
Fosters or McLaughlins living in the vicinity of the neighborhood where
they settled, suggesting that the family could not rely on the cushion of
clan loyalties upon arriving in the city. While the Fosters had moved often
within the medium-sized mill town of Taunton, Philadelphia was a differ-
ent environment altogether. In the 1880s, the city was a booming indus-
trial metropolis, second only to New York in the size of its manufacturing
work force and the value of its product. Although Philadelphia was noted
in the nineteenth century for the exceptional architecture of its public and
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commercial buildings, developers imposed an efficient yet stark uniform-
ity on the residential neighborhoods of the city’s working-class popula-
tton. In the districts that housed the city’s immigrant laborers, vast grids
of row houses fronted rear alleyways where thousands of families could
be found living in crowded and squalid backyard houses or shacks.’
While visitors to Philadelphia were apt to remark on the cleanliness of the
city or the beauty of the huge Fairmount Park, ugly court and alley slums,
or “horizontal tenements,” characterized districts like Southwark, Grays
Ferry, Kensington, Port Richmond, and Moyamensing. For some, these
areas symbolized the promise of Philadelphia’s burgeoning industrial
economy; one civic booster reminded observers that “wherever a great
city is, extremes meet.”!°

William Foster wrote that one street on the block where his family
lived in South Philadelphia, Kater Street between Sixteenth and Seven-
teenth in the old Moyamensing district, “was a noisome, narrow side
street, made up of several stables, a woodyard, a carpet cleaning works,
a few whore-houses and many ramshackle dwellings.” He also described
two alleyways on his block where there was no running water, and where
“half-starved, diseased, hopeless” people lived by “casual labor, begging
[and] petty thieving.” An impoverished African American community
centered only two blocks north of the Foster residence harbored a “dan-
gerous criminal class,” according to W. E. B. Dubois’s 1896 study, The
Philadelphia Negro. Here, according to DuBois, were gathered “shrewd
and sleek politicians, gamblers and confidence men”; prostitution thrived
as it did in many other parts of the city. Despite the proximity of Dubois’s
famous Seventh Ward to Foster’s neighborhood, Irish gang members rou-
tinely attacked African Americans who ventured into their district.!!

An 1895 Philadelphia atlas portrays a residential alleyway of small
wooden dwellings in the center of the block where James Foster and his
family lived, but the Fosters occupied a three-story brick row house, de-
scribed as a tenement in its property deed, facing South Seventeenth
Street. The atlas also gives an idea of the mixed economy of the area, and
suggests that in this district in Philadelphia, work and community were
closely intermingled. The neighborhood at that time contained several
small woolen mills, a chemical works, and a smelting works, as well as
lumberyards, liveries, and stables. While horse-drawn streetcars were
available in Philadelphia at the time, they were generally too expensive to
be utilized on a daily basis, and most manual workers lived within a mile
or so of their place of employment.!? It is therefore reasonable to assume
that James Foster worked in one of the stables near his home. As for
Elizabeth, it was unusual for the wife in a working-class family in Phila-
delphia to be regularly employed outside the home during this period. In
a routine autobiographical questionnaire completed years later, William
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worked at the unskilled, manual jobs that many Irish once filled. At the
same time, Irish immigrants were subject to a racism that could be as
virulent as that which many blacks experienced. One historian, writing in
1901 of Philadelphia’s impoverished Irish, noted that they had “revolting
and vicious habits. Being of the lower order of mankind, they were repel-
lent to those who were further advanced in the social scale.”*

Foster felt that his involvement in the street railway strike “exerted a
profound influence” on his identity. During this period, his identification
with Irish nationalism “began to sink into a secondary position.” He re-
membered that the Pullman and Homestead strikes of the 1890s had
helped develop his “proletarian class instinct.” In 1893, he had followed
the progress of Coxey’s Army; he frequented the army’s recruiting office
at Thirteenth and Filbert streets, reading bulletins on the progress of this
early movement of unemployed workers. In 1896, at age fifteen, he at-
tended political meetings of the Bryan campaign, and heard the Great
Commoner speak once. The failures of Coxey’s Army and the Populists
were important events in Foster’s memory of his youth. However, in
1900, during a return visit to his neighborhood in Philadelphia, he heard
a speech given by a socialist that “marked a great turning point” in his
life. The speaker’s arguments and analysis seemed to provide a perfect
distillation into political terms of Foster’s experiences. The soapboxer
distributed a leaflet inscribed with a cartoon that Foster never forgot: a
large, powerful worker, “Labor,” cowered under a whip wielded by a
puny figure, “the Boss.” The whip was “the Job.” Although Foster had
devoured books on the French Revolution that he acquired from the Phil-
adelphia Free Library, by 1900 he had “never encountered a Socialist
book or pamphlet” in his neighborhood. That same year, while living in
Wyomissing, he walked six miles with his brother-in-law to “help” him
vote for Eugene Debs for president. Foster wrote of his growing interest
in socialism that “forces were at work which were rapidly developing my
native proletarian instinct into genuine class consciousness.”*6

In 1946, Foster admonished a high-ranking member of the Communist
party for her decision to have a second child. He told her that once her
child was born, “you [will] have given a hostage to capitalism.”*” This
startling declaration was probably meant to be practical advice to an im-
portant party cadre, yet it is a conclusion that seems consistent with Fos-
ter’s account of his own childhood. His politicized and occasionally bitter
descriptions of the conditions in which he lived as a child suggest that he
remembered his life in Philadelphia as that of a “prisoner” in a class war
in which family, ethnic, religious, and political influences had been ren-
dered superfluous or irrelevant. Such a portrayal is to a certain extent a
simplification of a more complex historical reality; the concept of a class
war seems inappropriate as a way of understanding the dynamics of Fos-
ter’s neighborhood in the 1880s and 1890s, or the street railway strike
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that was so central to Foster’s memories of the period. Yet the fact re-
mains that for him, his participation as a child in the public sphere of
work and industry was far more significant than involvement in the more
private worlds of ethnicity, family, and fraternity.

Still, while Foster’s self-portraits commence with a seemingly deter-
mined childhood, his account unconsciously reveals a somewhat more
complex and contradictory set of themes that would be manifested in
different guises throughout his later career. A useful key to this the-
matic structure is Foster’s portrayal of his family’s fertility. Although
his mother’s fertility was indeed high for impoverished working-class
women in Philadelphia, it is very likely that her prodigious childbearing
was consistent with trends and attitudes within her original family milieu,
the rapidly industrializing mill towns of northern England. In such towns,
despite very high levels of infant mortality among workers, a spasmodic
yet generally expanding demand for industrial labor provided a positive
incentive for working-class families to attempt to establish and maintain
large families. Surviving older children could become positive contribu-
tors to the family economy as early as the age of ten. In light of this,
Elizabeth’s childbearing may be understood as a rational reproductive
strategy, not a symbol of her helplessness. However, in William’s auto-
biographies she is a character without voice and animation, an essen-
tially passive figure whose “political activities were nil” and whose life
of “hardship and drudgery [was] made worse by her excessive child-
bearing.”*®

As his comments reveal, William Foster came to be a convinced Neo-
Malthusian, believing that strict birth control would enhance the eco-
nomic power of the working class. A radical syndicalist, he declared in
1912, “knows that children are a detriment to him in his daily struggles,
and that by rearing them he is at once tying a millstone about his neck and
furnishing a new supply of slaves to capitalism.” It is noteworthy that he
was thinking along these lines even late in his career, as a Communist. In
his autobiographies, he portrays his family’s fertility (and, indeed, work-
ing-class sexuality in general) in negative terms. Rather explicitly in other
contexts, he located the problem of working-class poverty and powerless-
ness partly in the inability of the poor to control their reproductive lives;
limitations on fertility could be a key to empowerment, he thought, by
increasing the effectiveness of a “militant minority” of childless activists
and by constricting the supply of labor. Foster limned James’s and Eliza-
beth’s fertility as disabling and irrational in the modernizing economy of
Philadelphia in the 1880s and 1890s, and he himself fathered no natural
children.*

What is striking is that Foster’s attitude to some extent replicates that
of modernizing bourgeois reformers who similarly invoked the ideals of
discipline and restraint in their negative portrayals of working-class fami-
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lies. William Foster himself would always be somewhat of a labor disci-
plinarian, and despite his strong admiration for his father’s primitive
rebelliousness, a manifest characteristic of William’s life was that he re-
lentlessly sought the achievement of a thoroughly modern revolutionary
movement, which could be achieved primarily through organization, the
productive channeling and restraint of impulse and spontaneity. Here, his
portrayal of his family and childhood in Philadelphia merges with the
idea of an inherently disorderly working class whose lives were punctu-
ated by periods of solidarity as well as dangerous collective emotion.

Foster’s own understanding of his childhood is dominated by the cen-
tral facts of his family’s poverty, and his own experiences as a child
worker in Philadelphia’s huge and diverse economy. By the time he was
nineteen, he had largely abandoned any ethnic, religious, or political mi-
lieu of which his family may have been a part. One historian has pro-
posed that Foster’s thinking was dominated by his rejection of the impor-
tance of the social dimensions of American life; all that is necessary to
know about American society “can be learned from the economic sec-
tor.” While there was an ethnic and collective dimension to the small
community in which Foster lived in South Philadelphia, it proved to be
quite impermanent, and many of the neighborhood’s residents undoubt-
edly experienced the kind of debilitating powerlessness that is the result
of extreme poverty.*® While Foster the “system thinker” undoubtedly im-
posed his later structure of beliefs on his account of his own childhood,
his experience in Philadelphia appears to have been one in which the “sys-
tem” loomed most large and destructive, the city’s vast economy at once
inaccessible and fatally intrusive. James Foster’s Irish nationalism, Eliza-
beth’s Catholicism, or William’s participation in the gang life of the Bull-
dogs may have provided a semblance of order for the family within the
rapidly changing neighborhood in which they lived. Yet, by his own ac-
count, William Foster had difficulty identifying with these allegiances.
Instead, he joined the Socialist party rather suddenly at age nineteen, and
departed from Philadelphia without a committed vocabulary of religious,
communal, or civic metaphors with which he might have framed his sub-
sequent political experiences.

Foster’s attachment during the period immediately after he left Philadel-
phia appears to have been with his sister, Sarah-Anna, and her husband,
George McVey. Between periods of wandering, he would return to this
family. He lived with them in Wyomissing, Pennsylvania, while working
in the fertilizer industry there. He remained with them only briefly, how-
ever, and in 1900 began a hobo existence as a transient worker that
would last for approximately a decade. From Wyomissing, he traveled to
Havana, but was unable to find employment there. Leaving Cuba for
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its crew. In March 1904, the British Consul in Callao, Peru, wrote to the
ship’s captain recommending that he discharge “the mutinous members
of [the] crew,” and hire replacements as soon as possible. Foster and
six other able seamen joined the ship and signed an agreement that guar-
anteed wages of £3 per month until arrival in England. Foster later wrote
that he participated in a “refusal of duty” when the ship arrived in Tal-
cahuana, Chile, although this incident is not recorded in the ship’s
articles.>?

Sailors on British merchant ships often deserted. Of the 120 men who
sailed on the Pegasus for any period of time during her around-the-world
voyage in 1903-1904, for instance, 56 are recorded in the ship’s crew
agreement as having deserted in various ports, unable to collect their
wages. Because most of their wages were paid only at the end of a ship’s
voyage, a captain possessed a large degree of economic, as well as statu-
tory authority over his men during a voyage, which could be as long as
three years. If life on board proved intolerable or difficult for a seaman,
he could desert but was subject to penalties and a blacklist. Foster signed
his correct name to the County of Cardigan’s articles when he boarded in
Peru, but he later feared that he would be identified as a deserter from the
Pegasus. The crew of the County of Cardigan, according to Foster, had
all deserted British ships in recent years, and feared that because of wage
penalties imposed on deserters, “when we hit a British port each of us
would be confronted with an agent of our previous ship who would take
away every shilling we had coming to us as wages on the County of Car-
digan.” Foster and several other crew members thus refused duty for a
short time while the ship was in Chile, were imprisoned briefly, and
finally rehired with the understanding that they would be paid in full
when the ship reached port in England. Evidently, this “strike” was won,
for the ship’s articles record that Foster was paid in full when he was
released from duty at North Shields, England, in December 1904.%*

Before arriving in England, however, Foster received a letter from his
sisters announcing the engagement of his younger sister Clara; the letter
also mentioned an attempt by the McVeys to establish a homestead in
Oregon. “I examined the map of your places thoroughly and from what
you say in your letter I consider you have done a wise thing in taking up
the land,” Foster replied. However, he planned to join the Atlantic Coast
Seamen’s Union and intended to work on steamers serving American
ports. He noted that conditions on American steamers were better than
on English ships, and that “a quartermaster or steersman in any good line
like the Fall River [Massachusetts] line receives about $40 a month all
found.” Nonetheless, life as a sailor struck Foster as hazardous; he men-
tioned an occasion when two crewmen from the Pegasus were washed
overboard and drowned in a storm off Cape Horn. In addition, “you
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have no home, no friends, and are the prey of all kinds of land sharks and
are liable to unsteady employment and other ill conditions too numerous
to mention.” He composed the following verse to illustrate his attitude
towards being a sailor:

A British ship comes sailing with the wind going free
With all sails drawing a noble sight to see

But again that old saying, it seems always true

That distance its enchantment lends to the view

Like a frightened bird as she goes rushing past

With foam covered bows and spray flying past

And while she goes pitching into the billows high
Her masts are writing hunger all over the sky

Writing from Queenstown, South Africa, in November 1904, Foster
told his sisters that “your letter has set me to thinking seriously again as
I had just about adopted the sea as my means of livelihood.” Although he
joined the Atlantic Coast Seamen’s Union upon arriving in the United
States in 1904, Foster soon made his way across the continent to Oregon,
in order to rejoin the McVeys.>

By the time he returned to Oregon, when he was twenty-three years
old, William Foster had lived and worked in Taunton, Philadelphia,
Wyomissing, New York City, Havana, Florida, Texas, Oregon, and at
sea. Any description of Foster as an essentially detached, uninvolved, and
peripheral figure during this period must fail, however. If he was unable
or unwilling to attach himself to the social and economic life of Philadel-
phia or any other town at this point, his work in a variety of places and
industries nevertheless engaged him in the large drama of the nation’s
economic development. For instance, as a young man, Foster gained his
knowledge of railroads while working in construction camps and hobo-
ing across the country. When he returned to Portland, he would work as
a laborer in railroad yards near the city, and briefly as an engine fire-
man.’® As an adult, Foster’s chief means of mobility and economic sur-
vival would be his employment as a railroad worker. In this way, his
“rootlessness” would deeply involve him in the work culture of the coun-
try, and provide him with a large perspective from which to view Ameri-
can life.

Foster’s first involvement in radical politics in Portland, he believed,
was the end result of a process that began during his childhood in Phila-
delphia. In his 1919 Senate testimony, given two years before he became
a Communist, he invoked the stark economic conditions of his childhood
as a sufficient explanation for the development of his beliefs. In his auto-
biographies, looking back on the “forces” that created his personality
and politics, his memory focused on the bitter realities and limitations he
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faced while growing up in an atmosphere of powerlessness in Philadel-
phia slums in the 1880s and 1890s. For him, these “slums” did not en-
compass an idealized ghetto of ethnic or religious solidarity, nor a mythi-
cal arena from which upwardly mobile Americans emerged strengthened
in character and personality. Any account of Foster’s political life must
begin, then, with the fact that his socialism was not informed by the mem-
ory of a stable and self-determining American community life, as was
Eugene Debs’s, for instance.’” While Debs has been described as a social-
ist and citizen, Foster’s “citizenship” was ambiguous, and was not cen-
tered on a particular American community. In Philadelphia, the residents
of Skittereen demonstrated a measure of power and solidarity during the
1895 street railway strike by resorting to tactics that only placed them,
according to many observers, outside the realm of citizenship. As a sailor,
Foster lived and worked among a highly transient group of workers who
exercised few rights other than the ambiguous freedom attendant upon
the abandonment of their employment. Finally, it is significant that Fos-
ter, after leaving his neighborhood in Philadelphia in the late 1890s,
did not visit it again for thirty years. When he did return, he found that
the tenuous governance of the Bulldogs had vanished long ago; “even
their tradition was unknown to the new crop of poverty-stricken slum
dwellers” in Skittereen.®



Chapter 2

SOCIALIST AND SYNDICALIST

The revolutionary Working Class ignores
obnoxious “majority” made laws wherever it has
the power to do so.

—William Foster, 1910

The workers” movement has been a series of daily efforts
linked to the efforts of the previous day, not by any
rigorous continuity but uniquely by the attitude and

state of mind ruling the working class. The action of the

working class has not been, I say it again, ordered
by formulae or by any theoretical affirmations;
nor has it been a demonstration following a plan
foreseen in advance by us.
—V. Griffuelhes, L’Action Syndicaliste

WHEN WiLLIAM FOSTER wrote that the drifting workers of the American
West at the turn of the century “usually had no homes or families, and
often no religion,” and were “voteless and took little or no part in the
political and social life of the cities,” he was describing a way of life with
which he was quite familiar by the time he had reached age twenty. He
considered himself to have become an “industrial worker” after he quit
his apprenticeship to Edward Kretchman in Philadelphia, but he also re-
membered this period of his life as a time of “floating”: for more than a
decade he would be “perpetually beating back and forth over the western
railroads.” Nonetheless, Foster’s travels certainly did not resemble the
desultory wanderings of a diffident personality. Despite his floating
status, he seemed to possess a sure internal compass. In the rapidly devel-
oping Pacific Northwest, he quickly attached himself to communities of
highly committed radicals and dissenters, and always sought to make
sense of his experiences in larger intellectual and political terms.!

When he signed the crew agreement on board the Pegasus in Portland
in 1903, he listed his address as “c/o George McVey, The Dalles, Ore-
gon.” It is not clear whether he lived with his sister and brother-in-law in
Oregon before going to sea, but McVey was a Socialist, and seems to have
been the only member of the family circle at the time who held such be-
liefs. He may have been the person who first introduced Foster to party
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life, but both men were also infected with the dream of establishing an
independent stake for themselves in the West, far from the world of prole-
tarian Philadelphia and Skittereen. When Foster arrived back in the
United States in 1904, he made his way across the continent to Oregon,
where he took up a 320-acre homestead in the foothills of the Cascade
Mountains next to the claim that the McVeys had only recently estab-
lished. He cleared timber on his land and planted potatoes during the
summer months. In the winter he found temporary employment in lumber
camps, on railroads, and once as a sheep herder, in order to support him-
self and earn enough capital to make improvements on the land. His hard
physical labor on his claim earned him very little monetary return; and in
1907, as a depression swept through the West, he was forced to sell out.

However, in those three years Foster found another kind of sustenance
and reward through his involvement in the Portland local of the Socialist
party. He became a “party worker,” hawked subscriptions to the
enormously popular Socialist weekly, the Appeal to Reason, read Marx-
ist classics and, significantly, “nearly all” of the pamphlets written by
Daniel Deleon.? Thus began his involvement in the radical labor move-
ment of the American West. However varied his interests and political
wanderings would be during this period, this unattached, circumspect,
and self-contained young man always sought the company and special
knowledge of militant brotherhood.

By 1904 the Socialist party was becoming a powerful force in national
politics as well. At the height of its influence in the years before World
War I the party would enroll over 150,000 dues-paying members, spon-
sor or endorse hundreds of periodicals and newspapers, elect nearly a
thousand of its members to political office, and wield heavy influence in
the American Federation of Labor as well as the radical Industrial Work-
ers of the World. The appeal of the Socialist party would prove wide
enough to encompass immigrant industrial workers in the eastern me-
tropolis as well as hard-pressed farmers in the Southwest. The electrifying
rhetoric of its most prominent spokesman, Eugene Debs, promised a hu-
mane alternative to the grinding cycles of helter-skelter industrialism, as
well as a credible vision of resistance to the insolent dominance of large
corporations over American politics and community life.

However, despite socialism’s expanding influence and appeal, it was
not a tolerant, ecumenical version of the movement that first attracted
Foster to radical politics in the Pacific Northwest. The Portland Socialist
party was dominated by Tom Sladden, a contentious left-winger who
dreamed of a revolutionary movement shorn of bourgeois sympathizers.
An ardent expositor of the ideal of proletarian purity and heroic mission,
Sladden doubted whether a doctor, lawyer, preacher or even “a woman
with radical ideas on the sex question,” no matter how nonconformist,
could be a true revolutionist. He had the cuspidors removed from the
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Oregon party headquarters upon taking office as state chairman, on the
grounds that such furniture was characteristic of the bourgeoisie, and
that authentic proletarians had no use for such conveniences. He argued
grimly that the effective working-class revolutionist was unencumbered
by profession, trade, or property, and was contemptuous of education,
religion, and patriotism. “Upon his shoulders rests the problem of freeing
society.”3

After selling his homestead, Foster worked briefly as a fireman on a
Portland railroad, hoping eventually to join the Brotherhood of Locomo-
tive Firemen and Engineers. The security of membership in this elite rail-
road brotherhood proved to be an elusive goal, however; he lost his job
because of the lingering depression and was forced to look elsewhere for
employment. He moved to Seattle, where he was able to join a building
trades union and gain work as a construction worker and in local saw-
mills for two years, from 1907 to 1909. Once again he sought out the
Socialist party local, which in Seattle was bitterly divided by seemingly
interminable controversies between reformists and “revolutionaries.” A
central figure in the increasingly sectarian atmosphere in Seattle was Dr.
Hermon Franklin Titus, a querulous left-wing socialist and editor of the
Seattle Socialist who has been cited as the “father” of socialism in Wash-
ington state. He served as Foster’s earliest mentor in the complex world
of radical journalism and politics.*

Titus was a former Baptist minister from New York and Massachu-
setts who had quit the pulpit in the 1880s in order to attend Harvard
Medical School. After graduating, he emigrated to Seattle, where he
worked as a contract physician for James J. Hill’s Great Northern Rail-
way and as a social worker among the city’s transient population of tim-
ber workers. He joined the Fabian Society and familiarized himself with
the ideas of Lawrence Gronlund, whose book The Cooperative Com-
monwealth, published in 1884, was one of the earliest popular syntheses
of Marxian ideas in the United States. Titus became a prominent figure in
Seattle’s municipal reform movement, and played an important role in
composing a new charter for the city in 1900. He was a restless, energetic,
and ambitious man whose Socialist politics were deeply influenced by the
evangelical and scientific training of his youth and his experiences tending
the injured and exploited workers of the developing West. At some un-
specified point he concluded that “reform was impractical and revolution
necessary.” He began publishing the Seattle Socialist in 1900, which in
turn gave impetus to the organization of the Socialist party in Washing-
ton. The purpose of the new organ was to “Organize the Slaves of Capital
to Vote their Own Emancipation.”?

Titus was a full-fledged scientific socialist. “The attitude of the Revolu-
tionary Socialist is the scientific attitude, the modern scientific attitude in
contrast with the ancient superstitious attitude,” he wrote. There was no
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room for “dreams,” “schemes,” or “utopias.” In addition, he pro-
claimed, “there are probably not ten thousand people in the United States
who thoroughly understand the simple Principles of Revolutionary So-
cialism.” The process of the education of the working class must begin
with the “facts.” The concept of a strictly inductive, evolutionary social-
ism as opposed to normative socialisms based on “dreams” recurs in
Titus’s writings. “To the scientific man, facts are everything, theories
nothing,” he explained. How can a socialist, or revolutionary, look to the
future, given the necessity of focusing simply on the “facts”? A prominent
feature of Titus’s political writing was his belief in Darwinism and the
inevitable evolution of society according to the laws of natural history.
“Karl Marx,” after all, “scientifically investigated the facts of human so-
ciety and formulated its laws of development, as Charles Darwin did in
the life history of animals other than man.” Thus, “Marxism, like Dar-
winism, must be accepted and believed, if its facts are well established.”
Titus proposed that the revolutionary socialist, like the scientist, “never
guesses at anything.”?

Titus had a propensity for accusing Seattie’s AFL-affiliated trade union
leadership of corruption, and his obsession with doctrinal purity and ex-
clusion of those not wholeheartedly committed to revolution alienated
him even further from the union movement. Among unionists in Seattle,
“Titusism” and the doctor’s “college-bred” didacticism were considered
highly disruptive; at one point, The Seattle Union Record, referring to
Titus, averred that one “full-fledged ‘scientific’ socialist” could be more
effective in destroying a labor union than a dozen strikes. Titus’s inability
to establish a working relationship with the AFL-affiliated unions effec-
tively cut him off from the most powerful labor organizations in Wash-
ington at the time.” Finally in 1909 the zealous former skid-row physician
and his supporters walked out of a Socialist party convention in Everett,
claiming that a reformist right-wing element had unfairly seized control
of the party. The National Executive Committee of the party promptly
declared Titus’s rival group illegal. By October, this tiny left-wing group,
to which William Foster belonged, reconstituted itself into something
called the United Wage Workers Party of Washington, and had changed
the name of the Seattle Socialist to the Workingman’s Paper.®

For less than a year, Foster remained among the small group of de-
voted radicals who followed Titus into the Wage Workers party. He later
stated that his failure to return to the Socialist party “was perhaps the
greatest political mistake” of his career. In retrospect, he judged the schis-
matic Titus to have been “a brilliant speaker, a forceful writer, an ener-
getic agitator and one of the outstanding Marxists then in the United
States” who nonetheless had a tendency to “incurable ‘leftism’” and “bu-
reaucratic arbitrariness.” Despite these critiques, Foster as a young man
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was irresistibly drawn, like his mentor, to the vision of a revolutionary
movement unadulterated by the corrupt yearnings of the bourgeoisie.
Both dismissed the Socialist party as it was constituted in 1909 as “hope-
lessly” middle class. Titus’s Wage Workers party was to be composed
exclusively of proletarians, “as defined by The Communist Manifesto.”’

Despite their vast difference in backgrounds, Titus and Foster shared
certain characteristics that may best be described as stylistic. Both were
uncomfortable in the world of genteel reformism and “regular” trade
unionism. Instead, they were drawn to the milieu of the unassimilated
working-class autodidact, purist and impertinent. Titus’s disquisitions
were heavy with a ponderous naturalism; both Foster and Titus held so-
cialism to be as much a codified special knowledge as an irresistible his-
torical movement. Both Titus and Foster accepted that while the working
class possessed the immanent force of the revolution, most workers were
simply not prepared to accept or comprehend revolutionary science be-
cause of their blind acceptance of capitalist propaganda in their churches,
schools, and press. This was a common theme in socialist polemics of the
era, but it was especially evident in Titus’s disquisitions. Foster’s distrust
of the working class was a deeply felt and insoluble mixture of disdain
and unrequited devotion more than it was an intellectual construct, but in
1910 he considered himself well tutored enough to conclude that the
working class, being “raw and undeveloped,” mindlessly accepted mid-
dle-class illusions and strove for outmoded “individualist ideals.” Titus
the socialist who “never guesses at anything” shared with his young
protégé a sense of confidence and destiny, even though Foster’s revolu-
tionary certainty would be tempered by a certain patience and willingness
to compromise that Titus usually lacked.!®

Moreover, both Foster and Titus were heavily influenced by the ideas
and writings of Daniel DeLeon. Foster described Titus’s Wage Workers
party as a “hybrid” between DeLeon’s Socialist Labor party and the In-
dustrial Workers of the World, and claimed that the “Deleonist train-
ing” of many of its members, including himself, led them eventually to the
IWW and syndicalism. When the Wage Workers party faltered, Foster
and other followers of Titus considered joining the SLP.!!

Daniel DeLeon, the brilliant and acerbic leader of the Socialist Labor
party, was one of the earliest theoreticians of twentieth-century American
syndicalism. He is often cited as an early “orthodox” American Marxist,
but his writings show a notable willingness to innovate. Although he
would not have described his own politics as “syndicalist,” by the turn of
the century he was increasingly enamored of and impressed by the power-
ful potential of militant industrial unions like the Western Federation of
Miners and Eugene Debs’s American Labor Union. Del.eon became one
of the founders of the Industrial Workers of the World in 1905, an organ-
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ization dedicated to building a radical alternative to the more conserva-
tive, craft-oriented policies of the American Federation of Labor. He
wrote that same year in the Industrial Union Manifesto that “the political
movement is absolutely the reflex of the economic organization,” and
that revolutionary industrial unionism should be conceived of as the
“muscle” that would enforce a socialist political victory. Labor unions,
rather than any particular political party, would play the primary role in
bringing about the revolution. DeLeon began to define “political” action
as an instrument for propaganda and recruitment rather than a means of
winning office. When Foster concluded in 1910 that the “ballot” was “on
the bum entirely,” he was echoing DeLeon’s theory of “industrialism,”
which included the idea that “the value of the ‘ballot’ as a constructive
force is zero.”12

In 1909, William Foster, after having left the Seattle Socialist party
with Titus and his followers, was at a crucial juncture in his life. It is not
clear at what point, exactly, he decided to make a career of labor politics,
but it was evidently quite important to him to belong to a viable and
coherent political movement. A variety of choices were available to him.
He could attempt to rejoin the Seattle Socialist party, but this was appar-
ently not an acceptable option for him because of what he felt was that
organization’s “hopelessly” middle-class orientation. Foster’s involve-
ment with Titus and the short-lived Wage Workers party brought him
close to the ideas of Daniel DeLeon’s SLP, but he later claimed to have
been “repulsed” by DeLeon and his “crass sectarianism” and “dogmatic
utopianism.”!? These, however, are adjectives that could just as easily
have been applied to Hermon Titus, and Foster’s judgment must be con-
sidered in juxtaposition to his own membership in Titus’s schismatic and
ephemeral party, which echoed many of Deleon’s theories. The Wage
Workers party dissolved by 1910; Titus never again achieved anywhere
near the prominence he had previously enjoyed in Washington state poli-
tics. True to his obsession with proletarianism, he seems finally to have
become either an elevator operator or hotel doorman, and died in obscu-
rity in New York City in 1931. Joseph Pass, an individual who was quite
active in Washington radical politics, claimed to have visited Titus, then
quite ill, at the doctor’s Greenwich Village apartment in 1930. Pass re-
called that Titus had asked about Foster, and “talked of him as a teacher
of his pupil.”"*

Titus was still struggling to locate a constituency and focus for his new
party when he sent William Foster to cover an explosion of workers’
protests and social unrest in Spokane in the winter of 1909. Both men
could not have helped but be fascinated by the potential of the Industrial
Workers of the World, which was seeking to organize the workers in
Spokane. The IWW had led a huge strike of immigrant steel workers in
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McKees Rock, Pennsylvania, in July. The strike was especially significant
because it showed that immigrant workers, previously largely neglected
by the American Federation of Labor, could successfully organize against
a corporation as huge and seemingly omnipotent as United States Steel. In
November, workers belonging to the International Ladies Garment
Workers’ Union in New York City and Philadelphia called a giant indus-
try-wide strike that dramatically illustrated the power of workers organ-
ized on an industrial basis to resist the demands of their employers.
Foster, a member of his local AFL craft union in Seattle, the Building
Laborers, and a former Socialist, began to achieve a name for himself in
the labor movement at a time when workers’ struggles at the point of
production were the most visible manifestations of working-class mili-
tancy. Soon, he would wholeheartedly embrace the vision of working-
class emancipation through militant trade union action, culminating in
an apocalyptic general strike.!’

It is noteworthy, however, that the workers that the IWW sought to
organize in Spokane were not trade unionists in the conventional sense,
and their struggle was conducted far from the “point of production.” The
Spokane free speech fight was one of the earliest efforts by the Wobblies
to dramatize the issue of the lack of civil rights among the unorganized
floating laborers of the West. At the time, Spokane was considered the
hub of what was then called the Inland Empire, a commercial center for
the region’s lumber and mining industry. Hundreds of unemployed men
would journey to Spokane in order to buy jobs from the local employ-
ment agencies or “sharks,” which held a monopoly on transient jobs in
the area. Such employment agencies worked in collusion with foremen to
buy and sell temporary employment; agencies would occasionally sell
nonexistent jobs to the vulnerable itinerant workers. Wobbly organizers
were dispatched to cultivate and focus the discontent of these workers,
and by November the jails were filling with IWW soapboxers and others
who, in defiance of local restrictions on street speaking, were arrested
while haranguing passersby against the employment agencies. One par-
ticipant in the fight wrote that before the IWW arrived, there had been no
semblance of organization among Spokane’s floating workers. “They
were a faceless, wandering mass of workers, moving from job to job, with
no sense of direction or unity. The IWW proposed to change this state of
affairs.”!¢

When Foster departed for Spokane as Titus’s chosen correspondent, it
was decided that his name should be embellished with a “Z.” A friend of
Foster’s, Harry Ault, later asserted that he had suggested the added initial
as a way of adding distinction to the byline “William Foster.” Titus him-
self explained that the “Z” was added so that Foster could be sure of
receiving mail that otherwise might be delivered to another “William E.”
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in Spokane. In any event, Foster never referred to himself as William “Ze-
bulon,” and the “Z” was never intended by Foster to indicate a middle
name. Elizabeth Gurley Flynn, a nineteen-year-old IWW organizer who
had arrived in Spokane in November, met William Z. Foster during her
trial on charges stemming from her participation in the free speech fight.
She described Foster, then twenty-eight years old, as “tall, slender, blue-
eyed and soft-spoken,” a regular “skinny marink.” Titus described him
only as a “quiet, gentle-spoken man, of slight build.”!”

The desultory but determined struggles of the “faceless, wandering
mass of workers” in Spokane were immediately compelling to the novice
socialist reporter. Foster’s dispatches to the Workingman’s Paper in No-
vember and December were sympathetic to the IWW and the free speech
fight, but the feature of the protest that seemed to impress him most was
the “excellent discipline” of the participating men and women. Soon after
he arrived, he was arrested, as Titus put it, “for standing on a sidewalk in
Spokane.” Evidently, police had identified Foster as the correspondent
for the Workingman’s Paper and the IWW newspaper, Solidarity, with
which Foster was sharing his reportage, and arrested him at a free speech
gathering. Foster’s first foray into radical journalism and street protest
landed him an assignment on the rockpile. At one point he was put in
solitary confinement, on a bread-and-water diet, accused of helping or-
ganize IWW meetings and activities in the jail itself. A visitor remarked
that Foster looked “pretty seedy. He made no complaint, but his hands
were cut and in bad shape. His shoes were worn out and I know his feet
are cold.” He was finally released after spending forty-seven days in the
city jail on a charge of disorderly conduct.'® Shortly afterward, he and
two other men were elected as an IWW executive committee to negotiate
a settlement of the fight with the Spokane mayor and other officials. The
final agreement ratified by the authorities and the ragged army of deter-
mined Wobblies allows some insight into Foster’s later critiques of the
IWW and its tactics.!?

The IWW executive committee that met with the mayor and his aides
made four basic demands: that the meetings in their hall be conducted
free from police harassment; that the Industrial Worker be allowed distri-
bution on the street without interference; that all IWW prisoners in city
and county jails be released; and finally, that the police would not inter-
fere with street speaking. The final agreement fell short of these objec-
tives. It provided that the IWW would be permitted to speak only in “un-
restricted” areas like vacant lots, and offered a vague promise that the
mayor would ask the city council to revise the street speaking ordinance.
It was agreed that the police would not interfere with I'WW meetings, and
The Industrial Worker was to be allowed free distribution. Wobblies who
were prisoners in the county jails were to be released only gradually,
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pending the return of IWW national organizer F. W. Heslewood from
Coeur d’Aléne, Idaho, where he had been resisting extradition for prose-
cution in Spokane on criminal conspiracy charges. The IWW agreed to
drop all of its civil suits against city authorities. At a mass meeting held
the evening following the agreement, this “Treaty of Spokane” was en-
dorsed “pending the good faith of the authorities.” However, one
Spokane newspaper reported that “some of the rank and file of the TWW
whose leaders agreed to a peace pact with the city authorities are dis-
gusted with the turn of events.” The Spokane Press concluded that the
“treaty” with the IWW brought matters “to exactly the same conditions
that existed before the fight was taken up.” Police allowed use of the
IWW hall and publication of its newspaper, but Wobblies “will not be
permitted to speak on the streets.”2?

In his later writings on the outcome of the free speech fight, Foster
emphasized that the Spokane demonstrations were a victory for the TWW
and for the principle of “direct action.” Yet, he also intimated that the
committee to which he belonged had been negotiating from a position of
weakness: “The L.W.W., having pretty much used up its resources of men
and money,” considered the concessions of the city authorities, “if not a
complete victory, at least a satisfaction of their proposed arrangement.”
Yet, Foster was undoubtedly aware that the “treaty” was a somewhat
ambiguous accomplishment. While judicial decisions by Washington
State courts eventually declared the Spokane street speaking ordinances
unconstitutional, the hated employment agencies continued to operate
freely after the conclusion of the free speech fight. Indeed, in the next two
years, the number of employment agencies operating in Spokane in-
creased markedly. Moreover, the IWW proved unsuccessful at provoking
the kind of labor solidarity that would have been necessary for funda-
mental change to take place. The AFL unions in Spokane gave little sup-
port to the fight, and Foster implied that the Spokane police chief had
decided to move aggressively against the [WW only after it became clear
that most craft unions in the city viewed the Wobblies with hostility. The
IWW and the AFL remained fundamentally separate organizations in
Spokane, with different constituencies and conflicting philosophies of or-
ganization and tactics.?!

In 1909 the IWW had yet to prove itself. Its membership had declined
drastically since its founding in 1905. From afar, Daniel DeLeon harshly
criticized the TWW for its exclusive reliance on direct action (he implied
that the Spokane fight had actually resolved into a “political” struggle
anyway) and was finally expelled on the basis of the fact that he was not
a “wage earner.” The powerful Western Federation of Miners had with-
drawn from the IWW by 1908, and by then Eugene Debs had let his
membership quietly expire. Despite the fact that workers across the na-
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tion were showing signs of militancy and willingness to engage in strikes
for industrial unionism and workers’ control, editorialists were asking by
1910 “Is the IWW to Grow?”??

Foster wrote from Spokane that his experiences in the free speech fight
were invaluable to him. “Through it I have learned a few of the possibili-
ties of organization and direct action, and more especially of the marvel-
ous effectiveness of the passive resistance strike, in addition to learning
many new wrinkles about the law, police, etc.” While he was in the
Spokane jail, he noted approvingly that the Wobblies held regular meet-
ings, set aside separate evenings for “business” and “propaganda,” estab-
lished 10:30 p.M. as lights out time, elected a secretary and propaganda
committee, and had enacted “dozens of other rules and regulations.” Yet,
despite what he witnessed during the Spokane struggle, Foster would
never be able to accept what he saw as the IWW’s dependence on sponta-
neity and its inability to build lasting organizations in the towns where its
strikes and free speech fights took place. In his later formulations of revo-
lutionary tactics, he would embrace the idea that small groups of mili-
tants were best able to encourage strikes when they operated under a
decentralized organizational form. However, he more often equated
power not only with system and order, but organization with centraliza-
tion. As a Communist, he would end up writing of “the paralyzing effects
of the naive and infantile decentralization tendency” among the Wobblies
in Spokane.”?3

An incident that occurred a continent away, in his former home city of
Philadelphia, undoubtedly reinforced Foster’s interest in the “possibilities
of organization and direct action” and belief that “it is really possible to
organize the working class.” In May 1909, the city was once again
shaken by a strike of street railwaymen against its giant streetcar mo-
nopoly. Then in February 1910, after a settlement had broken down and
the renewed strike had turned violent, representatives of Philadelphia’s
central labor union ordered the first general strike in modern American
history. Two Socialists were on the strike committee, and one observer
noted that “socialist philosophy tinctured the whole movement.” When
the general strike took effect, thousands of nonunion workers left work
in a huge show of solidarity with the street railwaymen. Eugene Debs
addressed an overflowing crowd at the Labor Lyceum. Ultimately, the
strike came apart when a conference between representatives of the com-
pany and the car men created the impression that a settlement would soon
be made. Despite the disintegration of the strike, the disturbances in Phil-
adelphia created a strong impression among labor radicals throughout
the country. One noteworthy feature of the strike was that it was initiated
and organized by AFL trade unions; socialists pondered the meaning of a
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general strike in which organizations that they had often derided for their
voluntarism and conservatism, took such a prominent role. One writer
concluded that “unionism and socialism clasped hands as never before.
The incident taught, better than can tomes of theory, the wisdom of
working in harmony with the trades unions to the very utmost.”?* In
Spokane, the Philadelphia strike was front-page news at the time when
Foster was engaged in negotiating the end to the free speech fight. He
could not have helped but be impressed by the fact that while the TWW
campaign in Spokane was coming to an inconclusive end, the AFL central
council in Philadelphia was organizing a massive general strike.

In the meantime, Spokane was itself experiencing an episode of labor
unrest that confirmed the power of local AFL-affiliated unions decisively
to influence city politics. Simultaneously with the calling of the general
strike in Philadelphia, within days of the settlement of the free speech
fight, the Spokane Central Labor Council announced plans for a large
demonstration. The labor unions demanded a higher wage rate for work-
ers who were employed under city contracts and the hiring of three police
matrons to be stationed in the city jail. Initially, it was proposed that the
demonstration be held on a large lot near the town center, since speakers
were still “being denied the right to hold meetings on the streets by virtue
of the street speaking ordinance.” However, the police chief finally
granted a permit to “organized labor” to conduct a parade, the purpose
of which would be to pressure the Spokane City Council, meeting the
same day, to adopt the measures endorsed by the Central Labor Council.?’

When the parade took place, forty-nine unions marched in a parade
that was estimated at between two and five thousand strong. In the list of
participating unions, however, the IWW was not included. Indeed, the
size of the parade dwarfed any protest the IWW had been able to generate
during the free speech fight. The procession culminated in a large protest
meeting near the jail, and the city council chamber was subsequently dis-
rupted by a “near riot” when council members threatened to ignore the
demands of the unions. Responding with a haste untypical of such bod-
ies, the city council reversed itself and acceded to the demands of the
protesters at a meeting the following day. Significantly, the council finally
voted unanimously to repeal the street-speaking ordinance under which
the Wobblies had been arrested. The prevailing sentiment was that “now
that the IWWs have been crushed . . . there is no need to make citizens
hold meetings in the mire of barnyards and back doors, as was done at the
protest meeting in the rear of city hall jail last night.”?

Thus, during the weeks that he lingered in Spokane at the conclusion
of the free speech fight, William Foster both read of the AFUs success in
calling a general strike in Philadelphia, and witnessed a display of power
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by the local AFL central labor body that was far more persuasive in its
effects on the city’s government than anything the I'WW had heretofore
been able to manage. Writing in 1911, he called it a “veritable political
uprising . . . equally hostile to the I'WW and to the corrupt local govern-
ment.”?” Despite his role in negotiating the end to the Spokane free speech
fight, Foster retained his membership in the IWW for only a short period.
Soon, he would be arguing vehemently that Wobblies could best serve the
labor movement by joining local AFL unions and seeking to convert these
bodies into revolutionary organizations.

Rather suddenly after the conclusion of the events in Spokane, Foster
departed for Europe. Elizabeth Gurley Flynn suggested that Foster’s or-
ganizational and negotiating abilities during the Spokane free speech fight
had “attracted the attention” of IWW leader Vincent St. John, and that
Foster left for Europe with “the Saint’s blessing.” It is likely that there
was some informal agreement between St. John and Foster under which
the latter would write articles about the European labor movement for
the IWW press and represent the IWW at a conference of the Interna-
tional Trade Union Secretariat in Budapest in exchange for an initial
grant of travel expenses. The trip represented a great opportunity for Fos-
ter to establish a name for himself in the world of radical politics and
journalism, and because of his relentless curiosity and traveling confi-
dence, he was able to take good advantage of St. John’s assignment. As he
neared his thirtieth birthday Foster was unconnected by close family ties
and without dependable employment. He aimed to travel to France in
order to “learn a little,” as he put it, about direct action.?®

This statement implies that Foster considered his “education” in
Spokane incomplete, but American labor radicals had been entranced by
the well-publicized activities of the French Confederation Générale du
Travail (CGT) since the turn of the century. Itinerant agitators and radi-
cal journalists like Foster as well as many rank-and-file Wobblies read
widely in European philosophy and followed events in the labor move-
ments of other countries quite closely. It is striking that Foster claimed to
have read Gibbon, Darwin and Spencer as a young man, yet these authors
were familiar to many other socialists and Wobblies at the time as well.?®

Foster’s reporting from both France and Germany was in the same
style as his writing for Titus’s Workingman’s Paper: dry and carefully
detailed, with occasional lapses into bitter sarcasm. He began his reports
in Gary, Indiana, where he stopped on his way across the continent to
New York City from Spokane. The future organizer of a giant strike
against the steel industry carefully examined one of the town’s mills, for-
tified against attack from the outside by strikers. As he watched workers
streaming into the plant by way of a bridge, he contemplated “how vain
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all these fortifications will be against an army of educated workers who
thus have the privilege extended to them of capturing the works daily by
way of the main gate.” Writing from New York City, he indulged in a
dark and deprecatory meditation upon his visit to an East Side ghetto, a
slum not unlike that in which he had lived as a child: “In streets covered
with stinking filth and litter, a densely-packed mass of squalling, brawl-
ing, fighting, crying, playing, hawking, bargaining human beings live
their allotted span in this ‘best of worlds.” The pitiable part of it all is that
these poverty-stricken wretches take their miserable fate almost as a mat-
ter of course. Ignorance rules supreme among the denizens of the
‘Ghetto.”” He described Coney Island as merely “the playground of
New York’s vast army of slaves.”30

Foster’s steamer landed at Cherbourg in August. Upon arriving in
Paris, he was amazed by the prominence of the labor movement in the life
of the city; “all over Paris on every wall are flaming syndicalist posters,
calling on the proletariat to unite, giving notice of strikes, lockouts, etc.”
At first, his correspondence reflected his belief that organized labor in
France was far more “advanced” than the American movement in nearly
every respect. It seemed immediately evident to him that “the American
labor movement is in its swaddling clothes.” Moreover, the “slaves” in
France struck him as “not so submissive as they are in the States.” At one
point, after witnessing a demonstration by French workers, he remarked
that he was “filled with disgust when I thought of the tame and unfeared
American labor movement that I am doomed to return to in all likeli-
hood. If it were possible for me to learn French in a couple of years, good
enough to speak it fluently, I would surely stay here and cast my lot with
these red-blooded syndicalists.”!

Foster was fortunate in the timing of his voyage to France, because he
arrived in time to observe the French syndicalists in action during the
“general” railroad strike of 1910. The strike was ultimately crushed
when Aristide Briand, the French premier and former Socialist who had
once authored a popular pamphlet on the uses of the general strike, or-
dered a general conscription of all railway workers. Faced with courts-
martial as army deserters, the strikers finally capitulated; at one point the
entire strike leadership was arrested for hindering the operation of the
trains. The strike itself was widely considered to have been unsuccessful;
it showed, in part, that the radical syndicalists within the CGT could not
effectively extend local strikes into national ones. Only small numbers of
workers, all from the building trades, obeyed a call by the CGT for sym-
pathy strikes. The “betrayal” of the workers by Briand and the strong
governmental measures taken to defeat the strike impressed upon Foster
the lesson that “when the government deems it necessary it will proceed
to any length, regardless of law.”3?
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During his weeks in France, Foster befriended several internationally
prominent organizers, and searched diligently for ideas that could be use-
ful in the United States. He noted that in France, power within the organ-
ized labor movement lay overwhelmingly with the syndicats (trade un-
ions), or the local federations of unions, the bourses du travail. French
syndicalists within the CGT did not always perceive the question of craft
as opposed to industrial organization as a primary issue. In the United
States, the development of a highly centralized industrial economy
seemed to require, according to radicals in the IWW, a centralized indus-
trial union movement as way of balancing the growing power of large
integrated business concerns. Radical syndicalists in France, while in
favor of the idea of the gréve générale (general strike) and industrial un-
ionism, believed that the realities of French economic development,
which remained localized well into the twentieth century, required radi-
cals to make their demands felt through participation in the existing
craft unions, rather than through the formation of separate industrial
unions.>?

Many French syndicalist leaders eschewed formal doctrine in favor of
the ideal of working-class spontaneity. When the revolution came, vic-
tory would depend not so much on philosophical purity or precision as
on the élan of the workers, their fighting spirit, expressed in class warfare
at the point of production. Furthermore, as in any war, the ideal of class
warfare entailed no compromises, no complex blurring of categories be-
tween contestants. Thus, the French syndicalists eschewed the idea of de-
mocracy and political action because these involved bargaining and col-
laboration with the bourgeoisie, and inevitable betrayal of the working
class. The idea of the class war was most appealing to Foster, and no
other American radical of his generation would elaborate the idea as
thoroughly as he. It was a concept that satisfied deeply felt and complex
urges in his personality, and promised a transcendence that reformist so-
cialism was not able to offer.**

Foster was also struck by the fact that within the CGT, the syndicalist
leadership was a militant minority that was able to dominate a trade
union movement very similar, in its decentralized structure and cautious,
craft-conscious membership, to the American Federation of Labor. The
French movement, Foster noted approvingly, is “dominated by ‘danger-
ous leaders,” who are attempting to force a rather reluctant and ignorant
rank and file to adopt the most approved methods of class warfare.” Dur-
ing his visit, however, Foster had still not concluded that American radi-
cals should “bore from within” in the AFL; the American federation, he
reaffirmed, seemed “incapable of evolution,” and “time after time” reac-
tionary cliques had “frustrated the attempts of progressive members of
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the rank and file to make the organizations more in accord with modern
conditions.”33

Rather, Foster seemed enamored of the overtly insurrectionist style of
Gustave Hervé, a prominent figure on the left of the French labor move-
ment. During the 1910 strike Hervé called for widespread sabotage and
“individual terrorism.” Foster reported assiduously on the posturing of
Hervé’s journal La Guerre Sociale and the arrest of its editors, and im-
plied that sabotage of the rail system seemed to be the only effective
method for forcing the employers to rehire strikers who had been fired.
Foster had a chance to visit Hervé in prison, where the French radical
urged Foster to “teach American workers to practice sabotage™ and even
advocate assassination “when necessary.” While in France, Foster wrote
that “government laws should be entitled to no more consideration than
the rules of the factory, if they oppress the workers. It is the workers’
privilege to break them in any manner they see fit, or are able to do.”
Moreover, the French workers understood that sabotage “stands for the
most revolutionary sentiments the working class can have, i.e., utter con-
tempt for capitalist life and property.”3®

Foster’s dispatches were permeated with his belief in the great impor-
tance of what he was witnessing, a sense that the European working class
and its leaders were making history. Determined to make the most of his
European visit, he moved on from France to Germany. If he was attracted
to the style of the French labor movement, the opposite was true of his
impressions of German socialism. He was dismayed by the lack of a mili-
tant demonstration by workers on May Day in Berlin, and, after observ-
ing a mass funeral for a Socialist party leader, noted that “to one who has
been taught to consider the German movement as the very acme of revo-
lutionary endeavor, the demonstration was a disappointment.” He ex-
pressed amazement at how well dressed were the German socialists at-
tending the funeral, and noted bitterly that he had been excluded from
participating in the funeral procession and ceremony because of the fact
that he lacked the proper attire. This incident underlines the fact that
Foster, the future chairman of the Communist party in the United States,
nursed a profound distrust of Marxian socialism at this vital and forma-
tive stage of his career. Alienated as he was both by the fruitless polemics
of Hermon Titus and by the respectable gradualism of the Social Democ-
racy, his instincts drew him to the syndicalists of the IWW and the French
movement.>’

We can gain a revealing glimpse of Foster’s personality through ac-
counts of his participation in a conference of the International Secretariat
of National Trade Union Centres in Budapest. He attended the confer-
ence, dominated by socialist and reformist European unionists, at the be-
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hest of St. John, who hoped that Foster would gain a measure of interna-
tional recognition for the IWW. Foster angrily contested the credentials
of James Duncan, the official AFL delegate, on the grounds of the AFL’s
association with the “class collaborationist” National Civic Federation.
He was able to tie up the entire first full day of the conference with his
protest against the seating of Duncan. He was finally supported only by
Léon Jouhaux, secretary of the CGT, and George Yvetot, the other CGT
delegate. During the discussion of the motion, Foster lost control of his
temper. “His language was foul, vulgar and vehement. He even threat-
ened assault, and subsided only to prevent [his] expulsion from the
room,” according to one delegate. Despite his generally stolid demeanor,
Foster’s temper could be quite explosive. Back in the United States the
president of the American Federation of Labor, Samuel Gompers, in his
report to the annual AFL convention in 1911, referred to Foster’s “ef-
frontery” and “the repudiation of the so-called Industrial Workers of the
World” at the Budapest conference.®

Foster’s difficulties at the conference were exacerbated by the fact that
he was arrested for vagrancy the night after the first session. Having no
money for lodging, Foster had attempted to sleep in a horse-drawn mov-
ing van on the outskirts of Budapest. His predicament came to the atten-
tion of the convention when a subscription paper was circulated, solicit-
ing contributions to secure his release from jail. A Hungarian trade union
official gained his release, and Jouhaux and Yvetot lent him ten dollars
until St. John wired more money. St. John considered the episode embar-
rassing to the IWW), perhaps because it underlined its image as an organ-
ization of hoboes and “bums.”*’

While in Europe, Foster paid particularly close attention to denigrating
the “patriotism” of the working class—whether manifested in participa-
tion in military parades and ceremonies, or in simple obedience to the
laws of the state. He admired Hervé’s Blanquist “antipatriotism,” and
upon observing a military ceremony in Berlin in which troops were being
reviewed by the kaiser, he remarked that the soldiers’ patriotism “shows
what damned fools working men can make of themselves.” Foster’s dis-
dain for the intelligence and patriotism of the majority of workers was
unexceptional among American Wobblies, and French anarcho-syndical-
ist leaders were, as Albert Lindemann has put it, “unapologetic elitists
who frequently expressed contempt for the mundane concerns of the av-
erage French worker.”*°

Foster possessed a fiercely seditious temperament, and his revulsion at
patriotism and patriotic displays applied to the United States as well as to
foreign countries. Although the rhetoric of citizenship surfaced occasion-
ally in his writings, it inevitably seemed awkward and synthetic in his
hands. For him, America was a set of conditions to be transcended. If
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earlier radicals had seen America as representing certain democratic ide-
als that might be utilized in the construction of a better society, Foster’s
radicalism was deeper and more unappeasable, for the very reason that he
had not experienced, let alone believed in, the possibility of such a trans-
formation. In an article in 1911, he ridiculed the fact that Eugene Debs
delivered his lectures from a platform “smothered in American flags.”
When he asserted that “the best socialists are the best patriots,” he was
writing in an entirely negative, sarcastic sense.*! He was on his way to
becoming what chamber of commerce patriots of his time most feared: an
unattached working-class agitator, the “familiar outsider” whose aliena-
tion could not be discerned in his ethnicity, race or physiognomy. Long
before he became a syndicalist, or even a Communist, however, Foster
was an “un-American” American.

Foster returned to the United States in time to attend the sixth conven-
tion of the IWW in Chicago in September 1911. At this convention,
which was attended by only thirty-one delegates, he raised the possibility
of dissolving the IWW, reconstituting the organization as a propaganda
league, and “getting into the organized labor movement” for the purpose
of “revolutionizing” existing unions. This audacious proposal was con-
sistent with his experiences and observations in the United States as well
as Europe, but soon he would be accused of promulgating a “foreign”
idea within the IWW. At the convention, he was nominated by a faction
of “decentralizers” as a candidate for the editorship of the Wobbly news-
paper, The Industrial Worker. With an article published immediately
after the convention, he began his campaign radically to reconstitute the
organization that he had joined only two years earlier.

From mid-November to mid-December 1911, the editors of The Indus-
trial Worker and Solidarity opened their columns to letters arguing for or
against Foster’s proposal to change the character of the IWW. His argu-
ments, coming so soon after his return from Europe, were carefully
thought-out and organized, suggesting that they had been formulated
well before his arrival in the United States. Foster presented the idea that
the AFL constituted the “organized” labor movement in the United States
as an almost self-justifying argument in favor of radicals focusing their
activities within it. Yet he was also supremely confident that a small cadre
of disciplined activists could bend just about any organization to its ends.
This syncretism would always lurk near the core of Foster’s radicalism,
and informed his tendency to understand revolutionary transformation
in tactical, rather than historical terms.*?

Foster’s arguments contained a formidable critique of the TWW, espe-
cially in light of developments in the European labor movement and the
apparently declining significance of the IWW in the United States. As he
noted, European industrial union movements organized along the lines of
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the IWW remained pathetically isolated and ineffective. In the United
States, membership in the IWW had stagnated in the years between 1905
and 1911, while by 1912 workers belonging to industrial unions within
the AFL vastly outnumbered the membership of the IWW, and those un-
ions seemed more vital than industrial unions outside the federation.*

Nonetheless, rank-and-file Wobblies rushed to defend their organiza-
tion against Foster’s rhetorical assault. One argument was that many
Wobblies, belonging to what one correspondent characterized as the
“floating element” of American workers, could not even get into the craft
unions to “bore from within,” because of high dues and the culture of
craft exclusiveness that permeated the AFL. It was often pointed out that
Wobblies would simply be expelled if they attempted to undermine the
traditional structure of the AFL unions.**

Foster was not at all convinced that Wobblies were the victims of that
much persecution. He knew that in such AFL unions as the Western Fed-
eration of Miners, the United Mine Workers, and the Shingle Weavers,
Wobblies were tolerated and some even held official positions. In an un-
published article that was refused by Solidarity, Foster outlined his think-
ing about boring from within: “Let [the Wobblies] forsake the doctrine
that in order to change the minds of the workers and educate them, it is
necessary to destroy their present unions and to organize themselves into
brand new ones—a mode of reasoning that the workers seem unwilling to
accept. Let them adopt a policy of always standing squarely for the best
interests of the unions of which they are members—which are synony-
mous with those of the working class—and, it will become next to impos-
sible to expel even the most militant of them.”

He went even further, though, meditating that craft unions would be
fully justified in expelling Wobblies “by the present hostile attitude of the
IWW towards them.” This was an odd sentiment from one who only
months earlier had been denied a seat at the conference of Social Demo-
cratic trade unionists in Budapest, having been characterized by the AFL
as a “disrupter.” Yet it reflects that despite his seething anger at self-
satisfied and complacent union officials and gradualist Social Democrats,
Foster understood the powerful appeal of “immediate” demands for the
American working class, and still yearned for some measure of the stabil-
ity and legitimacy afforded by the AFL. He signed his letter “Yours for an
Effective Organization.”®

When Foster’s critics accused him of using the history of the labor
movements of other countries as a template for American activists, he
pointed to the successes of British syndicalists. In the summer of 1911,
while Foster was in Germany, two huge strikes in Great Britain, by the
dock workers and the railwaymen, riveted the attention of the European
labor movement. Tom Mann, a hard-nosed English labor leader who had
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played an important role in developing these paralyzing nationwide
transport strikes, had unabashedly borrowed from the ideas of the same
French syndicalists whom Foster had found so inspiring. Thorough pre-
paratory organization, solidarity actions, sympathetic strikes, and
“Amalgamation Committees” designed to coordinate the actions of the
disparate craft unions were tactics that the English syndicalists borrowed
from the French. According to Foster, the experiences of the British syndi-
calists, as well as the unprecedented solidarity exhibited by British craft
unions, suggested that the tactics of the French radicals could be applica-
ble to labor movements operating in highly industrialized economies. He
accused the Wobblies’ leadership of unthinking “patriotism” in dismiss-
ing the ideas of European radicals. The debate raged in the pages of the
IWW paper Solidarity for weeks, until finally the editors declared the
discussion over.*

Foster, of course, failed in his efforts to convert the IWW from a revo-
lutionary industrial union into a propaganda league. He blamed his lost
bid for the editorship of the Spokane Industrial Worker on a rigged vote,
and finally he had to decide whether to repent and remain in the IWW or
choose another path to the revolution. At the Chicago IWW convention
where he first publicized his ideas, Foster and several like-minded Wob-
blies decided to carry on a propaganda campaign within the IWW in
order to “win it over to the policy of boring-from-within.” At this point,
he was designated national secretary of a proposed federation of small
propaganda groups that would be created within various IWW locals. In
January 1912, he duly established an organization called the Syndicalist
Militant Minority League in Chicago.*”

Foster worked hard in Chicago to win influential trade unionists to his
views. One evening, he appeared before a “well-attended” meeting in
which the audience included “several men prominent in the AF of L,” as
well as “some of the Old Guard of Industrial Unionism in America.”
Before this audience, Foster argued that contrary to IWW “dogma,” the
AFL “could evolve,” and that “the militant worker should be within its
ranks playing his active part in that evolution.” He pointed to the UMW
as an example of an AFL union that had become increasingly a “class
organization no less than an industrial one” in recent years. The French
railway strike and the industrial unrest in England showed the results of
the activity of militants within existing unions, according to Foster. An
observer at the meeting succinctly recorded his aims: “Make industrial
unionism our program from within unions and further its propagation
and application as circumstances dictate.” The policy of Foster’s pro-
posed militant minority would be “abolition of contracts; closer affilia-
tion, thereby extending the scope of organization, and so giving growth
to industrial unionism in application; reduce high initiation fees, advo-
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cate General Strike, Sabotage, and when need be, dual organization. . . .
fight political socialists within unions.”*8

On February 15, an article appeared in The Agitator, a small but influ-
ential anarchist newspaper published at Home Colony in Washington
state, announcing that Foster would make a tour of the West Coast and
discuss his ideas at IWW locals along his route. Foster’s trip west to build
up his Syndicalist Militant Minority League coincided with the successes
of the IWW during the spectacular Lawrence textile strike. It was a stress-
ful period for him, as the events in Lawrence had suddenly made his pro-
posal to change the course of IWW tactics from within seem “quite bar-
ren.” Moreover, his six thousand-mile trip by railroad from Chicago to
the Pacific Northwest proved to be difficult and hazardous. His route
took him through St. Louis to McCook, Nebraska, and from there to
Akron, Colorado. He rode from Nebraska to Colorado on an open car
full of bridge steel; during this ten-hour ride he nearly froze to death.
However, he found a welcome haven at Home Colony.*

The colony was an unpretentious utopian community located on the
banks of Joe’s Bay, a scenic inlet off southern Puget Sound. The founding
principles upon which the colony was based included, simply, the state-
ment that each member should be allowed “the personal liberty to follow
their own line of action no matter how much it may differ from the cus-
tom of the past or present, without censure or ostracism from their neigh-
bor.” Some Home Colony residents, free to pursue their personal pana-
ceas, practiced free love, or “variety” as it was called. Other practices
included vegetarianism, various kinds of spiritualism, and nudism. Por-
traits of Karl Marx, Ferdinand Lasalle, Peter Kropotkin, and Michael
Bakunin graced the walls of the colony’s schoolroom. Residents contrib-
uted to support various IWW free speech fights, the Russian revolution of
19085, and the defendants in the Haywood-Moyer murder trial. The anni-
versaries of the executions of the Haymarket protesters were ceremoni-
ously observed, and patriotic holidays like the Fourth of July were
mocked and ridiculed. Occasional visitors included Harry Ault, Hermon
Titus, Emma Goldman, Alexander Berkman, Elizabeth Gurley Flynn,
William D. Haywood, Ben Reitman, and Elbert Hubbard. Later, a former
anarchist described Home as a haven for “crackpots, cultists and radical
high-binders,” an “old time get-away for reds, real ones: dynamiters,
riot-provokers, slackers, anti-military propagandists, and all around
‘unAmericans.””>°

When Foster appeared there in 1912, Home Colony’s most notorious
resident was perhaps Jay Fox, editor and publisher of The Agitator. Fox,
born in 1870, grew up in Chicago’s “back of the yards” district. Like
Foster, he was the son of an Irish immigrant and had belonged to an Irish
street gang in his youth. At age sixteen, while working at the Malleable
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placed him under surveillance. Burns was at least on the right trail, for an
informant at Home was able to lead him to the McNamaras’ accomplices,
who were arrested and extradited to California. Later, in a self-promot-
ing book about the affair, Burns titillated readers with descriptions of
Fox’s unmarried living arrangement with an unnamed anarchist woman
and her children. That woman, Esther Abramowitz, would soon there-
after enter into a lifelong relationship with William Foster.’?

Esther Abramowitz evidently first met Jay Fox in Chicago; they at-
tended the 1905 convention of the IWW together. The radical journalist
and author Hutchins Hapgood described Fox and Abramowitz in his
1907 book, The Spirit of Labor. He wrote that Fox “had more fibre and
calmness and strength than the rank and file of the anarchists. He talks
well, and reasons, not emotionally, but coolly; and in character he is bal-
anced, tolerant and kind. He is a learned man ... school-masterly in
look, and talks in a slow, deliberate way.” During her years in Chicago,
Esther was apparently a “varietist” or “free lover.”

Esther is what Jay calls his “companion.” She is a beautiful Jewess. . . .
She is melancholy and affectionate and gentle and sensual, and has had an
unhappy experience with men. She left her husband some years ago, “be-
cause we didn’t develop together.” And Jay and his wife separated for the
same reason. Then these two met, and each discovered that the other had
“high 1deals.”

So they simply live together. They have a great respect for one another,
and Jay is so tolerant that Esther’s “longings” are completely satisfied, even
when they lead her away from Jay for weeks at a time. But Jay’s soul is
fortified and tested: he is not emotionally vulnerable. . . .33

William Foster claimed that Esther Abramowitz became his wife in
1912; however, they were in fact married in Chicago in 1918. Foster’s
relationship with Esther began through their mutual acquaintance
with Fox, who had once editorialized that “a consistent belief in nat-
ural selection, in justice, in liberty, will lead to free love.” Esther had
been born in the Russian province of Kovno; her family came to the
United States when she was a young girl. Before she began living with
William, she had three children as a result of earlier relationships: Re-
becca, Sylvia, and David. Of these David and Sylvia eventually adopted
the Foster name; Rebecca, much more distant from the family, died in
1922. As William relentlessly pursued his labor and syndicalist enter-
prises, Esther and her children remained largely in the background. Fos-
ter, according to the description of one of his contemporaries, resembled
Fox, “though [Foster] was younger and more sociable. They were both
about the same height, slim and lithe, and both imperturbable. Between
them moved the dark and voluptuous Esther Fox, a figure of Oriental






54 CHAPTER 2

was preoccupied intellectually with an attempt to update, in light of
“modern” developments, the radical traditions to which he had been ex-
posed as a young man. Fox’s theories before 1911 were a curious amal-
gam of the old anarchist “Chicago idea” and Social Darwinism. The
“Chicago idea” harked back to the conceptions of the anarchists Albert
Parsons and August Spies—the idea that the trade union was an instru-
ment of social revolution that, in its ideal form, “would be satisfied with
nothing less than the elimination of capitalism.” It advocated a “militant,
a revolutionary unionism, which sought to get at the root of bureaucra-
tism and compromise.” At the same time, for these anarchists, the trade
union was to be the “embryonic group of the future ‘free society.’ ” Signif-
icantly, in the early 1910s, Foster and Fox would operate a syndicalist
league out of the Chicago home of Lucy Parsons.>

Fox was confident that as modern society evolved, the unionist would
come to understand that the ultimate aim of the union was to gain “the
full value of labor expended” for workers. Unions were noncoercive in
that they were based on the “scientific” principle of voluntary, evolution-
ary organization. “The anarchist sees in the growth of the trade union an
evidence of the tendency towards the simple, natural, yet scientific state of
society he is working for.” As labor unions grow and strikes become
more extended, “it only requires time and experience to develop the de-
sire for a GENERAL STRIKE,” he wrote. The aim of the anarchists, he
averred, “is the abolition of capitalism and every vestige of authority; this
is to be displaced by a society of free socialism in which the various trade
unions own the means of production and distribution in common, and
freely exchange with each other on the mutual basis of social equality,
individual liberty and real justice.”%¢

Fox was critical of the IWW, which he believed had centralized power
in the organization’s general executive board. For this anarchist, the AFL
was appealing because of its voluntarist model of organization. In addi-
tion, while “the AFL is slow to move, like all large bodies,” it was none-
theless “advancing towards industrialism.” He noted that the IWW had
failed “to reach the masses of union men with its propaganda.” The
French syndicalists, on the other hand, “did not organize unions except
where no unions existed,” and have shown that “the form of organiza-
tion makes little difference if the membership has the revolutionary
spirit.” Syndicalism is “the evolutionary method, growing out of the
ranks of labor, instead of the philosopher’s brain.” Foster seemed to
share this outlook; the IWW made a “fetish” of the form of industrialism,
he wrote, and the conservatism of German industrial unions showed con-
clusively that the idea of industrial unionism alone was an insufficient
basis upon which to build a radical labor movement.’’
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Fox’s brand of anarcho-syndicalism was evident in the series of articles
that Foster wrote in the Agitator beginning in the spring of 1912, entitled
“Revolutionary Tactics.” Foster’s writings for the Agitator showed that
he had embraced an eclectic brand of anarchism and syndicalism,
strongly influenced by the examples of the British, French, and American
labor movements. The articles argue for the creation of a national propa-
ganda league, modeled explicitly along the lines of the British syndicalist
leagues created by Tom Mann. From the French and British labor move-
ments Foster reiterated the lesson that syndicalists must “bore from
within” in existing labor movements, although this policy had definite
antecedents in the United States, most notably as part of the anarchist
movement to which Jay Fox belonged. This anarchist tradition provided
an analogue in the American labor movement for what Foster had ob-
served in Europe, especially with regard to the issue of decentralization
and voluntarism. Fox wrote, in support of Foster’s proposals, that “the
plan of organization and the spirit of the [WW is towards centralization.
Syndicalism moves in the opposite direction.” For Foster, at this stage of
his career, centralization meant bureaucracy and conservatism; decentral-
ization would enable the “autonomy of militant minorities.” These
noyaux would be in a position to form new unions if the present trade
unions “proved incapable of evolutions.” He noted approvingly that in
France, railway workers, mindful of the “abuses and incompetence” of
the railway union’s strike committee, “launched a new railroader’s
union, claiming the national committee had outlawed itself.” In the
United States, he wrote, the creation of new unions, if carefully under-
taken, “would doubtless go far towards breaking up the notorious job
trust unions.”>®

It was clearly an exciting time for Foster. He had quite literally traveled
around the world in search of his ideal of militant brotherhood. He knew
that the labor movements of Europe and America were in upheaval and
that the new philosophers of syndicalism were often in the forefront of
events. It seemed as if anything might be possible for a clear-sighted mili-
tant minority, gifted at once with an understanding of the science of
history and the will to move workers’ organizations in a progressive
direction.



Chapter 3

THE SYNDICALIST LEAGUES

The real “radicals” are in the labor movement; those
hanging on the outside began with the movement, too,
but then became too weak for it. . . . My experience
is that the radicals make a mistake in neglecting the
trades-union movement. If they are trades-unionists they
can have a hall to speak in undisturbed by police.
—Anonymous anarchist, 1907

THE HISTORY of the nomenclature of American radicalism includes cer-
tain terms that seem to have been wholly and immediately unassimilable,
incapable from the moment of their introduction of achieving any wide-
spread use other than in a negative or entirely derogatory sense. Such
terms appear, in retrospect, to have required no huge mobilization of
public opinion in order to guarantee their estrangement from public dis-
course. Yet, these “disabled” terms, categories, and labels, described par-
ticular social ideals or modes of action that were influential enough to
elicit a response from certain elites, and were perceived by them as dis-
tinctly threatening in a very material sense. Somehow it is appropriate
that William Z. Foster would be associated with several such terms
throughout his career; these included “anarchism,” “bolshevism,” and
the unfortunate “boring from within.” During the years after he returned
from Europe the concept with which he was most closely associated was
“syndicalism,” a word that loosely described aspects of an indigenous
social movement, but which was at the same time widely disparaged as an
un-American “ism.”

From 1910 to 1914, “syndicalism” became a most important topic for
American editors and journalists, a matter for extended debate and care-
ful consideration. One writer nervously declaimed that syndicalism is
“more dangerous than labor unionism because it is less stupid and less
corrupt.” A recurring theme in numerous articles in the mainstream press
was that although syndicalism originated in Europe, its prospects in the
United States must be taken quite seriously. A writer for the New York
American proposed that European workers had learned the tenets of syn-
dicalism from the managers of trusts and monopolies. European monop-
olists operated under the assumption that power only resided in the
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workplace and in control of the means of production, and had thus
“turned law and politics into mere tools of deception and repression.”
Unless legal and political reforms were undertaken quickly, according to
this correspondent, American workers might readily adopt the direct ac-
tion tactics advocated by European labor leaders. Another writer empha-
sized that syndicalists were a radically new type of labor agitator, unat-
tached to traditional forms of working-class ethics and custom. Quoting
a letter from Jay Fox’s Agitator, the reporter proposed that syndicalists
“are out for plunder and respect nothing their enemies venerate. You may
talk to them of country, of duty, of law and order, and they will shrug
their shoulders at these words, which have no meaning to them.” Most
alarming was the prospect that modern society would simply be over-
whelmed by the “unattached proletarian elements” it had bred.!

Most observers, of course, associated syndicalism with the Industrial
Workers of the World, and the huge strikes of textile workers at Law-
rence and Paterson in 1912-13. By the summer of 1913, however, the
IWW appeared to many observers in the labor movement to be on the
verge of disintegration. Wobbly leaders like Frank Donovan and Eliza-
beth Gurley Flynn decried the reliance of the IWW on spontaneity, and
the accompanying lack of emphasis on building stable organizations.?
However, the American Federation of Labor, which had criticized the
IWW strikes in Lawrence and Patterson as “anarchistic,” showed no
more promise than the IWW in addressing the problem of how to organ-
ize unskilled, immigrant workers in the face of the massive opposition of
employers. At the level of semantics, the IWW eschewed the syndicalist
label, socialists debated the exact meaning of the word, and, by 1915,
there were indications that “syndicalism” had been “defeated” in the
arena of public discourse as well. By 19135, the debate and alarm over
syndicalism had largely subsided in the American press.3

In the period before the outbreak of World War I, only one American
organization was bold enough to identify itself specifically as “syndical-
ist,” and that was William Foster’s Syndicalist League of North America.
As early as November 1910, in the first issue of The Agitator, Jay Fox had
called for the establishment of “agitator groups” that would spread prop-
aganda for industrial unionism among organized workers. After Foster
and Fox met at Home Colony, they went to work to realize their common
plans. “I was impressed by him as by few other labor agitators I have
met,” Fox wrote of Foster. “I was struck by his great determination to
carry out [his plans]. He was devoid of that riotous egotism I had found
so common in propagandists. I took to the chap right away and was
ready to go along with the program.” Foster’s relentless efforts in the
next few years justified his friend’s assessment. As Fox intimated, he was
a restless but extremely dedicated personality, an individual endowed
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with extraordinary willpower. In this respect he personified a favorite
syndicalist slogan: “Vouloir, c’est pouvoir.”

During the Western tour that first brought him to Home Colony in the
winter of 1912, Foster was able to convince several groups of disaffected
Wobblies of the relevance of his ideas; these small nuclei eventually devel-
oped into the groups that would constitute the Syndicalist League of
North America. One such group, convinced of the impossibility of chang-
ing the IWW from within, quit the revolutionary union and joined AFL
locals. From the beginning, they saw themselves as part of an interna-
tional movement. Writing from Nelson, British Columbia, in April, J. W.
Johnstone reported to The Syndicalist, a British newspaper established by
Tom Mann and his Industrial Syndicalist Education League, that “we
have started a Syndicalist League here, and are making headway.”
Johnstone wrote that he had been a member of the ITWW for five years,
and had recently begun to realize that the aim of the IWW, “building up
an entire new Labour movement,” was impossible. The ITWW claimed
that the AFL couldn’t be made “revolutionary,” but, according to
Johnstone, “there are a great many of us, members of the I'WW, who not
only deny it, but have arguments so strong that the IWW Press refuses to
publish any of them.”$

After his hobo propaganda tour in February of 1912, Foster returned
to Chicago, but he did not establish a permanent residence there. He
found a promising job as a railway car inspector, and joined the AFL
local in his trade, but the following summer he spent three months as a
canvasman with a wagon tent show that wandered throughout the Mid-
west. Foster’s account of these experiences is revealing. He remembered
that the show “went over big” in corn belt towns in the Midwest, and
wondered how the small-town audiences could be so credulous when
some of the actors were obviously drunk. The “natives,” as he called
them, could remember the smaliest details about performances given by
the same tent show three or four years earlier. The people in the small
towns that the show visited were “starved for diversion.”® Having lived
most of his life in large urban environments, Foster had difficulty compre-
hending the lives that people in these rural communities led. As he trav-
eled around the Midwest with a troupe of actors and charlatans, he wrote
a pamphlet that revealed his understanding of the traditional narratives
of American politics as illusion and farce. His was a radicalism that was
profoundly antinostalgic. He had little use for or interest in the kind of
theatre and traditional emotive symbolism that characterized the populist
socialism that was then sweeping parts of the West and Midwest.

The forty-seven-page pampbhlet, Syndicalism, bore the names of Wil-
liam Foster and Earl Ford. According to Foster, Ford’s role in the produc-
tion of the booklet was mostly to supply the funds to enable its publica-
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tion. Despite the obscure origins of the booklet, it gained a certain
amount of attention. The conclusion of an alarmed reviewer for the Inde-
pendent was that the implications of this “lurid red pamphlet” could be
ignored only at the nation’s peril. Citizens must face the fact that there is
“a faction in federated labor that is trying with an eager passion, which
would be religious if it were not so demoniac, to capture all federated
labor and all socialism to the methods of merciless violence, murder and
ruin.” A perusal of Syndicalism revealed that its authors advocated noth-
ing less than a “reign of terror,” and government by an “aristocracy of
assassins.” A somewhat less frightening assessment appeared in the Jour-
nal of Political Economy, and the pamphlet provoked serious analyses by
William English Walling and Louis Fraina in separate articles in the Inter-
national Socialist Review.”

Syndicalism is a detailed attempt to explain an idea about revolution-
ary tactics that many American radicals had themselves dismissed as es-
sentially inapplicable to American conditions. The booklet reiterated
many of the positions that Foster had articulated in his previous writings.
The importance of the general strike, the uses of sabotage, the hopeless-
ness of Socialist electoral politics, and the necessity of building a class-
based revolutionary labor movement from within existing trade unions
are all familiar elements of Foster’s thinking as it had developed by 1912.
Certain features of the pamphlet, however, are noteworthy because they
show Foster’s politics at their most radical. Relatively early in his analy-
sis, he repudiated outright the notion that modern revolutionists must
look to an American republican tradition for their vocabulary. The syndi-
calist, according to Foster, has “learned that the so-called legal and inal-
ienable ‘rights’ of man are but pretenses with which to deceive working-
men.” Capitalists can only understand “naked power,” and this the
syndicalist must accumulate through the careful choice of weapons, with-
out consideration of traditional issues of what might be “fair,” “just,” or
even “civilized.” He must not allow legality, religion, patriotism, honor,
or duty to “stand in the way of his adoption of effective tactics.”®

Foster’s polemic calls openly for industrial warfare, unmitigated by
reciprocal obligations of any kind with “capitalists.” “Every forward
pace humanity has taken has been gained at the cost of untold suffering
and loss of life, and the accomplishment of the revolution will probably
be no exception,” he observed. Moreover, the prospect of bloodshed dur-
ing a general strike does not frighten the syndicalist, for he is “too much
accustomed to risking himself in the murderous industries and on the
hellish battlefields in the niggardly service of his masters, to set much
value on his [own] life.” Indeed, in the context of the most threatening
situation for a syndicalist, scabbery, murder is justifiable. Despite his later
denials that his rhetoric implied that it was appropriate to take the life of
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a strikebreaker, the sense of Foster’s writing is unmistakable. In France,
he noted, strikebreakers are becoming “pleasingly scarce and expensive,”
for they are “literally” hunted by militants “as they would wild animals.”
In such a situation, a scab “becomes so much vermin, to be ruthlessly
exterminated.” In the pages of Syndicalism, Foster’s rage is only partly
subsumed by his attempt to couch his polemic in the style of “scientific”
certainty. For Foster, syndicalism was “the science of working-class di-
rect action,”’

Syndicalism showed that in the course of his geographical and intellec-
tual wanderings, Foster had managed to immerse himself in the writings
of Michael Bakunin, who was widely admired by American anarchists.
His portrait was prominently displayed in the main hall at Home Colony,
and his voice echoed in Foster’s writings of this period. Thus Bakunin had
written that the revolutionist “despises and hates present day social mo-
rality in all its forms. He regards everything that favors the triumph of the
revolution. . . . All soft and enervating feelings of friendship, love, grati-
tude, even honor must be stifled in him by a cold passion for the revolu-
tionary cause. . . . day and night he must have one aim—merciless de-
struction.” In addition, “every forward step in history has been achieved
only after it has been baptized in blood.” The true militant was to “re-
nounce all egoistic and vain interests of patriotism.” For Bakunin, as for
Foster, the proletariat lacked two things: organization and science.!”

What is perhaps most striking about Syndicalism is Foster’s conception
of the postrevolutionary society. He thought that given the spread of in-
dustrial warfare in Europe and the United States, it was important to
address such issues as soon as possible. While he discussed his ideas in
this respect more fully in a later article for The Toiler, a newspaper pub-
lished by a group of syndicalists in Kansas City, his understanding of the
future society was apparently developed while traveling with the tent
show in the summer of 1912. According to Foster’s theory, after a violent
general strike overthrew the established order, there would of course be
no state mechanism, but the future society would be far from anarchic.
Traditional syndicalist theories proposed that unions would assume con-
trol of their particular industries; Foster had no faith in this conception.
He argued that the unions’ “democratic character” rendered them inca-
pable of exercising control over production. Instead, he proposed a gov-
ernment based on what he called “shop organizations.” While these
would include “every worker” in a particular industry, they would be
governed by experts or foremen who would guide production and intro-
duce new technologies according to “scientific” principles.

Here, Foster took the momentous step of extending the syndicalist dis-
dain for democratic politics to the workplace. He would retain “monopo-
lized” industries, which he conceived as the “autonomous” structures of
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the future shop organizations. He imagined that under these organiza-
tions production and distribution would be “automatic,” merely a pro-
cess of filling orders as efficiently as possible. In this sense, “chance and
arbitrary industrial dictatorship” would be eliminated; the “whole indus-
trial process,” after all, is “becoming a matter of obeying facts and fig-
ures.” Thus, industrial life would be hyperorganized and instantly cali-
brated according to supply and demand; plants would be opened or
closed automatically in response to consumer wants. In the plants them-
selves, the workers of the shop organizations would choose their own
superintendents and foremen “by examination,” but Foster strongly im-
plied that in the future society expertise would everywhere take prece-
dence over majority preference. There would be no place for politics in
“the adoption of far-reaching measures, such as the creation of new in-
dustries, reorganizing old ones, adoption of new industrial process, etc.,”
regardless of their social impact. For instance, the introduction of a
cheaper, more efficient productive process in the steel industry would be
settled simply by “figures” determining whether it would pay interest on
the cost of its installation. There is no mention of traditional craft prerog-
atives or the problem of unemployment. Lurking in his conception is the
idea that the mass of workers are simply interchangeable.!!

Confident that in the future society they would have no interest “to
bilk their fellow beings, as they now have,” Foster would endow “thor-
oughly organized specialists” with the power to make social law. In the
shop organizations, such specialists would be chosen “on the score of
their fitness,” rather than “on the score of their ability to secure the sup-
port of an ignorant majority, through their oratorical powers, good
looks, influence, or what not, as is the ordinary democratic procedure.”
During a period when workers across the nation were striking against the
introduction of Taylorism and scientific management techniques in in-
dustry, he betrayed little sense of the possible uses of “science” as ideol-
ogy. As workers’ knowledge of the process of production in industry was
being continually constricted and fragmented, Foster proposed that
workers could have authority only if they were “specialists.”!?

Foster claimed to have derived his theory of the “producing organiza-
tions” of the future society from J. A. (“Jack™) Jones, Elizabeth Gurley
Flynn’s first husband, a drifting labor agitator and former Wobbly with
a reputation as a dynamiter, whom he may have met in Chicago. With his
mangled hands (supposedly the result of his bomb-making efforts), long
hair, and wild clothing, Jones was a remarkable figure in Chicago radical
circles.!?

Whether from Jones or elsewhere, Foster’s ideas certainly had antece-
dents in American radical and socialist thought, as well as in the writings
of European anarchists like Bakunin and Peter Kropotkin. Bakunin wrote



62 CHAPTER 3

of postrevolutionary “free productive associations,” organized on the
basis of “special knowledge” and expertise, which would manage pro-
duction according to statistics. Kropotkin wrote in his God and the State
that “In the matter of boots, I defer to the authority of the bootmaker;
concerning houses, canals or railroads, [ consult the engineer.” Kro-
potkin envisioned quasi-authoritarian “producers’ associations” that
would carefully measure individual performance and supervise the distri-
bution of goods and services in the new society.!* Such ideas had proved
easily adaptable to more modern American conceptions. Foster’s idea of
an authoritarian, “automatic” producing organization is reminiscent of
Edward Bellamy’s industrial army, as outlined in the earliest versions of
Looking Backward, for instance,® and similar themes surfaced in the
philippics of Daniel DeLeon.

As a relentless modernizer concerned to update anarchist theory, Fos-
ter was clearly outside the tradition of criticism of the alienating effects of
industrial process, standardization, and consumerism, to be found in the
works of such writers as John Ruskin, William Morris, and even Kro-
potkin. During the period when Foster was writing, intellectuals of di-
verse political persnasions sought to adapt the form of “modern” indus-
trial organization to their particular conceptions of utopia. After all, once
abstracted from self-interest and profit, the social relationships within
large-scale corporate enterprises “looked a great deal more promising
than the traditional social divisions and organizations that then divided
and dominated the United States,” as one historian has put it. Also, Fos-
ter probably understood his proposals as an antiutopian counterposition
to that of the IWW, wherein a mass-based “one big union™ would some-
how govern industries democratically.!6

It is striking that Syndicalism is composed of violent revolutionary
rhetoric, mixed with insights that are essentially managerial in nature.
Foster portrayed his theory of syndicalism as essentially detached from
considerations of politics or ideology. The problem of tactics is addressed
by reference to the theory of the “militant minority.” In every group,
Foster noted “there are to be found a certain few individuals who exercise
a great influence over the thoughts and actions of the rest of the mass of
individuals composing the group. They are the directing forces of these
groups—the sluggish mass simply following their lead.” Foster held out
the prospect that through sheer strength of personality, dedicated revolu-
tionaries could succeed in driving history. For him it was a fundamental
principle that workers themselves were blinded by their own “political,
moral, religious, patriotic, craft and other illusions”; the “masses” con-
sisted not of an active citizenry, but of malleable consumers of capitalist
propaganda. At a time when workers were increasingly confronting a
separation of conception from execution in the workplace, Foster was
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valorizing a similar kind of alienation in the realm of radical unionism.
Not only do syndicalists possess superior acumen and “scientific” exper-
tise, their understanding has been perfected through a kind of social Dar-
winism; syndicalism as a doctrine is “a product of natural selection.”!”

Thus, Foster’s Syndicalism combined the rhetoric of nineteenth-cen-
tury anarchism with elements of managerial ideology, all in the service of
“workers’ control.” His vision of a reconstituted workers’ community or
“future society” in which order was the predominant value perhaps arose
from his experiences in Philadelphia; Foster’s distrust of the ability of
workers to organize themselves remained a strong theme in his writing,
even after the Spokane free speech fight. At the same time, years before
the Russian Revolution, his writings foreshadowed Lenin’s enthusiasm
for the accomplishments of American scientific management. Writing in
1937, Foster proposed that there were certain parallels between his the-
ory of the producing organizations and the nature of Soviet government.
He wrote that in the Soviet Union, industries were directed by “economic
bodies under the direction of the state . . . somewhat akin to our Produc-
ing Organizations, while the trade unions . . . play only an auxiliary role
in production.” However, in an ominous and revealing passage, Foster
noted that his earlier theory had proven inapplicable to Soviet experience.
According to his conception in Syndicalism, the entire economic organi-
zation of capitalist society, presumably including its managers and intelli-
gentsia, would be carried over into the new society. In the Soviet Union,
such an apparatus had to be “rebuilt” through the “creation of a new
technical personnel.” Significantly, Foster conceived of the “producers”
in the new society not as individual, autonomous citizens, but rather as
“organizations” in which there was little collective control.!®

Ironically, Foster’s pamphlet contained certain themes that expressed
the dynamism and some of the contradictions of the developing “new
unionism” of the 1910s. Largely based on renewed militancy within older
AFL affiliates, the new unionism aimed at the recruitment of unorganized
workers, the development of proto-industrial methods of craft-union
amalgamation, and a general rejection of labor “Progressivism” and
labor-management cooperation. Syndicalism attacked piecework and ad-
vocated slowdowns and sabotage despite Foster’s apparent fascination
with modern managerialism.!” His ideal union was one that maintained
local autonomy in order to eliminate the power of bureaucrats and offi-
cials and guarantee the power of the rank and file. Foster’s interpretation
was that craft autonomy would lead to working-class solidarity, not frus-
trate it; it was the officialdom, through their interference and opportun-
ism, that perpetuated the lack of coordination between crafts. At the same
time, the ideal union would be composed of all the workers, skilled and
unskilled, in a particular industry.



64 CHAPTER 3

While Syndicalism concluded with the assurance that the Syndicalist
League of North America was a “possibilist organization with a practical
program,” the overall approach of the pamphlet must have seemed for-
eign to many of its readers. Foster accepted the necessity of violence and
bloodshed in the course of revolutionary struggle, and bitterly denounced
patriotism and democracy. His polemic was filled with references to the
ideas of French, German, and English socialists and syndicalists. He ad-
vocated neo-Malthusianism, or strict birth control, since the syndicalist
“knows that children are a detriment to him in his daily struggles.” At the
same time, Foster averred that a syndicalist accepted the anarchist posi-
tion on marriage.?® His vision of the postrevolutionary society contained
intimations of Taylorism, a doctrine that undoubtedly held little appeal
for most workingmen. What Foster was promising in Syndicalism was
violent class war that would culminate in the establishment of a society in
which traditional conceptions of family, law, work, and nation had little
or no meaning.

Syndicalism was strongly flavored by the radical positivism and teleol-
ogy that were characteristic of the writings of Hermon Titus and Jay Fox.
These themes would resurface continually in Foster’s own writings as a
Communist, and they underlay the mechanistic quality of some of his
later conceptions. However, the central problem of Foster’s pamphlet re-
volved around the contradiction between the need for autonomy and
spontaneity among workers making their demands felt through direct ac-
tion, and the feeling that “democracy” had somehow become inappropri-
ate as a way of securing revolutionary change. This contradiction is
implied in the theory of the “militant minority”; in Foster’s conception,
unorganized workers can be readily provoked into large strikes by a small
cadre of highly discipiined radicals. Yet, “great strikes break out sponta-
neously and, also . . . spontaneously produce the organization so essen-
tial to their success.” Foster the anarcho-syndicalist affirmed that syndi-
calists must be “anti-authoritarians, their national labor unions being
decentralized and their local unions possessed of complete autonomy.”
Foster the future Leninist proclaimed the necessity of a militant “van-
guard” cadre that would inevitably lead workers’ struggles. While he
claimed that what was needed in the American labor movement was “not
less autonomy, but more of it,” workers must be organized into unions
that included “all skilled and unskilled workers directly connected with a
given craft or industry.” Foster’s tangled arguments about the nature of
the worker, as well as his attempt to reconcile the voluntarism of the
anarchists with the efficiencies of corporate forms of organization, were
the most important features of his thinking as a syndicalist. His ideas
reflected an acute tension between an older, craft-based radical impulse
and the organizational ethos of the Progressive era.?!
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One salient feature of Syndicalism that was to prove so threatening and
alarming, not only for several reviewers in 1912 but for a wider public
during the 1919 steel strike as well, was the rhetoric of class war that
served as the background for much of Foster’s analysis. A tone of bitter-
ness and anger was present in some of his writing for the IWW press while
he was in Europe, but it is in Syndicalism that one can most readily sense
Foster’s rage. It is a rage against capitalists, “utopians” in the IWW, and
the “horde of doctors, lawyers, preachers and other non-working class
elements” that “infested” the Socialist party. The revolutionary must be
prepared for violence, bloodshed, and destruction during the course of
his struggles, and he must take “no cognizance” of “Society.” Foster’s
vision is a kind of twentieth-century Hobbesianism in which social trans-
actions consist of maximally organized, yet unmediated, violence against
the working class in the form of the wages system. As a result, the syndi-
calist must be as

“unscrupulous” in his choice of weapons to fight his everyday battles as for
his final struggle with capitalism. . . .

The only sentiment he knows is loyalty to the interests of the working
class. He is in utter revolt against capitalism in all its phases. His lawless
course often lands him in jail, but he is so fired by revolutionary enthusiasm
that jails, or even death, have no terrors for him. He glories in martyrdom,
consoling himself with the knowledge that he is a terror to his enemies, and
that his movement, today sending chills along the spine of international cap-
italism, tomorrow will put an end to this monstrosity.

Syndicalism is nothing less than “daily warfare” against capitalism,
since capitalism has “organized the whole fabric of society” in its at-
tempts to maintain the working class in “slavery.” No other American
radical of his generation would embrace the metaphors of warfare as
completely as did Foster. The central images of Foster’s Syndicalism re-
volve around the idea of the destruction of subjectivity; workers are
“slaves,” without essential motives or inalienable rights, and capitalism
itself is so highly organized and insidious that for the syndicalist, mere
survival is a tenuous proposition. The capitalist class is not a remote or
abstract entity, but rather the worker’s “mortal enemy” which must be
overthrown for him merely to “live.”?? Foster’s vision of society and rev-
olutionary struggle is a bleak one, in which a syndicalist must be utterly
unattached to family, country, or society in order to survive.

By 1912, at age thirty-one, Foster’s personality must be considered to
have been more or less fully formed. By all accounts, he was a quiet man,
but possessed of a quick temper and a willingness to engage in bitter
argument with those who disagreed with him. He was uncomfortable
speaking before large audiences, yet during one speech before a group of
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workers in the 1920s he leapt from the podium and physically assaulted
a heckler. His lifestyle was ascetic in the extreme. Throughout his life he
accumulated few personal possessions, and he sought, quite successfully,
to live without concern for property or even personal financial security.
At least in his later years, Foster never purchased clothes for himself, and
habitually gave away whatever cash he possessed, much to the chagrin of
his immediate family. Despite the fact that he claimed to have married
Esther Abramowitz in 1912, he does not mention that she accompanied
him on his numerous hobo trips or agitation tours in the 1910s. His con-
tacts with his sisters, who settled into conventional lives on the West
Coast, were “rare,” and he never mentions the fate of his older brother.
The man who came to play such a significant role in the American Com-
munist party was essentially a loner. He was not a particularly gregarious
man, and had few close personal friends outside of his immediate family
circle,®

During the 1919 steel strike, a reporter for the New York Tribune
described the alienation and anger that lay at the center of Foster’s per-
sonality. “Soft-spoken though he is, it is not difficult to perceive a certain
hard bitterness underneath. An almost academic vocabulary is occasion-
ally made picturesque by a selection of hot expletives spoken coolly. It is
then that you see the bitterness.” In 1912, Foster’s bitterness was plainly
evident in the pages of Syndicalism. His personality was undoubtedly
complex, and perhaps so evasive that the exact sources of his alienation
will remain obscure. However, a number of vignettes from Pages from a
Worker’s Life help to put Foster’s rage in context. The New York Trib-
une reporter who observed him closely in 1919 sensed that Foster’s per-
sona was partly attributable to the rough work and “unticketed” experi-
ences of a railroad carman. Foster, he noted, was undoubtedly quite well
acquainted with the world of “break beams and bumpers,” and his ap-
pearance easily approximated that of an off-duty railway worker.2* The
reporter’s observations provide a conceptual link between Foster’s occu-
pation as a railroad worker in the 1910s and his personality; this connec-
tion can be explored through reference to Pages from a Worker’s Life as
well. A variety of incidents in which Foster was a participant or witness
serve to elaborate Foster’s self-conception as a revolutionary syndicalist,
and confirm certain themes contained in his pamphlet Syndicalism.

As an autobiography, Pages from a Worker’s Life is a valuable account
of Foster’s life, yet many of the incidents that the book records are simply
unverifiable; they often occur in isolation, without a social or organiza-
tional context of any permanence. The individuals, places, and work situ-
ations in Foster’s stories are themselves presented as prosaic and ephem-
eral. As an author or observer Foster is socially decentered, even though
the work milieu which he observed and recorded is itself part of a specific
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historical reality. The “syndicalist” must be, as Foster noted in his pam-
phlet, “anti-Society.”

Although Foster rejected much of American society, its structures of
belongingness and hence its means of verifying experiences, his employ-
ment as a railway laborer engaged him quite deeply in the nation’s work
culture. From 1901 to 1919, he worked and lived in many different ca-
pacities on American railroads, the network of transportation that helped
the nation define itself as a coherent commercial and political entity. For
the men who were employed on the railroad, however, work among the
cars, engines, and machinery could be dangerous and violent. Foster had
ample opportunity to witness this kind of violence; during his years as a
railroad worker, he found employment as a fireman, second cook on a
grading crew, airbrake repairman, interchange car inspector, car carpen-
ter, and brakeman, mostly in Chicago’s switching district. Between peri-
odic hobo trips to the West, and an interregnum as an organizer of timber
workers in Washington state, Foster worked in Chicago railway yards
from 1911, the year of his return from Europe, until 1917, when he be-
came a full-time organizer for the American Federation of Labor. During
this period, he witnessed workers being crushed, decapitated, and crip-
pled as they worked among the heavy machinery in the car shops. Foster’s
descriptions of these accidents are simple and unemotional; in one inci-
dent, a worker’s body was “crushed flat, almost cut in two, between the
car sills and the wheel, and he died instantly without uttering a sound.”
In another case, as a result of a braking error, both trucks of one railroad
car passed over a worker. “His head was cut off completely.”?

The subject of these stories is the danger of railway work, and the greed
of employers. Foster’s accounts of his years after he returned from Europe
and attempted to organize a syndicalist movement in the United States are
permeated with a sense of utter insecurity. The recurring themes of Fos-
ter’s descriptions of his experiences working on different railway lines
and hoboing across the country are transience, invisibility, and the oblit-
eration of lives in obscure and meaningless circumstances. These themes
are especially evident in his accounts of his “unticketed” experiences on
the railways. Far from romanticizing the hobo lifestyle, Foster empha-
sizes its utterly ephemeral and violent nature. As a brakeman and car
inspector, Foster was familiar with trains and knew how to ride inside the
trucks, or wheel structures under passenger cars. He described the dan-
gers involved in cramming into the complex wheel mechanisms of the
trains and riding inches above the tracks in high-speed passenger trains.
It is a striking evocation of the possibilities of violence and personal de-
struction that are implied when a hobo attempts to adopt modern ma-
chinery and technology to his own purposes. Foster noted that one wrong
calculation as he was riding the “trucks” could cause him to be “instanta-
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neously cut to pieces, as hundreds of hoboes had been before me.”?¢ Fos-
ter’s narrative reflects a kind of fatalism about the ubiquity of technologi-
cal power in modern society melded with an intensely felt resistance to
capitalist exploitation.

In other instances, the theme of obliteration recurs. Many hobos, mis-
calculating their leaps as they sought to board moving trains, had “been
picked up along the right-of-way, a bloody, mangled mass,” Foster re-
counted. In a small town in Idaho, he witnessed the aftermath of an inci-
dent in which a shifting load of lumber had crushed a hobo in a railway
car; “his bones were crushed like pipe-stems and his flesh was smeared
against the shattered car end. . . . they gathered up what they could of the
shapeless mass and put it into a wheelbarrow.” While riding on top of a
car in Maryland, Foster saw a fellow tramp killed instantly when the train
passed under a low wagon-road bridge. Once, while hanging precari-
ously between two cars, Foster narrowly escaped being “thrown beneath
the wheels and ground to pieces.” Another time, he and several other
hobos saw a hobo attempt to board a train only to be dragged under the
wheels and cut to pieces: “it happened so suddenly that he never even
screamed.” A special fear of hobos, Foster remembered, was being locked
in a car and left at an isolated siding to starve to death. “Many’s the time
trainmen and car inspectors have opened foul-smelling box-cars and dis-
covered dead hoboes, starved to death.”?’

The literal truth of these stories is not so important as their thematic
structure. At the heart of the syndicalist ideal lay the concept of the class
war, but there is never any sense of the possibility of “return” in Foster’s
vignettes; no Edenic community or vitalizing participatory life exists at
this point in his autobiography. The overwhelming sense is of incipient
invisibility and obliteration. Indeed, those chapters of Pages From a
Worker’s Life that describe his life in the years after his return from Eu-
rope seem to affirm his implied self-description in Syndicalism. It is a
convincing portrait of brutality, alienation, resistance, and survival.

After the production of Syndicalism in the summer of 1912, Foster
returned to Chicago and found a job as a railway car inspector. He
worked diligently to bring some semblance of organizational coherence
to his embryonic syndicalist league.?® By October, Fox had decided to
leave Home Colony and devote his energies to the development of Fos-
ter’s tiny syndicalist movement in Chicago. From Home, he wrote to Jo-
seph Labadie that “This berg is becoming too small for the A[gitator]. It’s
outgrown the state. We want to take the center of the industrial stage. The
syndicalists want me to go there and make the paper the central organ of
the movement. And this movement is going to grow, Jo. It’s better than
our pure and simple anarchy at this stage.”?’ Thus, Foster and Fox hoped
to adapt their peculiar brand of anarcho-syndicalism to the task of organ-
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izing a mass revolutionary movement in Chicago, a huge and diverse me-
tropolis. Each man prided himself on his “realism”; Foster always took
care to present himself as an anti-utopian, and Fox had left Home Colony
and moved to Chicago so that syndicalism might “take the center of the
industrial stage.” In line with these sentiments, both men sought to bring
about the revolution by helping to speed the evolution of “higher” forms
of working-class organization. In November 1912, the last issue of Fox’s
The Agitator appeared. By January 1913, Fox had renamed his paper The
Syndicalist, though legal entanglements kept him in Washington until
early spring.*®

Foster and Fox operated the Syndicalist League out of the rooming
house operated by Lucy Parsons at 1000 South Paulina Street, in a heavily
Slavic community in Chicago’s Near West Side. The league attempted to
collect dues of five cents per month from its members and forbade, on
pain of dismissal, the use of official titles or funds in support of any polit-
ical party.’! On Sundays, the two men read together and carried on the
correspondence necessary to keep the league functioning. It was a sign of
the increasing influence of syndicalism among radicals that after Foster
and Fox arrived in Chicago, Parsons, the widow of the famous anarchist
and “Haymarket martyr” Albert Parsons, increasingly embraced syndi-
calism as the focus of her political activities. She added Syndicalism to her
literature list, contributed to The Syndicalist, and changed the title of her
standard speech from “Anarchism: Its Aims and Objects” to “Syndical-
ism: Its Aims and Objects.”3?

The new organ of Foster’s league, The Syndicalist, advocated indus-
trial sabotage. It carried a column entitled “Society Notes,” in which its
author, J. A. Jones, provided readers with insights such as “A few drops
of sulphuric acid placed on top of a pile of woolen or cotton goods never
stops going down,” or, “Engine cylinders are expensive articles. A
clogged lubricator means a cut cylinder. Dirt in the oil can mean a clogged
lubricator.” Other “hints” were more ominous. One proposed that ar-
sonists might employ sausage skins strung on wire and filled with gaso-
line to accomplish their aims; another noted that “New York’s gangsters
are using Maxim silencers to silence their opponents.”3? While Foster
later claimed that as a syndicalist, he had accepted the “revolutionary
economics, class struggle and historical materialism of Marx,” the
“Worker’s University,” a list of books for sale through The Syndicalist,
did not contain a single work by Marx. Rather, books by Proudhon,
Emma Goldman, Tolstoy, Nietzsche, Kropotkin, and Pouget were recom-
mended as those that would ideally fill the shelves of the informed syndi-
calist. In Syndicalism, Foster made a point of recommending Kropotkin’s
The Conquest of Bread, the classic text of “communitarian” anarchists.>*
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The Syndicalist League of North America developed into a small but
widely noticed propaganda society for radical trade unionists. Foster
later recalled regretfully that because of his belief in decentralization, the
national league was incapable of developing into a very unified organiza-
tion. At the local level, groups were organized in Kansas City, St. Louis,
San Diego, and Omaha that were affiliated in a vague way with the
league. The various syndicalist groups that came into existence were
highly autonomous, Foster wrote, and “collected what funds they saw fit,
issued their own journals, and worked out their own policies.” He esti-
mated that the membership never exceeded two thousand, and was
mostly concentrated in Chicago.**

In that city, Foster’s league included a small group of militants, among
whom were Jones, Joseph Manley, and Samuel Hammersmark. Manley,
who would later marry Esther’s daughter Sylvia, was a bridge and struc-
tural iron worker. He was born in Dublin, Ireland, and told the labor
biographer Solon DeLeon in the 1920s that his father had been a physi-
cian and African explorer. He probably met Foster at Home Colony,
where he was an infrequent visitor; the two men would work together
closely in the Chicago Federation of Labor, the 1919 steel strike, and the
Communist party. Hammersmark was an anarchist who was also listed
as the publisher of Why?, a short-lived radical journal with Tacoma,
Washington, as its address. He became actively involved in the Chicago
Federation of Labor, but ended up managing the Communist party’s
bookstore in that city in his later years. Another anarchist who became
involved with the Syndicalist league was Foster’s future wife, Esther
Abramowitz. Esther’s relationship with the Chicago anarchists went back
much further than Foster’s. Besides having been Jay Fox’s lover, she was
associated with a milieu at the turn of the century that included Parsons,
Emma Goldman, Alexander Berkman, and Anton Johannsen. By the
1920s, Johannsen had become the chairman of the Organization Com-
mittee of the Chicago Federation of Labor.%¢ It was the Kansas City syndi-
calist group that developed into the strongest component of the national
league, and its activities give a fairly clear picture of the league’s ambi-
tions with regard to the labor movement. It had “practical control” of the
Cooks, Barbers, and Office Workers unions, and “virtually controlled”
the Kansas City Central Labor Council according to Foster. Moreover,
working under Max Dezettel, a former Wobbly, the group was instru-
mental in launching a strong Labor Forward Movement in the city. Em-
ploying aggressive, quasi-evangelical methods, Labor Forward activists
organized a number of trades in the city, including shoe repairers, retail
clerks, waitresses, laundry workers, bootblacks, telephone operators, and
packinghouse workers. The movement attracted the attention of Gom-
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pers, and was officially cited for its efforts at the AFL national convention
of 1914. The Kansas City radicals were able to publish a newspaper of
their own, The Toiler. The editorials were in line with SLNA theory, and
Foster contributed several articles during the paper’s run from October
1913 to January 1915. “Toiler Boosters,” including Foster, were selling
between eighty and one hundred subscriptions per month by early
1914.%7

A good indication of the league’s general philosophy was the central
illustration on the first page of the premier issue of The Toiler. It showed
a group of workers, tools in hand, gazing upon a rising sun. Inscribed
upon the sun were the initials “AFL.” Beneath the illustration was the
epigram: “The Hope of the Workers.” However, none of the local syndi-
calist leagues subscribed to the spirit of narrow reformism and wage-
consciousness typically associated with AFL-style unionism. “In America
today,” according to the organ of the St. Louis league, “we find the whole
country in a turmoil of strikes and lockouts. These strikes, undoubtedly,
are but the skirmishes preceding a series of great general strikes that will
make every institution of capitalism creak and tremble to their very foun-
dation.”38

It was the activities of the Kansas City syndicalist league that first
brought Foster into contact with a personality with whom he would have
a very long, complex, and difficult relationship, which in certain respects
would end up defining both men’s political careers: Earl Browder, future
general secretary of the American Communist party. Born in Wichita in
1891, Browder had joined the Socialist party at age sixteen, and left home
for Kansas City in 1912. By 1914, as an accountant for a subsidiary of
Standard Oil, he had become president of his office workers” union, and
a delegate to the Kansas City central labor body.

In the early 1910s, as a young socialist in Kansas City, Browder read
Friedrich Engel’s book Socialism, Utopian and Scientific. He wondered
whether the IWW constituted a form of “utopian” trade unionism as
Engels defined the term. “If there [was] one thing I didn’t want it was to
be a utopian,” he reflected much later. “I was trying to find some connec-
tion between the ideas about a better world and practical everyday life.”
In 1913, at a meeting in the city’s labor temple, Foster came down from
Chicago to speak before his union. At this first meeting, Browder came
away impressed by Foster’s practical program, and the fact that he had
had “outside experience, even in Europe.” Throughout the publishing
history of The Toiler, Browder is listed as one of the most successful of the
“Toiler Boosters,” and in February 1914, the newspaper contained a ref-
erence to him as secretary of the “Kansas City Syndicalist League.” While
Browder had evidently been impressed by Foster, he did not meet him
again until 1915.%
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The rhetoric of industrial warfare echoed in many Midwestern railheads
during one of the most bitter and prolonged strikes of the era, the revolt
of the shopworkers on the Illinois Central-Harriman lines from 1911 to
1915. Working as a railway carman in Chicago at the time, Foster was
closely acquainted with the logic and means of the strike, and the Syndi-
calist League participated in a campaign to defend L. M. Hawver, a leader
of the revolt who had killed a railroad policeman in self-defense. In cer-
tain respects the strike represented a paradigm for Foster’s conception of
syndicalist revolutionary activity. It was sparked by an attempt by the
officers of the Illinois Central to introduce time study and incentive pay
into the railroad car shops, but another issue was the right of the railroad
shop unions to federate and secure a joint contract. It began as a revolt by
rank-and-file craft unionists, and precipitated the development of a “sys-
tem federation” of allied craft unions that presented unified demands to
the employers. Many striking shopworkers explicitly rejected the leader-
ship of the recently elected Socialist officers of the International Associa-
tion of Machinists. Nonetheless, the strike had implications that the
management of the Illinois Central perceived to have been nothing less
than revolutionary. C. H. Markham, president of the Harriman line,
flatly declared that if the strike and the federation plan had been success-
ful, workers’ control of the entire railroad industry would have been the
result.*

It is important to recognize that the shop crafts unions, including the
railway carmen to which Foster belonged, possessed an outlook and
membership that was fundamentally different from that of the elite rail-
way brotherhoods whose heyday had been in the late nineteenth century.
The brotherhoods of engineers, firemen, trainmen, and conductors main-
tained a fairly stable membership, and it was not unusual for them to be
looked upon as assets by the railroad companies. Occasionally they
named their lodges after prominent railway officials. The shop unions,
however, had a far more transient membership since their work was not
so steady as that of the men handling the trains. They tended to be no-
mads or “boomers,” and often floated from “shop to shop and from road
to road.” As a result, they were commonly considered far more militant
than the brotherhoods had been. The shop unions proved much more
willing to experiment with new organizational forms as a way of ensuring
closer cooperation among the crafts.*!

The shopmen’s strike lasted until 1915, when it was finally broken. As
Foster noted, it turned into a rank-and-file struggle against both the rail-
road companies and the craft union officialdom. Among the reasons for
the defeat of the strike, according to Foster, was the fact that the craft
union leaders were mistrustful of federated action, which they saw as a
step in the direction of industrial unionism; the officials of the engine,
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train, and yard service unions kept their men at work. In the eyes of IWW
and Socialist writers at the time, this confirmed that the craft unions could
never transcend their voluntarist form. However, in Foster’s view, the
strike was not a complete failure. After the strike, the major railroad com-
panies “never forced another important strike over the right of federated
action by the railroad companies,” and even negotiated several agree-
ments with federated unions during the strike itself. During World War I,
as an organizer for the railway carmen in Chicago, Foster asserted that
the strike had aided his union’s negotiations with the railroad companies.
Carl Person, one of the leaders of the violent 1911 strike, wrote that
“there was no mistake made by going on strike, or the strike taking place,
for out of this strike the federated movement blossomed into importance
all over this country.” The experiments with the federated form of organ-
ization that the AFL sanctioned in the early 1910s provided much of the
conceptual framework for the wartime organizing campaigns that Foster
led in packing and steel.*?

In line with his previous views, Foster also stood on the radical side on
the issue of sabotage, which was a central source of controversy among
Socialists and labor unionists of the 1910s. No event illustrated this ten-
sion better than the events surrounding the bombing of the Los Angeles
Times building in 1910 by individuals connected with the Los Angeles
local of the Bridge and Structural Iron Union. Twenty workers in the
building were killed by the blasts. James B. McNamara and his brother,
J. A, the secretary treasurer of the union, were arrested and charged with
the crime. Many in the labor movement were at first convinced of the
McNamaras’ innocence, yet the brothers were eventually tried and con-
victed on the basis of their own confessions. The incident doomed the
candidacy of Job Harriman, a Socialist, for mayor of Los Angeles, and
this helped convince many politicians in the Socialist party that they had
to separate themselves from those radicals in the labor movement who
advocated sabotage.®3

In the angry debates that ensued, Foster was certainly among those
who defended the McNamaras; his friend Jay Fox may have played a role
in hiding fugitives in the case from the authorities. He wrote in the French
syndicalist journal, La Vie ouvriére that there was no reason for revolu-
tionaries in the labor movement to regret the use of violence against capi-
talists. Although there was no doubt that they participated in the bomb-
ing of the Times, according to Foster, the McNamaras were the kind of
radical AFL unionists whom he admired, just “good militant workers.”
The use of dynamite during the struggle of the Structural Iron workers
against the open shop in the Los Angeles area was entirely justified, he
felt. In the meantime, “constructive” Socialists fulminated that sabotage
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was ultimately counterproductive. The tactic was merely a cathartic re-
lease for the slum proletarian’s “blind class rage” according to one
spokesman.**

While coming under attack from Socialists for their views on sabotage,
Foster and other like-minded syndicalists promulgated a compelling ar-
gument about the tasks facing militants in the labor movement in the
1910s. In a decade when aggressive strike action was often based in the
existing craft unions, the IWW played a comparatively small role. Indeed,
as David Montgomery has pointed out, syndicalist tendencies among
American workers during the period “may have reached far beyond the
limited influence of the IWW.” For the majority of American workers, the
IWW simply proved unable to provide the kind of organizational conti-
nuity and protection that twentieth-century industrial labor seemed to
demand. “It became increasingly apparent that the immigrant machine
tenders wanted something more from their organization than oratory and
strike leadership.” Many AFL unions remained isolated and powerless as
well, but there was evidence, as Foster claimed, that the craft organiza-
tions were capable of “evolution.” When the famous English syndicalist
Tom Mann visited the United States in 1913, he appeared before meet-
ings organized by Foster and the Syndicalist league and asked of the
IWW, “if one looks to find definite, tangible, effective organization, to
what extent does it exist?”

Considered in the context of Foster’s life, it is easy to see why many
workers might seek the security and organizational coherence that the
AFL ideally offered. While the paradigmatic business enterprises of the
era were becoming ever more thoroughly rationalized and integrated,
workers like William Foster struggled in an economic environment which
to them seemed increasingly uncertain and chaotic.*> As a young man, Fos-
ter’s life was marked by a level of insecurity and transience that many his-
torians have equated with the traditional membership of the IWW, yet he
conscientiously sought, and attained, AFL membership wherever he went.

Foster’s life in Chicago during the years that he was attempting to estab-
lish his league of trade union radicals can be reconstructed only through
details gleaned from his own writings and testimony, some of which is
contradictory and unclear in its exact chronology. It is not certain, for
instance, whether or not Foster and Esther Abramowitz were living to-
gether before 1918. In testimony before an arbitration board in 1918,
Foster stated that he had no children at the time he worked in Swift’s car
shops in 1915.4¢ Esther, as previously noted, had three children in 1912.
She and William were married only in 1918, perhaps then only so that
Foster could avoid the draft. As an anarchist and “varietist,” Esther may
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have been unwilling to accept any formal living arrangement or relation-
ship with Foster until then, and of course Foster himself thought that
family and children were a handicap in the class struggle.*” In Lucy Par-
sons’s rooming house he had the opportunity for frequent interaction
with the group of anarchists and labor activists to whom Parsons was an
important symbolic link with the past as well as an adviser and friend.
This may have provided at least a semblance of a community life for
Foster. However, he must have been struck by the difficult conditions
under which many families in this particular Chicago neighborhood
lived. A study completed in 1910 was highly critical of the crowding and
inadequate sanitary conditions in rooming houses in the area where Fos-
ter lived on the near South Side, bordering on South Paulina Street. The
housing of families in single rooms was most appalling, according to a
survey completed in 1910. “Only the very poor, or those who are less
than ordinarily competent, will consent to live in this manner, and for
such there seem peculiar advantages in renting by the week a furnished
room which will make possible the most transient and irresponsible kind
of family life,” the author concluded.*® Regardless of the exact circum-
stances of his own boarding arrangements, Foster once again found him-
self in a community where the lives of its members were considered
wretched and incomprehensible by middle-class observers.

Between occasional organizing ventures, Foster worked as a railway
car inspector at the nearby Chicago and Northwestern railway yards,
often for twelve hours a day, seven days a week. Despite the long hours
and danger of such work, he finally began to achieve a measure of eco-
nomic stability and security. He earned between sixty-five and eighty dol-
lars a month; this was a comfortable wage for a working man, and was
the highest standard rate paid to railway mechanics in Chicago at the
time. A car inspector was among the most skilled of railway workers,
often having years of experience building and repairing cars. Working
under little direct supervision, his responsibility was primarily to deter-
mine the condition of cars at interchanges, and make light repairs when
necessary. Since many railroads carried cars from other companies, the
inspector had to make a careful record of the defects of cars taken on in
a switching yard. In addition, he was expected to be thoroughly familiar
with many different sets of rules and Interstate Commerce Commission
regulations, all of which were often changed. As a result, a car inspector
had to possess a prodigious memory and concern for detail. As Foster
himself wrote, the inspector “had to be familiar with the innumerable
parts of hundreds of types of wooden freight cars in use upon scores of
railroads. Besides, he had to know the equipment all these cars were sup-
posed to carry and he had to work so rapidly that he had to gauge at a
glance the condition of the cars.”*’
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In many ways, Foster’s occupation as a railway car inspector was
suited to his temperament and abilities. An indefatigable organizer who
could involve himself in the most complex details of his work, Foster was
at his best when he combined his knowledge of bureaucratic minutiae and
procedure with a certain inherent flexibility and adaptiveness. In his po-
litical life he often preferred to work alone, seeking personal leadership
and direction of distinctive working-class organizations,

The Syndicalist League of North America, or at least its organizational
center, broke up in early 1914. By November 1913, Fox had returned to
Washington state. It is unclear whether or not Foster accompanied him,
but Fox remembered that “after a year in Chicago promoting the new
adventure in Syndicalism we decided to lay off for a while. ... Later
when things looked brighter we would stage a comeback.” According to
Foster, in early 1914 “the [SLNA] crumbled away into disconnected
groups of militants working here and there in the trade union move-
ment.” The Syndicalist had lasted until September 1913, through only
nine months of publication. By January 1915, the newspapers that had
been associated with the Syndicalist League in San Diego, St. Louis, and
Kansas City had expired.*°

Also, while he was in Chicago, working as a car inspector, Foster de-
veloped severe difficulties with his vision. The job demanded excellent
eyesight, and its requirement for continual, rapid, and accurate visual
examination of the cars could result in severe eyestrain. In addition, as the
national secretary of the SLNA, Foster “devoted every available waking
moment to reading and to writing letters.” As a result of his eyestrain,
Foster’s eyes “gave out” and he had to quit his job on the Chicago and
Northwestern railroad. For some time, he wrote, he could not look upon
any kind of motion. These difficulties apparently persisted for some three
years until 1917, the year in which he finally stopped working as a rail-
way carman and involved himself in the campaign to organize Chicago
meatpacking workers.!

Much later, writing as a Communist, Foster reflected that the failure of
the Syndicalist League was “primarily due to its incorrect syndicalist pro-
gram.” This program, he concluded, was fatally flawed because of its
simplistic concentration on trade union struggles, abandonment of elec-
toral activity, and dependence on worker spontaneity. Yet, he pointed out
that these were symptoms of a broader malady: nearly all American radi-
cals at the time were affected by what he called the “syndicalist confu-
sion.” He ignored the concrete, historical factors that led him to reject the
Socialist party and the IWW in the 1910s. It is a strikingly self-negating,
ahistorical position.*>

While the Syndicalist League belonged to a specific historical context,
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the organization was also a profoundly personal creation. As such its
limitations encompassed, to a large extent, the limitations of its founder.
As an organization, the SLNA sought a national scope. It is difficult to
imagine that Foster, often working extremely long hours as a railway car
inspector, was capable of devoting enough time and energy to the task of
establishing such a national organization. At the same time, Foster’s per-
sonality and experiences influenced the substance of the SLNA’s message
in a way that may not have appealed to many of the AFL unionists whom
he sought to recruit. Later, after he had long since publicly renounced
syndicalism, Foster wrote that the SLNA’s “leftist direct attacks upon the
workers’ nationalistic feelings and their religion also needlessly alienated
the masses of workers afflicted with such illusions and made for sectari-
anism.”>3 Problematic as such rhetoric may have seemed to many of the
individuals who read Syndicalism or listened to his speeches, it was
grounded firmly in Foster’s own experiences as a worker and radical.

Foster’s retreat from Chicago came at a crucially important juncture in
his life. Faced with the failure of the Syndicalist League and unwilling or
unable to commit himself to his trade as a car inspector, he cast about for
a role in the organized labor movement. In his search, he once again ben-
efited from his relationship with Jay Fox. In 1914 Fox was appointed vice
president of the AFL-affiliated International Union of Shingle Weavers,
Sawmill Workers and Woodsmen, headquartered in Seattle, by a close
friend of his, J. G. Brown. At the time, the union of highly skilled shingle
weavers was attempting to establish a semi-industrial form for itself by
expanding its jurisdiction to loggers and sawmill workers; in the midst of
this campaign, Foster was appointed to his first full-time job as a labor
organizer. Soon he found himself working to bring about a statewide
strike, which had been planned by the union for May 1 if employers did
not grant the eight-hour day, overtime pay, a minimum wage, and safety
features in the mills. However, the employers began dismissing union
members wholesale, and because of a severe depression in the logging
industry the timber workers themselves seemed to have little confidence
that a strike could achieve their objectives. The union decided to pin its
hopes on an eight-hour day referendum being sponsored by the Socialist
party for the November elections. The referendum was defeated, and the
union disintegrated. Even though the reasons for its defeat were complex,
the lesson Foster drew from this campaign was simple: unions seeking to
“evolve” into more powerful forms had to avoid Socialist politics at all
costs.>*

Foster had occasion to witness another setback for AFL-style industrial
unionism in 1914. In that year, copper miners belonging to the powerful
Western Federation of Miners Local No. 1 in Butte revolted against the
administration of president Charles Moyer, and ended up demolishing
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the union’s office with dynamite. Moyer had autocratically suppressed or
defeated all attempts to challenge his authority, and the local itself was
commonly assumed to have become a mere subsidiary of the Anaconda
Copper Company. Dissidents sought to organize another union, and at
the height of the rebellion, Samuel Gompers wired all international un-
ions with affiliates in Butte to send representatives to assist Moyer in
fighting what he believed was IWW influence. J. G. Brown sent Foster to
Butte, and at a meeting of AFL officials in Helena at which Moyer was
present, Foster advised that the WFM authorize a new election of officials
in Butte. Moyer angrily rejected this proposal, but when Foster traveled
to Butte to meet with leaders of the new union and attempt to convince
them to rejoin the WFM, he was accused of being an agent of Moyer’s. At
the time, despite his status as AFL organizer, Foster wrote approvingly of
the militants’ grievances without endorsing their formation of a new
union. In any event, Moyer’s intransigence and the miners’ rebellion re-
sulted in a disastrous split from which the once-powerful WFM would
never entirely recover.>

When his appointment as organizer for the Shingle Weavers expired in
early 1915, Foster returned to Chicago. Unfortunately, he arrived in the
midst of a severe industrial downturn. He was able to find work as an
inspector in Swift’s refrigerator car shops in the stockyards district, but at
drastically reduced wages. He lived in a tiny flat, “a little box of a place,”
and felt that the longer he worked the less secure he became. He needed
glasses and dental work.>

Yet Foster retained his dogged belief in the Syndicalist project. Thus, in
January 1915, a few months after the outbreak of World War I, he organ-
ized a “syndicalist conference” in St. Louis, the purpose of which was to
establish another league of trade union militants. The new group was
called the International Trade Union Educational League, the nomencla-
ture being exactly parallel to that of Tom Mann’s organization in Great
Britain, the International Syndicalist Educational League. An executive
board was established, consisting of Foster as secretary, with Jack
Johnstone, Joseph Manley, Jack Carney, and Jay Fox, all future Commu-
nists, among the other individuals on the governing body. Max Dezettel,
who had been the editor of the old SLNA paper in Kansas City, The
Toiler, was delegated the task of establishing a national organ for the
ITUEL in Chicago, which was called Chicago Labor News. At first, the
conference endorsed the program contained in Foster’s SLNA pamphlet,
Syndicalism. However, because the opinions of many of the old Syndical-
ist league members had “undergone radical changes,” Foster was in-
structed to prepare a new statement of purpose. The new organization
planned to sell a series of pamphlets to be authored by Fox, Tom Mann,
and Pierre Monatte among others. The group was frank about its en-
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trepreneurial appeal: “You pay us 8c a copy and then re-sell them for
10c.” Members were instructed to “agitate for the six-hour day” and join
the American Federation of Labor.’”

In April 19135, Foster somehow secured an open-ended appointment as
a general organizer for the AFL. During a period of economic recession in
Chicago this appointment was undoubtedly welcome. However, it meant
that during at least part of the period he was working to establish the
ITUEL, supposedly part of a coalition of progressives in Chicago against
what he later called the “Gompers national machine,” he was on the AFL
payroll.>

Foster wrote a treatise entitled Trade Unionism: The Road to Freedom.
It was the “only formal statement of policy ever issued by the ITUEL.” In
this booklet, he apotheosized the function of American trade unions. Re-
gardless of whether they were organized along craft or industrial lines, or
whether or not there was any degree of class consciousness among their
members, the trade unions were by their “very nature driven on to the
revolutionary goal,” according to Foster. American trade unionism, he
wrote, “has transformed the workers, employed and unemployed, from
a mob of human commodities and articles of commerce into a disciplined
army of freemen fighting collectively against the common enemy for their
rights.” Foster looked explicitly to the example of the huge strikes in
Great Britain in 1910-11 as the inspiration for his new organization.
Here, the guiding principle was federation. Through an inevitable process
of craft union amalgamation, organized labor would eventually gain ab-
solute control of capitalist society. He noted that since the beginning of
World War 1, the British transport workers’, miners’, and railroaders’
federations had “combined themselves into one gigantic offensive and
defensive alliance,” the so-called Triple Alliance. Because unions always
made demands according to their strength, and inevitably increased these
demands as their strength grew, organized labor would eventually over-
throw the wages system. By making “immediate” and partial demands
for their members, craft unions were “as insatiable as the veriest so-called
revolutionary union.”*’

In his writings of this period, Foster tied together the themes of organi-
zation, power, and manhood. Among craft workers threatened by the
divisive forces of technological change in the early twentieth century, a
manly bearing on the job entailed maintaining a dignified pose toward
the boss or foreman, and required that workers respect shop-floor tradi-
tions of mutual respect and solidarity. Foster clearly sought to evoke such
traditions when he wrote that unorganized workers were neglecting their
duties to their families: workers outside the union constituted a “misera-
ble picture of incompetence and cowardice,” and “the sufferings of their
women and children awaken no echo of revolt in their dull hearts.” On
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the other hand, “trade unionism binds together the hosts of individually
helpless workers into one mighty organization.” He exhorted: “Be a
man! Join the Trade Union Movement and be a fighter in the glorious
cause of liberty!” Although the current administration in the Chicago
Federation of Labor owed a great deal of its power to the white-collar and
mostly female teachers’ union, Foster’s appeal was aimed explicitly at “all
workingmen.”¢°

At some point in early 1916 Foster was elected as business agent, or
organizer, for the Chicago District Council of the Railway Carmen. This
vote was the result of a referendum by thirteen locals, and marked Fos-
ter’s growing visibility within the Chicago Federation of Labor, the AFL’s
aggressive and self-confident central union affiliate in the city. Foster’s
election was remarkable, considering the fact that he had lived and
worked in Chicago, with frequent absences, only since September 1911.
From the beginnings of his participation in the more radical dimensions
of the American labor movement, Foster had proved able to gain a meas-
ure of personal notoriety. This was partly the result of his ability to sell
his pamphlets and “subs” to literate workingmen and unionists who were
curious about the latest trends among radicals in the labor movement at
home and abroad. In addition, Foster’s reputation as a virulent critic of
the wage system may have aided his rise—it was not unusual for AFL
unionists to put such men in office as a show of their independence from
the bosses.®!

At the same time, in Chicago, Foster probably gained some access to
the inner circles of that city’s labor movement through his relationship
with Fox, Parsons, and Esther Abramowitz. The connection between
these anarchists and the Chicago Federation of Labor was illustrated by
the early career of Anton Johannsen, whom Earl Browder later described
as the brains behind the CFL in the 1920s. Johannsen was an itinerant
labor activist who found his forte and voice as a leading troubleshooter
and specialist organizer for the powerful San Francisco Building Trades
Council in the years before World War I. In Chicago, he maintained a
friendship with Jay Fox, and had once helped him find work in the city.
Esther was a friend of Johannsen’s wife, Maggie. Johannsen told Hutch-
ins Hapgood that his relationship with the Chicago anarchists had helped
him make a favorable impression in national AFL circles. “I began to
meet the big fellows, men like John Mitchell and Sam Gompers, and 1
found that my acquaintance with radical ideas, slight as it then was,
helped me with these men, no matter how conservative they were—and
they always seem more conservative than they are in reality.” Johannsen
concluded that “there is no conception so close to trades-unionism as
anarchism,” but that a radical must not “advertise” his strong position in
the unions. Despite his pragmatism, it was difficult for Johannsen to
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maintain a low profile; he “at least knew” of the McNamara bombing
conspiracy before it had been carried out, and was indicted in 1912 by a
federal grand jury for crossing state lines to aid the structural iron work-
ers’ bombing campaign.5?

A few years earlier, in 1913, John Spargo had predicted that syndical-
ism would tend to “degenerate to the level of the most conservative labor
unionism.” In certain respects, this prediction was borne out by the ideol-
ogy and activities of the ITUEL. The logic of Foster’s position implied
that, since unions were moving automatically toward revolution, there
would be no point in fighting reactionary leaders, because these, too,
would be caught up in the inevitable process, The ITUEL even laid “far
less stress” than did the SLNA upon the importance of revolutionary con-
sciousness among workers. Because unions were revolutionary by their
very methodology and structure, there was no real reason to attempt to
convert workers to a particular point of view. In 1937, Foster wrote that
this theory was a “sag into right opportunism.” At one point in his new
pamphlet, he quoted Samuel Gompers on the beneficent effects of craft
unionism.®3

Foster gained the attention of the AFL president through their mutual
interest in organizing a Labor Day parade in Chicago in 1916. Despite the
great significance of May 1 for the Chicago labor movement and the pref-
erence of many radicals for observance of May Day, Gompers endorsed
the official Labor Day, thinking it generated favorable publicity for the
unions. He wrote to Foster acknowledging him as “an advocate and de-
fender of true trade unionism,” based on his reading of some of Foster’s
articles for the Timber Workers’ journal. It is unclear whether Gompers
remembered Foster’s angry challenge to the AFL at the Budapest conven-
tion in 1911, but now he wrote that Foster “might render a valuable
service to the toiling masses of our country to a [sic] clearer understand-
ing of their duty as workers and trade unionists than prevails in the minds
of many. Your past experiences and associations, together with your
mental development should certainly prove an advantageous lesson to
those who have not yet seen the true light of all that trade unionism
portends.”%*

The ITUEL came into being in the middle of the industrial crisis of
1914-135, before the boom brought on by war orders and the American
preparedness campaign. Although it was a period of rapidly rising living
costs and “spreading discontent among workers,” the AFL unions were
stagnant, the IWW had declined, and the Socialist party was still suffering
from its 1912 split. Thus the ITUEL, conceived as an organization that
could unify the relatively secure base of militants within the AFL unions,
must have seemed to Foster to have been a promising proposition. Earl
Browder, speaking in March 1945 after years of acrimonious factional
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debates with Foster, asserted that in the 1910s, the function of Foster’s
small syndicalist group was to find a “few intelligent men and women
here and there over the country who shared some common ideas about
progress, and who had some sort of practical approach of how to bring
it about and were not content with dreaming and ideals.”® Foster had
clearly traveled some ideological distance since 1910. Symbolically, when
his old mentor, Hermon Titus, showed up at one CFL meeting attempting
to convince workers to pledge to a general strike for the four-hour day on
May 1, 1925, delegates complained impatiently that he was needlessly
taking up their time.

For Foster, what was “practical” meant abandonment of active oppo-
sition to American participation in World War 1. In the first months of the
war he had inveighed bitterly against the conflict. In 1914 he submitted
an article to the official AFL newspaper, the American Federationist, in
which he excoriated the “patriotic attitude” of European Socialists, blam-
ing them for failing to prevent the developing conflict. He predicted that
the war would forever change the Socialist movement and predicted omi-
nously that rank-and-file workers “will abandon the Socialist program of
endless sentimental talk and will act.” However, in 1916, at an ITUEL
conference in Kansas City, Foster argued that the league should not take
sides in the European conflict, and that American involvement was inevi-
table. Unionists should not have any illusions that they could prevent it.
According to Foster, radicals within the unions should ignore the moral
issue of the war and focus their main attention on preparing to “take
advantage of war conditions to organize the workers and raise bigger and
bigger demands.” To cinch his argument, he recounted how he had re-
ceived a letter from Pierre Monatte, in which the French syndicalist leader
warned that radicals within the French labor movement had been severely
weakened by its extreme antiwar attitude prior to August 1914. Foster
won overwhelming support for his views from the conference. In 1919,
before a Senate committee investigating the steel strike, he even admitted
that he had sold Liberty Bonds at one point during the war. Although this
would later be used by his opponents in the Communist party to impugn
his revolutionary purity, militant trade unionists at the time evinced little
willingness to expose themselves to patriotic recriminations by opposing
the war.%¢

Max Dezettel, the editor of the league’s organ, the Labor News, drifted
away from the organization as he entered into alliances with corrupt un-
ionists against John Fitzpatrick, the president of the CFL. Later Foster
wrote darkly that he was finally killed in an accident in a “scab” taxicab.
However, Foster claimed that the ITUEL had members in Chicago locals
of the Painters, Railway Carmen, Carpenters, Machinists, Barbers, Retail
Clerks, Tailors, Ladies Garment Workers, Metal Polishers, and Iron
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Molders. The activities of the ITUEL generally revolved around attempts
by Foster, J. W. Johnstone, and several other delegates to the CFL to gain
the support of that organization for progressive causes. Foster himself
worked to establish a Chicago railroad council; his models were the
Chicago building council of craft unions, and the federated council of
railroad crafts that had just conducted the long and violent Illinois Cen-
tral-Harriman strike. On a theoretical plane, Foster’s activities were con-
sistent with Bakunin’s conception of the role of the “militant minority”:
here the aim was to “foster the self-organization of the masses into auton-
omous bodies, federated from the bottom upward.” Still, many workers
were suspicious of the federation idea, thinking that it merely allowed the
railroads to save the effort of negotiating with a number of different
crafts, and that it created another layer of jobs for union officialdom.
Nonetheless, in May of 1916 Foster was able to report to the CFL that his
committee of federated Chicago and Northwestern craft unionists had
won a large increase in wages. Following the conclusion of the Harriman
strike, he reported, “every railroad now concedes the federation system of
organization, the railroads falling in line and dealing with them as
such.”®’

One nonwage issue that aroused the indignation and anger of labor
movement activists in the late 1910s, was the imprisonment of the left-
wing socialist Tom Mooney in July 1916 for the bombing of a San Fran-
cisco preparedness-day parade. Defense committees sprang up all over
the nation. Most observers agreed that he was innocent of the crime; it
was not until 1939 that a governor’s pardon released him. For a genera-
tion of young radicals, the Mooney case was a “crisis of conscience.”
Many Socialists, and later Communists, could trace their active participa-
tion in the radical movement to their anger at the imprisonment of
Mooney.5®

Mooney had earlier belonged to the SNLA, and in 1913 Foster had
aided Mooney in his unsuccessful agitation to turn his union, the Iron
Molders, into a “militant industrial union.” Now, Foster and the ITUEL
were deeply involved in efforts to publicize the Mooney case and raise
funds for his defense. John Fitzpatrick gave Foster the job of organizing
a CFL mass meeting for the support of Mooney. An acquaintance of Fos-
ter’s who had known him through Home Colony remembered that his
efforts mobilized a large number of local anarchists and radicals. At the
subsequent mass meeting, Foster spoke, as did William D. Haywood, Al-
exander Berkman, and the famous Sinn Fein rebel Jim Larkin. In March,
another mass meeting was planned, this time organized by Foster’s friend
Jack Johnstone, and far more ambitious in scope, since it was to take
place in the Chicago Coliseum. The meeting was a great success; John
Fitzpatrick, president of the Chicago Federation, noted that the crowd,
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estimated to have been approximately seventeen thousand, was the larg-
est for such an event in the federation’s history.®’

The ITUEL as an organization did not last beyond the spring of 1917,
finally resolving itself into a small group of not more than one hundred
radicals working within the Chicago Federation of Labor. Yet, by 1917
Foster and his small group of radicals had attained a certain amount of
prominence and influence in the Chicago labor movement. Because of the
willingness of John Fitzpatrick to encourage or at least acquiesce in his
initiatives, a tremendous personal, political, and organizational opportu-
nity arose that Foster proved adept at exploiting. A combination of social
circumstances existed as well, which helped secure the acceptance and
relevance of many of Foster’s ideas. The complex development of the new
unionism of the 1910s would eventually culminate in 1919 with the
greatest wave of strikes in the nation’s history.

American participation in World War I and increasing federal inter-
vention in labor disputes were of overwhelming importance in establish-
ing the context of labor relations in which Foster would operate after
1916. At the same time, the increasing centralization of large firms and
corporations at the turn of the century created a crisis in labor manage-
ment. As production became more and more complex, many businesses
sought to establish rigid forms of hierarchical control that in turn inspired
effective challenges by their workers. Increasingly, “as a naked and
clearly visible system of power, hierarchical control revealed to the work-
ers the oppressive nature of capitalist relations.””® If government inter-
vention and the ideological issues attendant on the war helped to obfus-
cate, to a certain extent, the nature of productive relations at the time,
many workers were experiencing the exercise of capitalist power in its
most transparent forms.

In certain basic respects, William Foster’s temperament and outlook
did not fit with the emerging complexity of the American economy in the
immediate pre- and postwar periods. For him, the central feature of social
relations, both as experience and theory, was the “daily warfare” of
worker and capitalist on the battlefield of the wages system. This battle
was direct and unmediated, of explicitly violent implications, with noth-
ing less than personal survival depending upon the outcome. This is the
Foster of Syndicalism, the uncompromising radical possessed of a deep
and unrelenting rage against “Society.” Yet, by 1917, when he was thirty-
six years old, Foster had immersed himself in the activities of the progres-
sive Chicago Federation of Labor; the trade union movement became, for
him, the perfect expression of the possibility of working-class transcen-
dence. His work in the Chicago Federation of Labor required a certain
amount of circumspection and compromise, but it was a context in which
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his personal ambition could find expression. It may also have provided
him a kind of security and community that had been otherwise lacking in
his experience. Eventually, Foster’s radicalism would reassert itself and
cause him to sever his ties with the leaders of the Chicago Federation. In
the interim, though, he set out to fulfill what he now held to be the pri-
mary duty of syndicalists in the class war: organize.



Chapter 4

LABOR ORGANIZING IN “THE JUNGLE”

IN THE YEARS after 1916 William Foster dedicated himself to a future of
gradual trade union progress, which he thought would culminate in the
abolition of the wages system. Although Foster’s faith in the revolution-
ary potential of unionism was not borne out in his lifetime, it is difficult
to exaggerate the extent to which employers in the last years of the 1910s
perceived unions to be radically inimical to the very foundations of their
enterprises. In the industries where Foster was working as an organizer in
these years, meatpacking and steel, managers and owners were absolutely
steadfast in their refusal to recognize the collective bargaining organiza-
tions that their workers were seeking to establish. Because employers
were often unscrupulous and unyielding in their resistance to unioniza-
tion, the basic issue in these organizing campaigns became, for Foster, the
problem of power, and how workers, by themselves, might seize it. A few
years before the beginning of the 1917 campaign to organize Chicago’s
packinghouse workers, he had been a member of a union delegation seek-
ing to discuss a steamfitter’s grievance with an Armour vice president.
Upon being ushered into the executive’s office, the workers were outraged
to learn that he would only discuss the weather with them. According to
Foster, the vice president finally shouted at the delegation that they
should “go back to your trade union friends and tell them Organized
Labor will never get anything from this company that it hasn’t the power
to take!”!

By 1917, Foster had involved himself in nearly every variety of Ameri-
can radicalism, from left-wing socialism to anarchism, but had finally
found a niche for himself as a radical trade unionist in the Chicago Feder-
ation of Labor. His writings and activities there reveal that he had trav-
eled some distance, intellectually, from the days of his involvement with
the Industrial Workers of the World. At the beginning of the decade, he
had embraced the syndicalist, antiformalistic idealism of French radicals
like Griffuelhes, Pelloutier, and Monatte. At that time, what was most
important for Foster was not the structure of a particular labor organiza-
tion, but the extent of militancy of the workers. If there was a common
theme in Foster’s writings in the early years of the 1910s, it was the im-
portance of organization, regardless of its form, and the need for revolu-
tionary activity to begin where workers were already organized as a class.
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Yet, as a syndicalist who flirted briefly with anarchism, he evinced a
strong distrust and animus toward trade union bureaucrats, and believed
that a strong centralized union organization would stifle the initiative of
radical “militant minorities.”

By 1916, Foster had embraced a kind of trade union teleology that
enabled him to rationalize his work within the Chicago Federation of
Labor. If trade unions are by their very morphology revolutionary or
potentially revolutionary, then it is possible to work for purely trade
union ends without compromising radical goals. Foster’s syndicalism
gradually emerged reformulated as a structuralism in which the rhetorical
importance of revolution became secondary. The intellectual route from
antiformalism to systematicity, however, was not as tortuous as one
might expect. Foster, after all, was living in an age when the organiza-
tional imperative seemed to dominate social discourse. Early in his career,
he exhibited an inclination to frame his radicalism in positivistic terms;
the revolution would be brought about by recourse to “scientific” obser-
vations about society and its historical trends. Moreover, he continually
portrayed his ideas as anti-“utopian,” contrasting them with the tactics of
the IWW and the socialism of Eugene Debs. Foster’s search for a revolu-
tion that “worked” led him to posit a future society in which the great
complexities of modern life might be rationally managed by technicians
and experts. Finally, the Social Darwinism that crept into much of his
rhetoric as a syndicalist allowed him to understand the development of
“higher types” of unions as both inevitable and progressive.

Foster was growing increasingly enamored with the possibilities inher-
ent in workers’ urge for concrete forms of empowerment, and less certain
of the transformative power of propaganda and “education.” It is signifi-
cant for a consideration of Foster’s actions after 1919 that his two great-
est successes in the 1910s came as a result of his abilities as an organizer,
and his perception that workers must first seize and maintain organiza-
tional power before any vision of a society in which labor had a meaning-
ful voice could be realized. In this sense, Foster’s portrayal of his encoun-
ter with the Armour vice president signified an important break with his
earlier syndicalism. It was perhaps the first time that he came face to face
with the intransigence of corporate power and its mute functionalism.
The lesson, in part, was that the crucial dialogue for workers would be
between organizations, not between men and ideas.

Foster’s hard pragmatism in this regard was best illustrated by his aban-
donment of any public or principled opposition to American involvement
in the war. This was a timely adaptation, in line with both Fitzpatrick’s
attitude and the stance of other radicals at the time. It approximated the
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unofficial policy of the IWW, for instance, which was at the time mini-
mizing its opposition to the war while attempting to establish organiza-
tional gains in the industries where it was strongest.?

However, the IWW, because it was widely perceived as a revolutionary
movement, was mercilessly persecuted by federal and state governments
after America’s declaration of war in April 1917. By September, the Jus-
tice Department had launched coordinated search and seizure assauits
against every major IWW local in the country. Shortly thereafter, a Chi-
cago grand jury indicted 166 TWW members on charges that they had
interfered with the war effort. In August 1918, William D. Haywood,
nearly fifty years old, was sentenced to twenty years in Leavenworth
prison. The incarceration of numerous other Wobblies, and later of Eu-
gene Debs, showed how easily revolutionary movements in the United
States could be disabled. It was clearly a time when prominent radicals
were faced with a simple choice brutally formulated: to what extent did
the survival of their organizational aims depend upon the renunciation of
principle? Debs, on the one hand, spent years in prison as a result of his
defense of the principle of free speech. William D. Haywood forfeited the
bail raised by many of his friends when he decided to flee to the Soviet
Union after his conviction in 1918. Moreover, the extent and depth of the
IWW prosecutions showed that the federal government was quite willing
to use its vast power to attack the entire organizational base of radicalism
in America. Thus the dilemma between survival and principle was felt,
perhaps more acutely, at levels far below the leadership of revolutionary
organizations. It is difficult to imagine Foster, with his prejudice against
the “talk” of politics, risking jail for the principle of free speech. Yet the
fact that he was able during this period to fight effectively for goals he
genuinely believed were revolutionary must be considered a significant
achievement, even though his conception of trade union organizing was
scoffed at by many radicals.?

. By 1917 Foster had become convinced that the Chicago Federation of
Labor could successfully organize the unskilled workers in the city’s giant
meatpacking industry. Later, he remembered beginning to contemplate
this huge undertaking as he was walking to work one day in July 1917.
He had proposed to Earl Browder’s Workers’ Educational League in
Kansas City in 1915 that radical labor organizers should, during the
world war, take advantage of labor shortages and escalating production
in certain industries to raise greater and greater demands for labor. From
Pierre Monatte, he had learned that vociferous denunciations of the Al-
lied war effort had only served to isolate radicals from the labor move-
ment in France. By 1917, Foster’s prescience had been largely confirmed.
No huge outcry against the persecution of the IWW and its leadership had
developed among American workers by 1918. In meatpacking, the indus-
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try with which Foster was immediately concerned, production increased
dramatically during the war years; American food, it was proposed in
Chicago, would “win the war.” As a result of the great demand for meat,
and the manpower shortages caused by conscription, the huge numbers
of unemployed who stood outside the packing concerns every morning
seeking work began to diminish. Traditional sources of cheap labor were,
of course, cut off as a result of the fighting in Europe.* Thus, the possibil-
ity of undertaking such a campaign may have seemed fairly realistic to
Foster and John Fitzpatrick at the time.

Fitzpatrick, the man whom Foster had to convince of the realism of his
project, was not an individual given to either quixotic daydreams or radi-
cal panaceas. Born in Ireland in 1874 and brought to America by his
uncle eight years later, he began work at an early age on the killing floors
at Swift and Company in the Chicago stockyards. He learned the trades
of blacksmith and horseshoer, and became active in his local of the Inter-
national Union of Journeyman Horseshoers, and, later, of the Black-
smiths, Drop Forgers and Helpers Union. A powerfully built man with a
simple and direct manner, Fitzpatrick seemed to move easily into leader-
ship positions in the Chicago labor movement. By 1902, he had been
elected president of the Chicago Federation of Labor, an office that he
ended up holding continuously, except for one term in 1908, from 1906
to 1946. Fitzpatrick participated in the 1894 strike of the American Rail-
way Union, and thus had occasion to witness first-hand the overwhelm-
ing power of federal courts and injunctions in labor disputes, as well as
the explicit boundaries of Samuel Gompers’s voluntarist conception of
American trade unionism. He was an ardent Irish nationalist, a friend of
James Larkin, Until the 1920s, Fitzpatrick’s Chicago Federation was
known as a powerful center of progressive unionism, where radicals like
Anton Johannsen and William Foster could be active organizationally
while remaining otherwise circamspect. Fitzpatrick, like Foster, was com-
mitted at this time to the development of a more powerful unionism or-
ganized along “new lines.” Both men considered industrial unionism an
“evolutionary” principle.’

Despite Fitzpatrick’s support for the meatpacking organizing cam-
paign, it was not a foregone conclusion or inevitable by any means that
unionism could succeed among Chicago’s packinghouse workers. AFL
unions had traditionally been unsupportive and suspicious of organiza-
tional campaigns that aimed at unionizing black workers. Despite the
developing labor shortages, the packers aggressively recruited workers
from new sources of unskilled labor, especially among women and south-
ern blacks. Married immigrant women were employed in large numbers
for the first time in the packinghouses during the war. Inflation and the
decline of the boarding system helped to encourage women to enter the
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labor force in Chicago as a way of compensating for lost income. Con-
comitantly, the Great Migration of black workers from the South had
translated into a doubling of Chicago’s black population during the war
years. In earlier strikes in the packing industry, especially in 1894 and
1904, the employers had aggressively recruited black strikebreakers; as a
result, many unionists in Chicago considered blacks a “scab race.”®

Moreover, the Chicago packing industry in 1917 represented a formi-
dable array of consolidated business interests. Like many large industrial
activities of the early twentieth century, meatpacking had become an oli-
gopoly, with several large firms dominating all aspects of the business,
each having expanded their concerns to include domination of the pro-
duction, transportation, processing, and marketing of their product
throughout the nation. At the same time, technological innovations on
the shop floor continued to undercut traditional forms of workers” con-
trol over the process of production. As early as the 1890s, the perfection
of the “disassembly line” and the increasing division of labor and decline
of skill it entailed had begun to erode the power of the craft unions in the
packing industry. During World War I, the most basic form of worker
resistance, quitting, was a widespread phenomenon in the packing-
houses, but this only made the task of establishing and maintaining co-
herent labor organizations more problematic. If, as Foster noted, the
management of the packinghouse industry would only give to organized
labor what organized labor had within its power to take, few observers at
the time would have anticipated significant concessions on the part of the
packers.”

For William Foster, the failure of the union impulse before 1917 was
first a matter involving obsolete organizational forms, then a social diffi-
culty attendant upon fragmentation and lack of unity within the commu-
nity of workers. Later, he emphasized that from its inception, the idea
behind the 1917 stockyards campaign had been that no group of workers
was “unorganizable.” The really important task, according to Foster,
was creating an appropriate structure upon which to base the unionizing
effort. It was essential, he wrote, for such a group to “organize itself
rather than the packinghouse workers. Its problem was chiefly internal,
not external.” Because there was no such thing as an unorganizable
group of workers, if a proper structure was established, “the actual bring-
ing of the immense army of workers into the unions was bound to ensue.”
Foster’s assumption was that if a small cadre of militant unionists, “an
effective organizing force,” could “organize itself” sufficiently, then
workers would inevitably apprehend their own interests and join the
union. Yet there was something coldly distant and manipulative about
Foster’s model. At first, he evinced little sympathy for the packinghouse
workers themselves, and what he held to be their unwillingness or inabil-
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ity to organize themselves. At one point, he wrote of the “hopelessly and
helplessly wretched, ignorant, starved-out and degenerate unorganized
stockyards workers.”® Foster’s ideal was still that of a few stern and un-
yielding militants doing battle with exploitative capitalists over control of
an essentially undependable workforce. However, it was certainly an in-
tensively activist ideal: the burden for an entire social transformation
rested on the abilities of a small group of activists.

Foster was quite aware of certain implacable social realities when he
decided to initiate the stockyards organizing campaign, above all that of
racism. The fact that Foster had witnessed routine, violent racism in the
Philadelphia neighborhood where he grew up meant that he compre-
hended the difficult role that black laborers played in Chicago’s stock-
yards in 1917 as well as the profound racial divisions that characterized
the community. At the outset of the packinghouse organizing campaign,
he seemed optimistic that blacks could be organized effectively, although
by the 1920s his position in this regard would shift significantly. In 1917,
his faith in unionism as the inevitable expression of workers’ conscious-
ness of their interests applied to blacks as well as whites and unskilled
immigrant laborers. This faith in the power of organization allowed him
to see in Chicago’s packinghouse community the possibilities of solidarity
and power rather than fragmentation and impotence.

Yet, as Foster noted, in 1917, African American meatpacking workers
were very suspicious and distrustful of the unions. If Foster tended to
minimize the importance of this legacy, it is certain that John Fitzpatrick
thoroughly understood the problems that the organizing campaign faced
in this regard. Apart from the memories among white stockyard workers
of the strikes of 1894 and 1904, blacks in the packinghouse district had
a variety of good reasons of their own for being resistant to unionization.
Traditional craft union policies of exclusion or segregation proved to
many blacks that the conditions to which they were exposed in the
workplace and in the community could not be escaped merely through
union membership. A significant number of recent migrants from the
South in the packinghouse district undoubtedly had experience in union-
ism and collective protest as former timber and sawmill workers, dock-
workers, and tenant farmers. However, many others from the rural South
were unfamiliar with strikes and unions, or had perhaps migrated north
in order to escape from localities where racist unions exercised job con-
trol. In Chicago, the packing concerns donated funds to African Ameri-
can community organizations and provided an immediate avenue of em-
ployment for recent black immigrants. Quite realistically, the “white
man’s union” was seen as an obstacle to economic survival.’

Despite the apparent difficulties that would impede any attempt to un-
ionize the stockyards, Foster went to a meeting of the Chicago District
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Council of his craft union, the Railway Carmen, and proposed an organ-
izational campaign. After securing the endorsement of this body, Foster
and a committee of the Carmen approached Local 87 of the Amalga-
mated Meat Cutters and Butcher Workmen and gained their approval for
a resolution to be introduced at the regular meeting of the Chicago Feder-
ation of Labor. On July 15, 1917, Foster and R. T. McQuillen of the
Railway Carmen (a member of the ITUEL Executive Board), with Dennis
Lane and Joe O’Kane of the Butcher Workmen, proposed to the Chicago
Federation that a conference be called, as soon as possible, “of represen-
tatives of all trade unions with jurisdiction over workers in the Union
Stock Yards ... for the purpose of launching and carrying on a united
and vigorous campaign to bring within the protecting ranks of Organized
Labor the vast army of exploited men, women and children in the meat
packing industries of Chicago.” After a brief speech by Foster calling for
the cooperation of all trades in the meatpacking industry for the purpose
of organizing the packinghouse workers, Dennis Lane of the Butcher
Workmen stated that it “was about time the other trades took part in the
work” of organization.!?

The following week, the Stockyards Labor Council was formed. It con-
sisted of representatives from a variety of trades with jurisdiction over the
packinghouse workers, including the Butcher Workmen, Railway
Carmen, Machinists, Electricians, Coopers, Carpenters, Office Workers,
Steam Fitters, Engineers, and Firemen. The Stockyards Labor Council
(SLC), however, was only proto-industrial in form. It was, as John Fitz-
patrick noted, brought into existence primarily as a way of organizing the
workers into the various craft unions. It did not, at first, have any power
to propose wage scales or negotiate grievances; this authority remained in
the hands of the international unions. Nonetheless, a great step toward
unity had been taken. The SLC functioned under one executive board and
one set of business agents and organizers. Although neither Foster nor
Fitzpatrick could have gained support for a bona fide industrial union
within the existing framework of the AFL, Foster wrote that “we infused
our whole movement with the spirit of industrial unionism.” According
to Dennis Lane, the president of the Amalgamated, the SLC drafted a set
of laws nonetheless which, if put into effect, would have overridden the
authority of the affiliated international unions.!!

Even without the enactment of such laws, the formation of the Stock-
yards Labor Council to direct an organizational campaign aimed at all
workers in an industry as economically central as meatpacking was an
unprecedented event. Foster compared the SLC with the system federa-
tions of railroad workers that had been established in the 1910s, but the
tasks involved in organizing the packinghouse industry were on another
order of magnitude. Moreover, the campaign was initiated only months
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after the United States had entered the war, at a time when the open shop
was widely equated with Americanism. Employers and state militia had
not hesitated to crush unionizing attempts by the IWW during the war in
industries that were deemed just as vital to the war effort. Significantly,
Foster again looked overseas for a concrete instance of the success of
industrial unionism, for an example to illustrate the potential of a body
like the SLC. In addition to the example afforded by the system federa-
tions of railway workers in the United States, he pointed to the recent
successes of English transport workers, whose craft unions had been
amalgamated into federations; he believed that “the power of the packing
interests could be broken down in a similar way by the organization of all
workers in the industry.”!?

Foster was elected secretary of the SLC, an important indication of the
extent to which he had become a recognized and trusted figure in the
Chicago Federation. He later remembered that at first, he, J. W.
Johnstone and several former ITUEL members worked as volunteers to
get the SLC started. Eventually, unnamed CFL officials prevailed upon
the president of the Brotherhood of Railway Carmen to appoint Foster as
a full-time organizer for a ninety-day period. According to Foster, the
Amalgamated was suspictous of the SLC’s endeavor from the beginning,
and the CFL paid only the expenses of the first mass meeting. Eventually,
an organizing corps was established that consisted of various officials and
volunteers from the allied crafts, including members of the Chicago
Women’s Trade Union League. In August, Foster reported to a meeting of
the Chicago Federation that the first session of the SLC had included del-
egates and representatives from nineteen separate craft unions. In Sep-
tember, some months after the formation of the SLC, the public phase of
the organization campaign began in earnest. A mass meeting was held on
Sunday, September 9, with only mixed results. It was reported that four-
teen hundred individuals were present at this initial gathering; yet, when
the call for joining the unions was announced, few responded. Workers
were reluctant at first because of company informers in their midst, and,
according to Foster, because of the “long years of AFL betrayal and in-
competence” in the meatpacking industry.!3

Nonetheless, the various business agents, delegates, and presidents of
the unions affiliated with the SLC met every Monday night for four
months, and gradually gains in membership were achieved. It is clear that
before the SLC was organized, workers in the packing industry had be-
come restless, mindful of the opportunities afforded by the wartime labor
shortages. Several short strikes, initiated by the rank and file, occurred in
1916 and 1917; the companies responded by raising the common labor
rate. By the end of 1917, this unionization impulse, together with the
energetic work of the SLC activists, had resulted in some noteworthy suc-
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cesses. By early 1918, the extent of organization in the stockyards stood
at 25 to 50 percent of the work force. Membership in the Butcher Work-
men increased by twenty thousand from July 1917 to January 1918. Fitz-
patrick noted with satisfaction as early as October that a number of un-
ions had “added materially to their membership” as a result of the
campaign.'*

All involved in the packinghouse drive recognized that the single most
important factor in determining its success or failure was the willingness
of blacks to join the effort. J. W. Johnstone proposed in September to the
CFL that some African-American packinghouse workers, despite the fact
that they had no organization as yet, were voluntarily organizing meet-
ings in response to the SLC’s campaign. Yet, the resistance and suspicion
among blacks remained strong. Of the approximately twenty unions af-
filiated with the SLC, most drew the color line quite sharply. No union
was more notorious for excluding African Americans than Foster’s
Brotherhood of Railway Carmen, for instance. By September, rumors
were spreading in Chicago that the packers were seeking a strike as a way
of crushing the unionizing drive, and that the companies were recruiting
a huge force of black strikebreakers from the South.!’

The SLC secured Samuel Gompers’s permission to enroll African
Americans who were excluded from membership in the various allied
craft unions into separate “federal” locals. At first, it was planned that
black butcher workmen would be organized into the large Amalgamated
locals of unskilled workers, but some African Americans protested their
minority status in these unions. In response, an all-black local was estab-
lished, but this device proved untenable because of accusations that the
new union was a “Jim Crow” proposition. Realizing that this criticism
would be fatal to the campaign, Foster and the SL.C agreed that mass
Butcher Workmen locals should be established on a neighborhood basis,
with membership in both white and black community-based unions being
theoretically interchangeable. At the time, Foster believed that African
Americans should be organized into “existing unions.” These workers,
he noted, object to “Jim Crow” unionism and “insist, rightfully so, that
if they are to come into the trade union movement they should come into
it upon the basis of equality.” However, in the end, the butcher work-
men’s unions into which blacks were organized were de facto segregated
locals. The placement of African Americans belonging to the affiliated
trades into “federal” unions was only a temporary expedient; when the
AFL unions refused to permit blacks to transfer their membership to their
respective craft locals, many dropped out of the federal organizations.'®

Nonetheless, between July 1917 and January 1918, the Stockyards
Labor Council had established a precarious unity among stockyard
workers. Estimates of black membership in the SLC-created mass locals
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varied, and immigrants joined the movement in uneven increments. Al-
though Foster had envisioned an industrial-type union solidarity in the
stockyards, tensions and differences existed that would ultimately help
bring about the defeat of the unions. The complex structure of the SLC
divided skilled packinghouse workers, who joined the Amalgamated lo-
cals, from unskilled laborers who were organized into the various com-
munity-based unions. Similarly, the neighborhood locals ended up as sep-
arate ethnic unions in practice, with women, Polish workers, and blacks
in different organizations. To an overwhelming extent, the most dedi-
cated unionists proved to be the Poles; they were the largest foreign-born
group in the packinghouse labor force. Much of the SLC’s success in or-
ganizing this group was attributable to the efforts of John Kikulski, a
charismatic speaker who helped bring Polish workers into the unions in
huge numbers. Foster reported that “a great deal of the credit for the
success of the movement will be due to the energetic work of Kikuiski and
... if he had not turned out and taken the grip on the situation that he
does, it is very questionable whether the campaign would have been
successful.”’

The stockyards campaign was the first time that Foster appeared as a
speaker and leader before large audiences. While he was undoubtedly
effective, and was able to hold the attention of his audiences, Foster was
not a particularly charismatic figure. His appeal consisted in a straight-
forward delivery, made without artifice or embellishment, that pro-
gressed logically through each point that he established. Jeanette Pearl, a
Chicago trade union activist, noted that Foster embodied a “new type of
labor leadership.”

[He] does not possess the overpowering, gigantic force of a Deleon, the
emotional sweep of a Haywood, nor the great humanitarian ebullition of
Debs. His power is centered on an elemental simplicity for interpretation,
combined with a dynamic force for “putting it across.” Foster rivets one’s
attention and the subject matter he presents is made so vivid, so plain and so
elementally obvious, there is no need for intellectual straining and exertion.
Listening to Foster, one does not feel as if in the presence of the mighty.

Pearl, writing in 1922, noted that “there is nothing overbearing in his
personality,” no “straining to dominate and capture control.” Foster, she
wrote, was a “technical expert” more than an orator or compelling intel-
lectual. Foster himself understood his abilities in these terms. Later, he
reflected that from the very beginning of his career in the labor movement
he had seen himself as a “specialist” in “mass organizational work.”
Foster’s power as a speaker was derived from his ability to frame his
arguments for complex economic and organizational issues in lucid and
astringent terms, coloring his rhetoric only incidently with irony or a
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smoldering, carefully controlled outrage. He was mostly concerned with
establishing the simple logic and means of empowerment, and increas-
ingly, because of his position as a trade unionist, he left the implications
of his tactics for others to decide.!?

Foster’s self-conception mirrored that of the central personalities of the
era in which he lived. It was the era of the ascendant social science special-
ist, especially personified by the sociologists and reformers (especially ac-
tive in Chicago at the time) who found receptive audiences in expanding
state and local bureaucracies as well as in the Roosevelt and Wilson ad-
ministrations. At the same time, some turn-of-the century Progressives,
notably Theodore Roosevelt, embraced a kind of warrior ethos that de-
fined manhood at least in part as the quest for the kind of authenticity
that only warfare could provide. Foster explicitly sought an identity as
both a syndicalist “warrior” and a trade union specialist; his bureau-
cratic, reformist, and managerial impulses both melded and conflicted
with those of the proletarian class warrior throughout his career.!’

In spite of the disappointing immediate results of the September mass
meeting, in the following months, as Foster wrote in 1918, “a living tor-
rent poured into the unions.” At a November 4 meeting of the Chicago
Federation, Foster reported that the SLC had gone on record for “imme-
diate action” in response to the organizing efforts of the previous months,
and was pressing officials of the international to call a conference in Chi-
cago. He noted that the “contagion for organization had sprung up all
over the country,” and that this meant that the campaign was now a
“national proposition” that was effectively “out of the hands of the lo-
cals.” He proposed that much of the responsibility for the success of the
campaign now rested with the internationals, and that if these organiza-
tions would exert 5 percent of the energy that the Chicago campaign had
exhibited, “every packing house in the country will be organized.” Ac-
cording to Foster’s autobiographical account of the campaign, he was, at
this point, attempting to push the Amalgamated officials into a situation
where they would eventually have to call a strike. Foster noted that the
more militant SLC organizers were “proceeding on a militant strike pol-
icy,” and that the workers themselves were “strike minded.”?’

As a result of growing pressure from the rank and file and Foster’s
group of SLC organizers, the Amalgamated convened a conference on
November 11 in Omaha, where they formulated a set of demands, includ-
ing union recognition, wage increases of a dollar a day, overtime pay,
equal pay for women, and the eight-hour day. Subsequently, representa-
tives of the international unions in packing met in Chicago and adopted
a similar set of demands. This confident formalization of grievances, con-
comitantly with the growing organizational strength of the movement,
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helped build further momentum for the unionizing drive. At this point the
Stockyards Labor Council was beginning to act like a union, pressuring
the internationals to prepare and endorse a negotiating position. Accord-
ing to Fitzpatrick, the council had “outlined their propositions” to the
international officers before the Omaha conference, even though the ac-
tual presenting of grievances was the responsibility of the international
unions. A week after the formulation of demands by the Amalgamated
and the internationals in Chicago, Foster told the Chicago Federation
that the next move was up to the packers, and that if they “do not move
in the right direction, we will have to insist on our rights.” Foster noted,
according to the minutes of the meeting, that “the 70,000 people working
in the packing plants throughout the country for many years have had
nothing to say about the conditions under which they shall work, but
within the last three or four months they have been able to raise their
hands and say they want something.”?!

Yet, the employers remained confident. Despite the successes of the
unionizing campaign, they refused to meet with a delegation consisting of
Lane, Fitzpatrick, and Foster that had been chosen to present the work-
ers’ demands. In one plant, sixty workers who were wearing union but-
tons were summarily discharged. Again, the Stockyards Labor Council
took the initiative, deciding by unanimous vote to ask the international
unions to take a strike vote. A conference of the international representa-
tives was duly called, and a strike vote was authorized. On Thanksgiving
Eve, the packinghouse workers voted overwhelmingly to give the unton
leadership the power to call a strike. Foster, Johnstone, and other SLC
organizers were eager for a walkout, but Fitzpatrick and Lane were not.
Faced with the strike dilemma, the Chicago labor leaders were apparently
relieved by Samuel Gompers of the responsibility for making a final deci-
sion. According to Foster in 1918, “a telegram was sent to the officials of
the A.EL. [in Washington, D.C.] advising them” of the strike vote. In
turn, the AFL immediately “notified the Department of Labor and a me-
diator, Fred L. Feick, appeared upon the scene.” Writing in 1937, Foster
recalled that “we were immediately infested with agents of the Federal
Mediation Commission.” Judging from the later actions of the SLC in
resisting government mediation, it is indeed likely that Foster and
Johnstone were adamantly opposed to the prospect of arbitration. Foster
made his attitude toward mediation explicit in a contemporary account:??
“In a number of recent Chicago strikes Government mediators have inter-
vened, been defied and ridiculed by the employers and have had to pack
their grips and depart, leaving the workers infinitely worse off than if the
mediators had stayed out of the affair altogether. In such cases the work-
ers naturally conclude that if the Government can do nothing with their
autocratic employers it is useless for them to keep up the fight, and a lost
strike results.”
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Foster’s vision of the dangers of federal intervention came close to real-
ization when Feick and his agents left Chicago, unable to bring about
even a meeting between the packers and the labor representatives. Appar-
ently, once it had been decided to attempt to secure government media-
tion, it was felt necessary by the unions involved to increase pressure still
further through political channels. Foster himself, while distrustful of me-
diation, knew that a strike would have been difficult to win, given the
opposition of the AFL and the leaders of the national officials of the
dozen federated stockyard unions. Fitzpatrick later testified that Feick
had told him after the breakdown of the first mediation effort that the
packers were eager for a strike. Subsequently, representatives of the
Amalgamated, the SLC, the Chicago Federation, and the various affili-
ated crafts traveled to Washington and ended up, through Gompers’s
offices, in a conference with Newton Baker, the secretary of war. As a
result of this meeting, a binding arbitration agreement was signed that
provided that there would be no strikes or lockouts during the period of
the war, and no union recognition. Even so, the packers refused to partic-
ipate meaningfully in the process, and again a committee of Chicago
labor leaders went to Washington. Finally, under pressure from the
Wilson administration, the packers agreed to involve themselves seriously
in the arbitration process. Not the least threatening to the packers had
been the prospect, widely discussed at the time, of government seizure of
their plants.?3

Thus, in the first months of 1918, the federal government emerged as
the most important broker of power in Chicago’s stockyards, an arena
where the day-to-day relationship between the companies and their em-
ployees had generally been dictated by the brutal logic of the labor mar-
ket. It is possible to see Fitzpatrick and Lane arrayed on one side of the
labor equation in the developing conilict, each man acutely mindful of the
history of the major strikes in Chicago in which packinghouse workers
had been involved. On the other side of the equation, Foster, Johnstone
and other militants sought to develop the threat of a strike, fully intending
to bring about another open conflict if the packinghouse workers” griev-
ances were not addressed. Each side, in 1918, was essential to any favora-
ble outcome of the situation for labor. Fitzpatrick and Lane benefited
from the activities of the radicals, employing the SLC’s agitation and ag-
gressive organization campaign as a way of building their organizations
and pressing the packers into arbitration. Foster and Johnstone, former
Wobblies, needed the cover of legitimacy afforded by their affiliation with
the Chicago Federation of Labor in order realistically to pursue their own
aims. Far from being atypical, this kind of syncretic arrangement was
basic to much of what organized labor was able to achieve in the twenti-
eth century. John L. Lewis, for instance, never hesitated to employ the
threats of radicals as a way of pushing labor’s demands at the highest
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levels of state and local government, and his skillful management of such
threats became the basis for much of his influence outside of the labor
movement.>*

However mistrustful of government interference he may have been at
first, Foster must have been pleased at the outcome of the first phase of the
arbitration. The final decision by Samuel Alschuler, the arbitrator,
awarded the workers the basic eight-hour day, overtime pay, and signifi-
cant pay increases. A parade of witnesses at the public hearings had testi-
fied to the horrific working conditions in the stockyards. “It was as if the
characters in The Jungle, quickened into life, had come to tell their story
from the witness chair,” Foster wrote. During the hearings, Foster played
a significant role, helping to organize the workers’ testimony and assist-
ing with the portrayal of conditions in the yards. In 1919, during the
height of the steel strike and amid accusations that Foster, the chief or-
ganizer, was a dangerous radical, Alschuler wrote that Foster’s activities
during the packinghouse hearings had seemed innocuous enough. During
the arbitration, according to Alschuler, Foster “seemed to act as an ad-
viser to the representatives of the employees, and was apparently relied
on for the production of documents, figures and references as they were
wanted in the hearing. After that award was made many questions arose,
both as to interpretation and compliance, which necessitated many hear-
ings of grievances, wherein Mr. Foster often represented the employees.”
Furthermore, Alschuler wrote, “In his representation of the employees in
the various controversies before me in which he participated he impressed
me as being particularly intelligent, honorable, moderate, tactful, and
fair. His manner of presentation and his occasional apt literary references
led me to inquire of others as to his early advantages, and I learned with
some wonder that they were absolutely nil, and on the contrary all the
very reverse of advantages.”

Alschuler’s statement shows how easily Foster was able, in the highly
charged atmosphere of 1918-19, to restrain his more radical impulses
and assume the persona of moderation. His career to this point might
easily have served as an encyclopedia of American radicalisms, but by the
time he was gaining a degree of prominence and success as a labor organ-
izer, his radicalism had become even more imprecise and protean.
Alschuler concluded that “if in his earlier wanderings he imbibed for a
time fantastic, extreme or destructive social ideas, I am sure there was
nothing developed in the many conferences and hearings in which he par-
ticipated which would indicate that he still harbored them.”?

It is possible to gain an understanding of the nature of Foster’s abilities
as a labor leader through an examination of his role in the conflict that
erupted between workers and employers in the Union Stockyards and
Transit Company—the corporation, formed by a combination of rail-
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road and packing interests, that coordinated the arrival and distribution
of cattle at the stockyards—shortly after the first Alschuler award. The
managers of the company refused to sign the Alschuler agreement, so
Foster, still secretary of the Stockyards Labor Council, and J. W.
Johnstone, who was the improbable chairman (he was a member of a
painters’ local at the time) of the recently organized Livestock Handlers’
Union, immediately took the fifteen hundred workers in the yards out on
strike. Johnstone’s organization was acting in this case as a de facto in-
dustrial union; the workers it represented included engineers, oilers, fire-
men, and electrical workers as well as steamfitters, tinsmiths, bricklayers,
carpenters, cement workers, painters, roofers, and sewer workers. In-
stantly, as Foster later described it, the strike stopped the transfer of all
cattle, sheep, and hogs into the stockyards, bringing the industry to a halt.
Foster and Johnstone were threatened by Department of Justice officials,
who claimed that the strike was harmful to the war effort.?¢

As a result of the strike, the U.S.Y. & T accepted the terms of the earlier
Alschuler award, and agreed to submit the stock handlers’ demands for a
further wage increase and double time on Sundays and holidays to
Alschuler for arbitration. William B. Wilson, the secretary of labor, had
sent telegrams to the Union Stockyards Company and Foster, urging that
the strike be suspended.?” Significantly, the final agreement was negoti-
ated between the U.S.Y. & T and the Stockyards Labor Council; the SLC
was acting in this case as the bargaining agent for all of the affiliated
crafts. In this whole situation, Foster and Johnstone showed that they
would not hesitate to call a strike as a way of accomplishing their de-
mands. At the level of the workplace and in the union, Foster was instinc-
tively a radical, aggressively creating the impetus and organizational
framework for strikes and job actions. Testifying at the arbitration hear-
ings, he showed that he could master statistical minutiae and details con-
cerning complex wage scales, as well as the history and conditions of the
stock handlers” work. In the context of negotiation, Foster could argue the
subtleties of contracts and work rules with the most legally sophisticated
company lawyers. As a strike leader, he was capable of militant and deci-
sive action in the defense of what he believed to be the workers’ interests.

Yet, Foster remained circumspect about his aims. Near the conclusion
of the arbitration hearings, he argued eloquently within the framework of
traditional trade union rhetoric. Proposing that he felt personally that the
concept of a “living wage” was a “disgraceful standard,” he asserted that
“we have just reached a point where we can demand a living wage, and
we are going past that living wage standard and are going to ask for a
share in the product of industry. They are already doing that in England,
and we believe that we are entitled to it.” However, he did not propose
anything as drastic as expropriation. The time will soon come, he be-
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lieved, when “we shall be recognized as partners in industry, and our
standard of living will not be set to [sic] by competition nor by figuring
out just how little we can barely live on, but it will be figured out on a
basis of a partner in industry.” He believed that this vision of asking for
more of a share of the product of labor and “partnership” in industry
would ultimately result in the destruction of the wages system. Yet in
1918 he was skillful enough to persuade his interlocutors, including
Alschuler, that such demands merely encompassed the legitimate rights of
labor.?®

During the months leading up to the Alschuler decision, Foster had
evidently been contemplating the initiation of an organizing campaign in
the steel industry. After all, he reasoned, if the trust-dominated meatpack-
ing industry had shown itself vulnerable to organization, then a similar
campaign might be aimed at America’s very largest monopolized busi-
ness. Furthermore, he wrote, “I had no idea of settling down as a trade
union official in the packing industry.”?’ There is no doubt that Foster
was an ambitious man, an individual who envisioned the possibility of
leading mass national walkouts against powerful and integrated modern
corporations. His avowedly internationalist perspective lent a sense of
confidence to his initiation of the packinghouse and steel campaigns.
Thus only a little more than a month after the first Alschuler award in the
packinghouse industry, Foster proposed a resolution before a meeting of
the Chicago Federation of Labor on April 7, 1918, that called upon the
AFL to begin an organizing drive in the steel industry.*°

By the summer of 1918, Foster’s activities in initiating the steel cam-
paign were taking up much of his time, and he began to turn responsibil-
ity for the Stockyards Labor Council over to J. W. Johnstone. The work
of Johnstone and Foster in the stockyards campaign seemingly verified
Foster’s idea that mass organizational campaigns and strikes would gain
vital momentum and coherence through the activities of a militant minor-
ity. Foster had gained his position as secretary of the SLC and AFL organ-
izer as a result of his aggressive work in the Chicago Federation. The
movement appeared to have little regard for established procedure or
traditional conceptions of trade union “democracy.” Dennis Lane, the
secretary of the Amalgamated, noted that after the various packinghouse
internationals had given up some of their jurisdictional rights to the
Stockyards Labor Council, the “self-elected” leaders of the SLC went on
to “make laws to suit themselves.” He also observed that “when Foster
left to take up his new duties as Secretary-Treasurer of the organization
committee in the iron and steel industry . . . [he] turned the office of Secre-
tary-Treasurer of the Stock Yards Labor Council over to ‘friend
Johnstone’ without an election or even consulting the delegates of the
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council, and Johnstone has perpetuated himself in that office ever
since.”!

By 1916, Johnstone, Foster’s former IWW and Syndicalist League as-
sociate, had insinuated himself into the CFL by way of the Mooney de-
fense campaign. During the later phases of the packinghouse organizing
effort, Dennis Lane reflected bitterly on Johnstone’s tenuous relationship
with the Chicago labor movement, and provided some insight into the
tactics of the group of militants with which Foster was associated. “J. W.
Johnstone blew into Chicago along with a small band of IWW’s from the
Northwest only a short time before the organization campaign was put
on in the stock yards at Chicago. He claimed to be a member of the
Painter’s Union, but to this day I have never met a soul that has ever
known Johnstone to do a day’s work at this trade or any other trade
where manual labor is required.” Johnstone, according to Lane, “injected
himself” into the stockyards campaign.3?

The importance of federal intervention in the stockyard unionizing
drive is illustrated by the fact that by November 1918, after the first
Alschuler award, the Amalgamated had 62,857 members on its rolls,
over twice the number that had been achieved as of January 1918, when
the campaign was several months old. “The Alschuler award was but a
dream for the workers, it meant so much to the average men and
women,” wrote Arthur Kampfert, a packinghouse worker who witnessed
the 1917-19 organizing drive. According to Kampfert, the award “estab-
lished a pattern for human decency, education and independence” for
packinghouse workers. However, for Kampfert at least, it was the unions
that best symbolized the aspirations of the workers. The lesson gained by
the organization campaign and the subsequent improvements in the
stockyards was that “you had to fight; live and die for the union.” Yet,
Kampfert was expressing an ambiguity that lay at the very heart of the
organizing campaign. Where did the locus of power ultimately reside?33

The answer to this question would be determined in the postwar pe-
riod, when the Alschuler administration expired. Foster, in midsummer,
was optimistic about the future of unionism in the stockyards. He wrote
to Frank Walsh, who had acted as the workers’ attorney in the arbitration
hearings, that “we are doing very well here in the Yards. The organiza-
tions maintain themselves very good, in spite of the croakers who said
they would fall to pieces as soon as the excitement died out. I think the
foundations of unionism have been solidly laid in the packing industry
for a long time to come.” At the same time, the Stockyards Labor Council
was acting aggressively to extend organization into different branches of
the meatpacking industry. One of the by-products of the industry was
soap, and the Fairbanks Company, which made the “Gold Dust Twins”
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detergent, had a big plant in Chicago. In order to stave off the unionizing
drive, the company fired several union activists and then attempted to
establish a company union. Foster noted that an elaborate employee ben-
efits plan was instituted that included pensions, organized sports, and
improved sanitary conditions. Despite these improvements, Foster and
Johnstone worked assiduously to get across the message that the workers’
“only protection was in a trade union.” Foster wrote to Walsh that while
the company refused to meet with the SLC, “all the trades are standing
together. I think we will soon bring the company to its senses.” Once
again, the SLC was acting as a union. It not only organized the Fairbanks
workers, but presented demands and threatened to call a strike. Finally,
the company was forced to negotiate a settlement with Johnstone.**

Despite Foster’s optimism, as the war drew to a conclusion, it became
increasingly evident in the packinghouses that the gains of the unions
were not as solid as they appeared. The SLC and Fitzpatrick had been
able to secure government intervention and mediation only under the
condition that the union was not to be formally recognized as a bargain-
ing agent for the workers, and that no preferential shop would be estab-
lished. In the last months of 1918, Alschuler began to back away from the
wage standards he had established during the war. On the basis of hear-
ings held in December 1918 and January 1919, only small wage increases
were granted to the unions. As the war ended, foremen in the packing-
houses told workers that after the war, when the arbitration agreement
expired, the packers would reestablish their ascendancy on the shop floor
by dismissing those individuals who had been active in the union. Also
mindful of the impending end of the wartime labor shortages, workers
began to back away from the union, or, as Lane described it, “place them-
selves in a position where they might deny their affiliation with the
union.” In the declining months of the unionizing drive, according to
Kampfert, rumors circulated in the plants that the “concessions granted
were not through the efforts of the union, but that the government had
ordered them granted.”3’

Furthermore, the unions were beset by factional maneuvering and jeal-
ousies. Lane became jealous of the SLC’s power. It is noteworthy that by
the summer of 1919, the Stockyards Labor Council was beginning to
resemble what Foster had long warned against, a dual industrial union.
By March 1919, the Stockyards Labor Council had thirty-eight “affili-
ated organizations” on its letterhead. These allied locals included
steamfitters, laborers, office employees, stock handlers, steam engineers,
structural iron workers, machinists, railway carmen, shipping clerks, and
the Women’s Trade Union League, in addition to locals more directly
involved in the meat industry like stock handlers, hog and cattle butchers,
boners, casing workers, butcher workmen, and laborers. The SLC fought
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with Lane’s Butcher Workmen in June 1919 over the issue of whether to
force a showdown with the companies on union recognition or extend the
Alschuler agreement for a period of one year after the war had ended, as
the packers proposed. The SLC favored a strike, but the internationals
decided to pursue the more cautious policy, and the agreement was ex-
tended. The SLC leaders claimed that Lane and the officials of the interna-
tionals had signed the agreement without consulting them. Lane was de-
termined not to allow the development of a bona fide industrial union
within his jurisdiction.?®

In a bid to reestablish his authority, in July Lane established a new
council, District Council 9, as a way of countering the SLC’s power in the
stockyards. The locals into which the vast majority of the newly organ-
ized packinghouse workers had been enrolled by the SLC refused to join
Lane’s new council. The national office of the AFL stood behind its inter-
national president, Lane. Secretary-treasurer Frank Morrison of the AFL
wrote to Fitzpatrick in September and demanded that Kikulski and John
Riley, an effective African American organizer, cease their organizing ef-
forts on behalf of the SLC. He asked pointedly if the SLC was indeed a
branch of the Chicago Federation as it had been advertising. Lane fulmi-
nated that the jurisdiction of the SLC “was stretched to such an extent
that their noses were stuck into the national affairs of our movement.”
Foster, of course, identified the organizational incoherence and factional-
ism that beset the unions in the summer of 1919 as the most important
cause of the unions’ eventual downfall. “The great weakness of our Chi-
cago Stockyards Labor Council,” he observed, was that “actual control
of the international unions involved remained in the hands of reactionary
A.EL. officials.” The introduction of a second council echoed the split in
union forces that had helped bring about the failure of the 1904 strike.*”

The split between the Amalgamated and the SLC occurred at a turbu-
lent and vital juncture for Chicago’s organized labor movement. Angered
by postwar wage cuts, layoffs, and the increasing cost of living, workers
throughout the city engaged in job actions and strikes. Foster’s steel or-
ganizing campaign was just beginning in earnest in Gary and South Chi-
cago. By July 1919, according to one estimate, approximately 250,000
workers in Chicago were on strike, threatening to strike, or locked out. A
telegram sent on July 19 by the Chief of Staff of the U.S. Military Intelli-
gence Division in Chicago to his superiors in Washington implied that the
situation was revolutionary: “Estimated 150,000 men on strike in Chi-
cago. Probably 200,000 or more by Wednesday morning. Russians,
Poles, Lithuanians predominate. Russian radicals dominate. Situation
critical.” A military intelligence agent visited the I'WW headquarters and
heard it reported that J. A. Jones was developing various sabotage plans
aimed at the meatpacking companies. Jones was a delegate to the CFL
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from the same Painters’ Union local as Johnstone, Local No. 147. Foster
noted that the ITUEL group in Chicago had made “it a special point to
work with the ‘educational’ or sabotage committees of the locals in-
volved” in Chicago strikes of the late 1910s. Most alarming to domestic
intelligence agencies was the fact that in August and September, the
American Communist and Communist Labor parties held their founding
conventions in Chicago.?®

Foster witnessed the final breakup of the stockyards organizing cam-
paign from the perspective of his involvement in the steel unionizing
drive. By the end of the summer of 1919, he must have been both sad-
dened and alarmed by the failures of the Stockyard Labor Council, which
he had played so large a role in establishing. The end of the council, after
all, did not bode well for the AFLs efforts in steel, an industry where
organizers had to face many of the same difficulties that packing had
presented, only on a much larger scale. Other than the confusion created
by the retrogressive maneuvers of Dennis Lane, what was most salient
about the tragedy that unfolded in Chicago’s packinghouse industry was
that the problem of race helped to undermine the initiatives of the pro-
gressive unionists. While the history and etiology of the open racial con-
flicts that erupted in Chicago in the summer of 1919 are quite complex,
the Labor Council’s organizational efforts suffered as a result of the vio-
lence. Employers took advantage of racial, ethnic, and organizational di-
visions within the Labor Council and the Chicago Federation. Despite the
best efforts of the council, racial attacks on unorganized blacks occurred
in some districts. At the same time, Lane escalated his campaign to restrict
the prerogatives of the SLC’s organizers. By January 1920 the council was
finally forced to resign from the Chicago Federation.*®

During a subsequent investigation of the Chicago race riots, Foster
acknowledged the idea that African Americans had been particularly sus-
ceptible to the blandishments of the employers. The only way that black
workers could advance in the industry, according to one leaflet he cited,
was to “stick in with the boss and then when there is a strike to step in
and take the jobs that are left. . . .” Foster’s choice of words seemed to
reinforce the beliefs of conservative unionists: blacks were “constitution-
ally opposed to unions,” he testified, “and all our forces could not break
down that opposition.” However, the reason for the reluctance of African
Americans, he stated, was racism: “The colored man as a blood race has
been oppressed for hundreds of years. The white man has enslaved him,
and they don’t feel confidence in the trade unions.” Nonetheless, Foster
remained optimistic, despite the conflicts that attended the unionizing ef-
forts. He observed that “there is more real fraternal feeling among the
black and white workers than in any other grade of society.” As soon as
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blacks became “a factor in industry” they would come to understand the
power of unionism, he thought.*

It is possible to see Foster’s optimism as emerging from his role as a
“new type” of labor organizer, one who perceived the problem of work-
ing-class unity in mostly technical terms, undeterred by the seemingly in-
soluble complexities and emotions of community life. At the inception of
the stockyards campaign, he believed that trade unions, as purely func-
tional entities, were the “road to freedom” for America’s workers. The
Stockyards Labor Council promoted the idea that the common economic
interests of workers could overcome divisions of race, ethnicity, and craft;
in this sense it was able temporarily to slip the bounds of AFL traditional-
ism. A remarkable spirit of solidarity was demonstrated by workers be-
longing to the SLC during the organizing effort and even at the height of
Chicago’s race riots in 1919. The council ended up being the primary
vehicle through which thousands of workers experienced a degree of col-
lective power for the first time.

Despite later accusations by his enemies in the Chicago Federation,
Foster’s “detachment” from the stockyards milieu of work and commu-
nity was not as clear as it may seem. His own early life certainly predis-
posed him to comprehend the nature of working-ciass racism and the
experience of cultural and economic adjustment to a large urban environ-
ment as well as any resident of Chicago’s Packingtown. His anarchist
“antipatriotism,” so bitterly expressed only a few years earlier in his pam-
phlet Syndicalism, was distinguished from that of the IWW by his belief
that radicals could act under the cover of AFL “legitimacy” in ways that
might otherwise be construed as insurrectionary. This, too, was an in-
sight consistent with the tradition of the anarchist “Chicago idea.” Ac-
cording to Foster, the AFL had the “vital advantage” as a vehicle for
radicals, because it spoke “the same language of the broad masses of
workers.”*! Foster’s faith in the ability of trade unions to represent the
aspirations of all workers was severely tested during the campaign to
organize the packinghouse industry. However, the idea of trade unionism
in Foster’s mind had become not unlike the idea of community, and he
held to it tenaciously.

Even so, Foster’s vision was tragically unfulfilled. In the end, the SLC
was a structure that, despite the promise it held out to thousands of work-
ers, proved unable to supplant the power of the packing concerns and the
government, or compel or support working-class unity for very long. Part
of the difficulty lay in Foster’s own position as an innovative organizer in
a time of transition for American unionism. Working in the SLC, he
sought to harness the anger and emotions of an older-style unionism in
the service of industrial unionism, a task that required that workers adopt
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a new language of solidarity in the face of bitter opposition by the em-
ployers. In his battles with the packing concerns, Foster exhibited some-
thing of the cool realism and peculiar reticence of his corporate adversar-
ies, and, while articulate about the need for racial unity, he expected that
organization itself would compel solidarity. Sympathetic observers un-
derstood and accepted Foster’s pursuit of this activist vision.

Foster’s rise to prominence in the Chicago Federation symbolized a
departure from an older style of labor radicalism that drew on ideals
based on the normative social relationships of small-town America. One
particularly effective and vital such strain in American socialist and radi-
cal thought at the time intermingled themes of productive individualism
and self-reliant personal integrity with attacks on the inhumanity of cor-
porate methodology. Perhaps the most effective communicator of this vi-
sion was Eugene Debs, for whom the memory of the intimate social rela-
tionships of his childhood in Terre Haute, “where all were neighbors and
friends,” continued to animate his discourse well into the twentieth cen-
tury.*? In contrast, William Foster perceived Upton Sinclaic’s The Jungle
as an accurate description of life in Chicago’s Packingtown, and instinc-
tively operated on the assumption that the city in which he lived and
worked was governed by men who only understood the language of
power. Foster’s unusual ability to act on this basic insight would catapult
him to a position of great influence in the labor movement. Soon, he
would become America’s most notorious labor organizer.



Chapter 5

THE GREAT STEEL STRIKE

Can it be possible that in this critical time in our
Nation’s history such men as William Z. Foster are
spokesmen for the working classes of the country?

—Congressman John G. Cooper (1919)

ON Aucust 28, 1919, William Z. Foster, in the company of Samuel
Gompers, John Fitzpatrick, and several other labor leaders, was ushered
into a palatial room in the White House for a meeting with President
Woodrow Wilson. The subject of the conference was the imminence of
economic warfare in the various towns and communities that were the
homes of America’s vast steel industry, the vital heart of the nation’s eco-
nomic and military preponderance. When William Foster spoke during
this discussion, he did so as the person who was responsible for the day-
to-day functioning of the organization that represented one side in the
developing conflict. Despite his central role in the proceedings, those who
knew Foster must have wondered about the process that had brought him
to a conference with the president of the United States. As an anarcho-
syndicalist, he had written in 1912 that a revolutionary must be prepared
to accept martyrdom, consoling himself only with “the knowledge that he
is a terror to his enemies.” Foster now arrived at the White House as a
representative of the most “legitimate” American labor organization, the
AFL.!

In a later age, it would be difficult to conceive that an individual with
Foster’s background could gain access to such an important position in a
national labor organization. By 1961, the year of his death, radicals had
been effectively purged from such positions in the American labor move-
ment; Foster himself was deeply implicated in the process that led to this
state of affairs. However, in the first months of 1919 he had a reputation
only as a particularly adept organizer for the Chicago Federation of
Labor. In April, a Pittsburgh newspaper had printed a story about Fos-
ter’s syndicalist past, but no one had paid much attention. Thus, when
Woodrow Wilson met with Foster and other labor leaders that August,
the radical past of the secretary-treasurer of the steel organizing drive was
not yet an important public issue. According to Foster, as the discussion
with Wilson progressed, the president felt comfortable enough to speak in



112 CHAPTER 5§

colloquial English and slip into “roughneck talk” which, amazingly
enough, did not “look a bit like pretense” to him. Wilson, however, was
not able to give the labor leaders what they wanted, a conference to dis-
cuss their demands with Judge Elbert Gary, the “czar” of United States
Steel. Despite the entreaties of Wilson’s emissary, Bernard Baruch, Gary
would not deign to meet with the steelworkers’ committee. Within a
month, upward of a quarter of a million workers were on strike.?

The steel strike that William Foster helped bring about in the last
months of 1919 was a vitally important event in the history of American
labor. Yet, while the strike itself was the largest single walkout that the
nation had yet witnessed, its intensity and violence were typical of many
other labor disturbances that year. Journalists and scholars typically de-
scribed the unrest as “warfare.” Before the end of the year, over four
million workers, 22 percent of the nation’s work force, had fought their
employers in thousands of strikes and lockouts. Policemen and telephone
workers in Boston, textile workers in Lawrence, the United Mine Work-
ers under the leadership of John L. Lewis, and railroad shop workers in
the Southwest, were some of the most significant participants in the huge
strike wave. In certain respects, Foster was an incongruous figure in the
maelstrom. Few would have guessed that he sought revolutionary
change. Quiet and generally mild-mannered in demeanor, he struck some
observers as more like a poet or university professor than a labor leader.
Yet Foster had assiduously prepared himself for his role in 1919.

When William Foster chose to focus his seemingly boundless energy on
the development of an organizing campaign in the steel industry, he was
attacking the most formidable bastion of the open shop in American busi-
ness. As in meatpacking, the history of previous unionizing efforts was
dismal and unencouraging. In 1892 the Amalgamated Association of
Iron, Steel and Tin Workers of North America, then one of the most
powerful unions within the AFL, was defeated during a bitter and violent
strike at the Carnegie Steel Company’s works in Homestead, Pennsylva-
nia. The strike was deliberately provoked by Carnegie’s managers, who
had been confident that they could import strikebreakers, maintain pro-
duction, and thus eliminate the Amalgamated from the huge Homestead
Works. The success of the Carnegie company encouraged other steel
manufacturers to step up their pressure against the Amalgamated. An
ill-planned strike in 1901 further weakened the union. By 1909 U.S. Steel
had summarily announced that all its plants would henceforward be op-
erated on an open-shop basis. A fourteen-month strike ensued; its defeat
effectively eliminated the Amalgamated as a collective bargaining agent in
the steel industry.*

The defeat of unionism in steel in the first decade of the twentieth cen-
tury was also linked to major changes that were taking place in the tech-
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nology and organization of steel production. On the one hand, astonish-
ing advances in mechanization reduced the importance of human labor
and craft unions as factors of production. Increases in productivity re-
sulted in increases in hours of labor since it was assumed that machines
lessened the “hard labor” of steel production. However, workers did not
see a corresponding rise in wages, and unionism was actively repressed in
the plants in the traditional ways. On the other hand, management intro-
duced company unions and a network of paternalistic benefits in order
further to reinforce its hold over the workforce. A new generation of
steelmasters after 1900 was generally less concerned than their predeces-
sors had been with driving wages lower to cut costs, and the largest cor-
porations valued “labor stability.” The assumptions under which the
new steel managers operated was made explicit by Elbert Gary in a speech
in New York in 1911: “We have the advantage [of the workers] in educa-
tion, in experience, in wealth, in many ways, and we must make it abso-
lutely certain under all circumstances that we treat them right.”’

William Foster’s experience as a worker and radical unionist before
1918 did not encompass industries where the more sophisticated experi-
ments in labor-management relations that surfaced in the Progressive Era
were employed. As a result, his vision was in a sense limited and inappro-
priate to the new world of industrial labor that emerged after the First
World War. As a young man, he had understood work as a direct and
unmediated exploitation of labor by capital. In his job as a railroad car
inspector in the 1910s he had witnessed the introduction of piece rates in
the shop crafts and the destruction of the lives of workers who had little
protection in the workplace. Before 1918, he had no experience with
company unions, “welfare capitalism,” or government mediation of
labor disputes. “Slavery” was a recurring metaphor in his descriptions of
workingmen’s lives. “Industrial democracy,” the shibboleth of labor rela-
tions in the early 1920s, would have been an incomprehensible term for
him; even in Foster’s vision of the postrevolutionary society such a con-
ception was deeply problematic. He had abandoned his efforts to organ-
ize Chicago’s meatpacking workers before the full implications of the
mediation efforts of the federal government had been realized. As a syndi-
calist, Foster was most comfortable in the context of direct conflict be-
tween organized workers and their employers. During the 1918-19 or-
ganizing campaign in the steel industry, he was forced to confront a far
more complex reality. Here, the battle would be fought as much on the
ground of politics and ideology as of organization.

As in the packing industry, in steel the intervention of the federal gov-
ernment in labor relations during World War I presented an opportunity
to unionists. Even before the United States entered the war, workers had
engaged in violent strikes in Youngstown, Braddock, and Pittsburgh.
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Taking advantage of the wartime labor shortages, the Amalgamated
began to register some gains in membership, especially in the finishing
plants where the more highly skilled workers were employed. However,
despite the labor shortages, the larger plants were still mostly unorgan-
ized by the summer of 1918. The steel companies unilaterally raised the
common wage rate during the war, and the factories were inundated with
propaganda that equated unhindered steel production with patriotism,
citizenship, and the fight for democracy abroad. Ultimately, however, the
federal government began to restrict the prerogatives that the steel man-
agers enjoyed with respect to their workers. The National War Labor
Board, under the co-chairmanship of William Howard Taft and Felix
Frankfurter, intervened in a labor dispute at the Bethlehem Steel Com-
pany in July 1918. Much to the dismay of men like Elbert Gary, who had
enjoyed essentially untrammeled authority in the sphere of relations with
his employees, the NWLB forced the companies to meet with committees
of their employees and ultimately pressured them into the adoption of the
eight-hour day.¢

In this context of increasing federal intervention William Foster took
the first steps to initiate the steel organizing campaign in 1918. In April,
as the position of the Allies in Europe worsened and American troops
were being rushed to the battlefront, Foster and sixteen other delegates
from various unions introduced a resolution before the CFL that began
with the declaration that “the organization of the vast armies of wage
earners employed in the steel industries is vitally necessary to the further
spread of democracy in America.” Speaking for the resolution, Foster
noted that while any attempt to organize the half-million workers in the
steel industry could not be undertaken lightly, until the job was done,
“organized labor would never be safe from any attacks that might be
launched against it.” Moreover, while he had been told repeatedly that
the task was an impossible one, he, for one, refused to allow himself to be
placed in any such frame of mind. Foster’s proposal was given an impor-
tant boost, though, when several days after this resolution was passed,
Frank Morrison, secretary-treasurer of the AFL, sent John Fitzpatrick a
letter that included an optimistic report from an organizer in Gary. Mor-
rison asked “whether or not you believe the time is ripe to move on Gary
for the purpose of organizing the steel workers.” Gompers referred the
CFL steel resolution to the May convention of the Amalgamated Associa-
tion, which lent the proposal its endorsement.”

Next, Foster concentrated on his campaign to be elected as a delegate
to the upcoming AFL convention in St. Paul. He perceived the proposed
steel campaign as a personal initiative, and in addition, the job of AFL
delegate was a prestigious one, providing an opportunity for an ambi-
tious trade unionist to make contacts at the level of the national official-
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dom. Taking advantage of the prestige he had attained as Secretary of the
Stockyards Labor Council, Foster was elected unanimously to the job of
delegate.® The AFL convention in St. Paul convened in June of 1918,
more than a year before the tragic Chicago race riots that marked the
dissolution of the SLC. At the convention, Foster was undoubtedly struck
by the irony of his position as delegate from the largest central labor body
in the nation. Six years before, he had been a subject of ridicule when
James Duncan recounted the role Foster had played as an [IWW delegate
to the International Secretariat in Budapest. In 1918, he arrived in St.
Paul as an individual who was widely credited with being responsible for
one of the largest and most successful organizing campaigns in AFL his-
tory. It is easy to imagine, however, that as Foster mingled among the
crowds of delegates he was not entirely comfortable. He was not an indi-
vidual who was given to back-slapping camaraderie or easy sociability.
Moreover, his feelings about his new status may have been quite ambiva-
lent; he had embraced a theory that saw trade unionism as inevitably
progressive, but temperamentally he was still a radical, retaining a certain
Wobbly disdain for the union officialdom upon whom he depended for
the furtherance of his aims.

Foster’s immediate task was to introduce a resolution calling for a steel
organizing campaign. This being duly referred to the committee on or-
ganization, he turned his attention to convincing delegates from the steel
industry unions to attend preliminary meetings. Later, Foster wrote that
he felt that the campaign was being sabotaged by Gompers from the start.
However, in a letter written during the St. Paul convention to Fitzpatrick,
who had remained in Chicago, he noted that he had received a “very
friendly greeting” from Gompers, and that the AFL president had “held
up the whole proceedings to inquire a minute as to how we are progress-
ing in the Stockyard[s].” After the resolution was passed, Foster con-
vinced Gompers to call a meeting of delegates from the steel industry
unions, but Gompers did not attend, and scheduled it during a lunch
recess, “an almost fatally inopportune time.” Undeterred, Foster took
down names, scheduled a further meeting, and convinced Gompers to
preside. At this conference the AFL president declared, according to Fos-
ter, that the AFL was prepared to “go down the line on the proposition.”
Yet during the meeting the wily Gompers made a deft but unmistakable
reference to Foster’s background, warning of the dangers of the move-
ment being “turned over to any other than legitimate trade union ends.”
Morrison, who also attended, seemed enthusiastically in favor of the
campaign, and assured the delegates that he would do his utmost to guar-
antee its success. Many of the delegates must have been skeptical at first
that the AFL would be willing to risk its resources and prestige on a un-
ionizing effort in an industry as powerful as steel. However, the example
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of the successful packinghouse drive was a significant factor in the minds
of the union officials. Foster reported to a CFL meeting upon returning
from the convention that much of the enthusiasm for the proposed steel
drive came from the knowledge of what had been accomplished in pack-
ing. Thus, in St. Paul, it was agreed that within thirty days a conference
of international presidents or their representatives would be held for the
purpose of formally launching the campaign.’

As Foster pointed out in retrospect, it was quite important for this
conference to convene as soon as possible, since the success of the organ-
izing drive was dependent to a certain extent on the course of the war in
Europe. Putting off the conference of international presidents, he wrote in
1920, “involved further waste of probably the most precious time for
organizing work that Labor will ever have.” In June of 1918, though, he
was more sanguine. The response he received to his proposals in St. Paul,
he wrote to John Fitzpatrick, “far exceeded my expectations. I honestly
believe a big movement has been set on foot to organize the steel indus-
try.” To Fitzpatrick, whom he was attempting to persuade to become the
national chairman of the organizing drive, he averred that “as Sam Gom-
pers has said the stockyards movement has blazed the way and shown
labor how to organize the basic industries. In this big movement every-
body is looking to us in Chicago to take the lead.” By this time, it was
clear that Foster himself had taken a very large role in developing the
campaign. At the very first conference of the steel organizing committee in
St. Paul, he was elected temporary secretary; at the second his position
was made permanent. Gompers lent his verbal support to the initial ef-
forts, but Foster had to hustle to generate support among the officials of
the internationals. Even Fitzpatrick’s support seemed tenuous. Foster evi-
dently had expected the CFL president to attend the St. Paul convention
to help him “handle the heavyweights and get them interested,” but he
never showed up, despite repeated telegrams from Foster urging him to
do so. Fitzpatrick was, at this point, immersed in efforts to organize a
labor party in Chicago.'®

At a conference in Chicago on August 1, the National Committee for
Organizing Iron and Steel Workers was formally established. The com-
mittee consisted of representatives of fifteen national craft unions; as in
the packinghouse campaign, it was agreed that while the organizing effort
would be a joint one, each particular craft union would maintain jurisdic-
tion over a particular segment of the workers. The Amalgamated had
potentially the most to gain; it claimed jurisdiction over the majority of
unskilled workers in the steelmaking and finishing plants. The National
Committee was an entirely voluntarist entity; theoretically, it had no au-
thority over its constituent unions. In utilizing a uniform initiation fee
and application blank, the committee consciously imitated the AFL Rail-
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way Employees Department. Foster, the secretary-treasurer, was put in
charge of the committee’s organizing work with the caveat that his poli-
cies must be approved by the chairman. Yet, while Gompers was chair-
man in name, he participated very little in the committee’s deliberations;
Fitzpatrick had assumed the “temporary” chairmanship by the time the
body met again in mid-August. Although he ended up playing a public
role in the organizing campaign, Fitzpatrick, according to Foster, took no
actual part in it for six months after it had begun.!!

Although the steel organizing drive was quite traditional in its careful
attention to craft union jurisdictions and autonomy, as Foster proudly
remembered, this group of unions represented the “largest body of work-
ers ever engaged in a joint movement in any country”—approximately
one-half the membership of the entire American Federation of Labor.
This fact showed quite clearly how important the campaign would be, for
the defeat of the committee’s initiatives would represent a setback for
quite a large segment of the organized labor movement in America. De-
spite the huge stakes, certain decisions were made at the outset of the
campaign that did not bode well for its success. Foster wrote to Frank
Morrison that he planned a “lightning,” simultaneous campaign on a
national basis.

As soon as the workers begin to respond by joining unions, we should
knock on the doors of the Steel Trust and demand a national settlement. My
experiences in the packing industry convince me that such an action on our
part would tend to bring the workers into the union in great numbers. And
very shortly the Steel Trust will be confronted with the alternative of giving
us some consideration, facing a far-reaching strike, or submitting to govern-
ment compulsion.

Unfortunately, at first Foster was able to extract only $100 from each
international to finance the activities of the committee. The limited funds
that were appropriated meant that the committee would instead have to
focus on one district at first. In mid-September, he declared to Morrison
that the committee’s finances “were entirely inadequate to the tremen-
dous task” that lay ahead, and an alternative method of fund raising was
devised. By the end of 1918, only a little more than $6,000 had been
raised for the purpose of organizing the entire steel industry. By then,
precious time had been lost. Foster and others perceived that the success
of the steel venture depended upon American participation in the war; by
late September the Germans were retreating and an Allied victory seemed
imminent.!2

In August and September 1918, however, the success of unionization
in the Chicago area, where the committee chose to focus its initial efforts,
had little to do with such distant events. Here, social and economic condi-
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tions at the level of workplace and community had aggravated a whole
range of grievances against the management of the giant steel mills. Gary,
the city on the banks of Lake Michigan that had been conceived and built
by the United States Steel Corporation, saw some of the unionists’ first
successes. When the city was founded in 1906, U.S. Steel had consciously
sought to avoid the heavy-handed paternalism that had resulted in labor
strife at nearby Pullman, Illinois. However, even though the corporation
did not at first plan to involve itself overtly in local civic and business
affairs, it and its subsidiary development corporation, the Gary Land
Company, ended up collecting rents from the many immigrant and un-
skilled workers who lived in the houses that were erected for them.
Widely divergent building patterns and the desire of U.S. Steel to extract
the maximum value from its housing in the form of high rents helped
create dismal slum districts. The organization of work and community by
the ascendant steel managers tended to reinforce divisions of skill and
ethnicity among Gary’s working class. In addition, World War I provided
an ideological context wherein the distinction between Americans and
immigrant “Hunkies” whose loyalty was suspect could be drawn more
explicitly. An atmosphere of intolerance and chauvinism pervaded Gary
before the unionizing efforts began to take hold.!®

At the very outset of the steel organizing campaign in Gary, the city’s
newspapers and public officials portrayed organizers and unionists as in-
dividuals whose “citizenship” was at best ambiguous. U.S. Steel’s origi-
nal vision of a thriving community of secure, homeowning families did
not materialize in the first decades of the twentieth century, and Gary’s
elite had seemed nervous about the loyalty of its immigrant work force
during World War 1. In 1920, 60 percent of Gary’s population consisted
of immigrants or their children; blacks comprised another 10 percent.
When the organizing campaign in Gary began to meet with success, an
effort was made to equate the appeals of the unionists with un-American
subversion. Yet, very few of the immigrant workers in Gary were Social-
ists or radicals, and their grievances had mostly to do with wages, hours,
and working conditions. As late as the 1920s, approximately 80 percent
of Gary’s steel workers were on twelve-hour shifts, seven days a week.
Wages were often barely adequate to support a family. As in most steel
towns, wages had risen uniformly during the war, but inflation had effec-
tively negated gains in real income for most workers.*

In Gary, as well as at South Chicago, Joliet, and Indiana Harbor, or-
ganizers reported in September that great progress was being made in
signing up members, even though in Gary, U.S. Steel had discharged sev-
eral workers who had affiliated with the campaign. Other than these dis-
missals, U.S. Steel in Gary did not make a concerted effort to counter the
first efforts of the unionizing campaign. Foster himself reported trium-
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phantly to Morrison that “in this district the spirit of unionism is raging
through the mills.” In Gary, “many thousands, in every department of the
steel mills, are lining up in the organizations.” At the first organizing
meeting on September 9 the crowd was so large it blocked all surrounding
streets. By February 1919, an organizer was able to claim that the steel
plants there were “at least 75% organized.” David Saposs, a close fol-
lower of the strike, conjectured later that U.S. Steel itself did not actively
oppose organization of its workers in Gary, knowing that it was suffi-
ciently entrenched in Pittsburgh to prevent the unions from gaining an
effective foothold. In any event, the successes of the first organizing ef-
forts in Gary and in the Chicago area inspired the committee to create a
“Chicago District,” appoint a secretary, and move their efforts to Pitts-
burgh, the real heart of the steel industry. Despite their successes, Foster
understood that the committee’s accomplishments remained tenuous so
long as they confined their efforts to Gary. He pleaded with Gompers for
more money and organizers—the committee was “still sadly lacking in
both,” he wrote—in order to establish a truly national campaign.!’

Foster described Pittsburgh and the constellation of steel communities
surrounding it, where approximately 70 percent of the country’s steel
industry was concentrated, as an “amazing and bewildering network of
gigantic steel mills, blast furnaces and fabricating shops.” Theodore
Dreiser, who worked as a reporter for the Pittsburgh Dispatch shortly
after the Homestead strike, remembered that the city, “in spite of the
wealth which it has created for certain individuals,” is “almost always in
trouble. If it is not a steel strike it is a [railroad] car famine, and if it is not
a car famine it is a society scandal, which is almost as bad. . . . Poverty,
filth, wretched laboring conditions on one hand, and, set over against
this, great wealth and great display.” While the technology and profita-
bility of steelmaking undoubtedly improved since the 1892 strike, ac-
cording to Dreiser the community still wore the visage of defeat. Many
steelworkers in 1919 maintained vivid memories of the demoralizing fail-
ures unionism had suffered in previous decades.!¢

Perhaps no other American city provided as clear an illustration of the
transformation that industrialism had wrought in working-class commu-
nities by 1919. During an 1877 strike against the Pennsylvania Railroad,
striking trainmen in Pittsburgh generated wide support in the city for
their grievances. Miners and ironworkers struck in sympathy with the
railroad employees, and as in the violent Philadelphia street railway strike
in which Foster participated as a young man in 1895, newspapers and
local officials expressed an understanding of the complaints of working-
men against corporate “monopoly.” However, by 1919, the development
of the steel industry had entailed a new set of social relations in the city.
One of Foster’s central insights, derived from a decade of involvement in
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conflicts arising from the “new unionism,” was that a strong impulse
toward workers’ control could arise within the context of active craft
traditions. However, in Pittsburgh, the steelmasters had long since under-
stood this truth, and had acted decisively to constrict the influence and
power of skilled workingmen in their factories. The reorganization of
work, in turn, resulted in drastic changes in the community.!”

The relentless erosion of the culture of the craft worker in Pittsburgh
and the arrival of thousands of immigrant laborers to man the new steel
mills helped to undermine the kind of community-wide consensus that
had characterized reaction to the 1877 labor unrest. The expansion of
industrial capitalism in the city, according to one historian, took workers
from different backgrounds and “molded them not into a unified work-
ing class but into a segmented mass with deep fissures running along occu-
pational, neighborhood, racial, and cultural lines.” In a milieu of increas-
ing fragmentation, U.S. Steel came to exercise more and more influence in
the social life of Pittsburgh. The corporation pursued a bifurcated strat-
egy for maintaining its ascendancy. As it sought to achieve unmediated
and direct authority in the workplace, the steel industry invested heavily
in the social and cultural life of the city. Accordingly, its status in the
wider community grew; by 1919, the workers had lost many of their
allies in the steel towns. Yet, resistance to the imperatives of the compa-
nies remained, however altered in form and extensiveness. Strikes contin-
ued to upset the new equilibrium. The McKees Rock strike of 1909 was
in some ways a prolegomenon to the 1919 strike, showing that “Hunk-
ies” and immigrants could not be dismissed as unorganizable. Moreover,
the city’s laborers contended for political citizenship while evincing dis-
satisfaction with the industrial order in which they were immersed. Immi-
grant workers in 1912 voted heavily for Eugene Debs, and began to make
their political influence felt in Pittsburgh. In certain respects, the fact that
the new ethnic working class increasingly sought to participate as full
citizens in the new Pittsburgh generated even more enmity and fearfulness
among the city’s elites. Thus, when Foster moved the offices of the steel
committee to Pittsburgh, hoping to bring the city’s unskilled immigrant
steelworkers into the AFL, he was entering hostile territory. Floyd Dell
wrote in the radical monthly The Liberator that “Pittsburgh does not
represent ordinary capitalism, the capitalism that bickers and dickers
with organized labor. Pittsburgh is capitalism militant—capitalism
armed to the teeth and carrying a chip on its shoulder.”13

As expected, in Pittsburgh and in the nearby mill towns along the
Monongahela River, Foster’s committee met with immediate opposition.
Most notably, the mayors and city officials of the towns surrounding
Pittsburgh refused to allow public meetings to convene. The inability of
organizers to secure permits to speak, as well as the harassment, beatings,
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and arrests of the committee’s representatives is a continually recurring
theme in Foster’s descriptions of the strike and the organizing drive. As a
former Wobbly who had experience in free speech fights, Foster was fa-
miliar with the problems that radicals confronted in securing a platform
for their views. To employers and civil authorities, however, the IWW
had always represented a revolutionary organization, and had been
treated as such. In 1918, Foster and his organizers represented the AFL,
the putative “legitimate” voice of American workers. After all, Gompers
had served for years on the National Civic Federation, and signs of AFL
power were quite evident in Washington in 1919. William B. Wilson, the
secretary of labor, was a former Mine Workers’ official, and the admini-
stration had applied pressure on the meatpackers in 1918 in favor of the
employees. Yet, following the Armistice, the balance of power in the steel
industry began to return to the employers, as the War Labor Board’s
statutory authority expired. In December, Frank Walsh, the joint chair-
man of the WLB, described it as “a disappointing mirage to the working
people of the country” in a letter to John Fitzpatrick. Walsh believed that
“the employers, by some sort of agreement are holding things back.”?’

Foster was encountering resistance from other quarters as well. He
wrote to Gompers pleading for a meeting of the AFL Executive Council
in Pittsburgh to “reestablish right of assembly in western Pennsylvania.”
If such a conference failed to materialize, “the present campaign to organ-
ize the iron and steel workers will almost certainly fail, so great is the
need.” For the campaign to lose its hard-won gains would be “one of the
worst defeats in the history of trade unionism in this country.” Citing
the fact that a total of only $6,000 had been raised in contributions by the
internationals, and that besides the organizers delegated by the interna-
tionals only one AFL organizer was working full time on the campaign,
Foster complained pointedly that “since its inception, the National Com-
mittee has lacked the backing necessary to the accomplishment of its great
task in hand. It has been neglected and starved, with the present urgent
results.” If the committee had been able to pursue its plan for a national,
simultaneous campaign, unionism “would now be entrenched in the steel
industry beyond all hope of dislodgement.” He made a personal appeal to
Gompers: “I am convinced that there is but one man in the Labor Move-
ment who is equal to our emergency, and that is yourself.” Despite Fos-
ter’s plea, Gompers refused to risk the prestige he had accumulated dur-
ing the war by entering into a quarrel with Pennsylvania politicians; he
probably believed that in any event he could have had little influence over
the situation in the steel towns. He wrote a letter to the mayor of Mc-
Keesport, but the proposed conference never materialized.?°

The committee also felt that Eugene Debs was resisting the movement
they had created. In appearances in the vital Youngstown district, Debs
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complained about the limitations of AFL-style unionism, severely criticiz-
ing the plan of organizing into separate crafts. Foster and two others went
to meet with Debs, bearing a letter signed by twenty-four organizers exco-
riating him for his “reckless” statements. There is no surviving record of
this first meeting between the two labor leaders, but Foster harbored a
deep-seated distrust of Debs. Writing in 1914, he had ridiculed Debs’s
“well-known” failures as a union organizer and his “scientific socialist”
attitude toward the AFL. Now, the caustic letter from the National Com-
mittee carried Foster’s unmistakable imprint: “What in fact, is this move-
ment, with its broad-sweeping scope and solidarity, its low initiation fees
and urgent appeal to the common laborer, but the embodiment of many
ideas long advocated by yourself, stripped of their utopianism and ren-
dered practical?” Debs, after being confronted with the letter, toned
down his attacks, but he could not be induced to lend his prestige to the
organizing campaign. When the strike finally erupted, he sent the com-
mittee a message of support from the Atlanta Penitentiary.?!

As early as November 1918, the committee concluded that a fight for
free speech would be quite vital to the success of their efforts. It was
agreed that “drastic action must be taken to establish the right of assem-
bly in Pittsburgh, or no hope of success could be expected in this cam-
paign.” In the Pittsburgh district, officials in Braddock, Homestead,
Rankin, and McKeesport refused to permit meetings and pressured the
owners of halls not to accommodate organizers. Moreover, according to
the committee, the Pittsburgh press was carrying out a “conspiracy of
silence” against the organizing campaign.?? It was not until May that
organizers were able to convene their first street meetings in McKeesport
without interference. But in mid-June the Mayor issued a summary decree
prohibiting street meetings, and threatening any violators with arrest.
The National Committee decided to force the Mayor to throw organizers
and street-corner speakers in jail. Confronted with this opposition, and
the fact that the organizers were holding large meetings on the street, the
Mayor relented and allowed the use of a hall. In July, a speaking permit
was formally issued that provided that meetings be “subject to police
regulation” (approval of speakers in advance), and that “no speaker shall
talk in any other languages, except the English Language.”?}

Elsewhere in the Pittsburgh district, the story was the same. The cam-
paign seemed to precipitate a clear delineation: the steel companies and
the civil authorities stood arrayed against the unionists and their support-
ers. At Homestead, J. G. Brown, for whom Foster had worked as a tim-
berworkers’ organizer in Seattle, was told point-blank by the burgess that
he would not be able to hold meetings there, nor advertise in the newspa-
per, nor pass out leaflets. Finally, “flying squadrons” of organizers went
into the steel towns around Pittsburgh, determined to hold meetings re-
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gardless of the opposition of local magistrates. Speakers included Foster,
“Mother” Mary Harris Jones, James Mauer of the Pennsylvania Federa-
tion of Labor, and Philip Murray, then President of United Mine Workers
District 5. Foster himself was arrested in Duquesne, Homestead, and
North Clairton.?* The free speech tactic worked in most places, but there
was a tremendous cost. Organizers, despite arrests and beatings, were
able to hold large meetings throughout the Pittsburgh district, in Mc-
Keesport, Homestead, Donora, and Duquesne. However, when meetings
were held, company officials and private detectives often stood outside
the doors, intimidating workers and threatening them with the loss of
their jobs. Walking through “pickets of bosses” to attend organizing
meetings at towns like McKeesport, workers “joined the organization at
the peril of their economic lives,” Foster told the Interchurch World Com-
mission. Around Pittsburgh, “the influence of the Steel Corporation is so
great that it’s almost like sticking your head into the lion’s mouth to un-
dertake a meeting like that.”%

By early summer the organizing drive had exacerbated tensions in the
mill towns to the point of explosion. Foster wrote to Frank Walsh of the
War Labor Board that in Johnstown, the Cambria Steel Company was
“using every stratagem to brand this a bolshevik, hence an illegal, move-
ment.” He and a local organizer were arrested in July for holding a meet-
ing in defiance of the authorities.?® Thousands of newly recruited union
members in Johnstown and elsewhere sought immediate action; unau-
thorized strikes threatened to break out before the movement was strong
enough to sustain a coordinated national walkout. In Gary, organizers
were having difficulty holding their men on the job, according to one
investigator, partly because the IWW was propagandizing heavily among
the workers. In response to this pressure, Foster proposed in April that a
“general conference” of union delegates be held in Pittsburgh. This tactic,
which was used so successfully during the stockyards organizing drive,
was a favorite of Foster’s; he would employ it often during his career in
the Communist party.?’

In the spring of 1919, however, Foster proposed before the steel work-
ers committee that a conference of rank-and-file delegates from newly
organized steel locals would “speed up the work of organization.” By
formulating demands and grievances, such a conference would have the
effect of giving the newly organized workers “something tangible to look
forward to.” At the same time, it would “pacify” restless workers who
threatened to disrupt the national movement by going out in uncoordi-
nated local strikes. Even so, everyone present knew that calling a confer-
ence was a potentially dangerous step; once a set of demands was publi-
cized, the pressure would be on the union to present the grievances to the
employers. A number of delegates from the participating internationals
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warned against such a conference. Several cautioned against “anything
that would tend to make the movement go off half-cocked.” It was feared
that restless workers might “get . . . started into action that might catch
us unprepared.”?®

Nevertheless, the committee voted in favor of a conference. When 583
rank-and-file delegates convened in Pittsburgh the following month, most
came with the idea that they would be in a position to take “decisive
action.” The workers, however, were quickly disabused of this notion by
the few international officers present who, in the words of David Saposs,
“took it upon themselves to guard the powers of the Internationals.” Mi-
chael Tighe, the president of the Amalgamated, “warned the conference
of the danger of usurping powers not properly belonging to it.” Quite
pointedly, he read a letter to the gathering that he had written “along
these lines” to Foster. Clearly, the conference would not be permitted to
call a strike, or even recommend one. By the spring of 1919, the experi-
ence of Dennis Lane’s Butcher Workmen with the Stockyards Labor
Council was undoubtedly a factor in Tighe’s thinking. However, the
Pittsburgh conference did take several important steps that pressured the
steel workers’ committee and the internationals in new ways. First, de-
mands were stated, but not yet formalized, in numerous resolutions. The
eight-hour day with double time for overtime and holidays, minimum
wage scales, and protection against arbitrary dismissal were among the
grievances represented in these resolutions. In addition, proposals were
submitted for a universal transfer card, as well as a broadened iron and
steelworkers’ department that would formalize the ad hoc structure of the
National Committee. Both proposals were referred to the forthcoming
convention of the AFL in Atlantic City. There, the ideas were shelved.
Most important, though, were proposals for a universal transfer card and
an iron- and steelworkers’ department, both of which would begin to
infringe upon or blur craft jurisdictions in the steel industry.?’

In his later writings, Foster focused on the “sabotage” of the steel or-
ganizing campaign by AFL officials. It is true that the top leaders of the
AFL trades involved only rarely participated in the deliberations of the
National Committee. This, however, may have worked to Foster’s advan-
tage. Without high officials present, it was probably easier for him to
push through votes and resolutions to pressure the internationals into
action. Even so, few AFL officials of any importance spoke in Pennsylva-
nia during the important free speech struggles. Gompers himself never
delivered a speech in the organizing districts, preferring to remain in
Washington much of the time. At a crucial juncture in the campaign, in
the weeks before the Pittsburgh conference, the Amalgamated sought a
separate understanding with U.S. Steel. This move openly threatened the
existence of the larger movement, and probably served to underline its
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weakness to Elbert Gary. During the organizing campaign, representa-
tives of the internationals on the National Committee complained that
their presidents were reneging on promised financial aid, were not dele-
gating enough organizers, and were themselves not showing enough in-
terest. Although Foster in retrospect believed that there was a conscious
effort by AFL officials to undermine the campaign, the internationals
were also justifiably cautious about committing many resources to an
effort that had failed so disastrously in the past.?

Moreover, in April, an important article had appeared in The Nation
that probably alarmed high AFL officials. The author, George P. West,
proposed that the progressive unionists in Chicago, under the leadership
of John Fitzpatrick, were seeking to undermine the Gompers regime. Cit-
ing the steel and packing campaigns, West proposed that “today the most
important industrial movements, or economic movements, as Mr. Gom-
pers calls them, are entirely out of the hands of Mr. Gompers and his
lieutenants.” Instead, “they are in the hands of John Fitzpatrick and his
associates of the Chicago Federation of Labor.” Although Gompers had
given his perfunctory support to the steel drive, it “is the most important
enterprise undertaken by organized labor in the industrial field in a gener-
ation. Yet officials of the Federation not only did not initiate it, but they
had to be dragooned into giving it aggressive support.” West, apparently,
had arrived at this perspective while loitering in the committee’s Pitts-
burgh office, and through conversations with Foster. His article, accord-
ing to Foster, “created consternation in our ranks.” Gompers demanded
a refutation. In response, Fitzpatrick wrote a reply to The Nation, in
which he lauded Gompers and gave him credit for the success of the pack-
inghouse drive and the initiative behind the steel campaign. Fitzpatrick’s
rejoinder to the West article was reprinted in the Chicago Labor News.
However, the question of Fitzpatrick’s and Foster’s aims had been raised
quite publicly.3!

Thus, at the Pittsburgh conference, little could be done, given the limi-
tations imposed upon it, than appeal for negotiations with the steel com-
panies. Yet, most present, including Foster, anticipated that the steel in-
dustries would never consent to meet with the committee. After all, that
would be tantamount to union recognition. Six weeks earlier, Gary had
refused to meet with representatives of the Amalgamated who, acting on
their own, had requested a separate conference. “As you know,” Gary
wrote, “we do not confer, negotiate with, or combat labor unions as
such. We stand for the open shop.” Thus Foster, by calling a conference
of the discontented steel workers, had maneuvered the committee into a
position where it had to begin considering a strike.3?

Realizing that the Pittsburgh conference had accomplished very little in
the way of addressing their demands, many recently organized steelwork-
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ers began to lose faith in the committee, and it became evident that “im-
mediate action” had to be taken in order to maintain the allegiance of the
rank and file. By July, Foster was pushing for the taking of a strike vote;
he reported that “some action must be taken that will secure relief. All
over the entire steel district the men are in a state of great unrest.” He
confronted the committee with a letter from Samuel Gompers that indi-
cated that efforts to arrange a conference between Elbert Gary and the
steel committee had been unsuccessful.3® The committee, faced with
Gary’s refusal and the desire, continually reiterated by Foster, of the rank
and file for immediate action, resolved to ask the internationals to take a
strike vote. Fitzpatrick was in favor of pressing ahead, thinking that a
strike vote would impel the government to intervene. However, two cru-
cial unions, the Amalgamated and the UMW, voted against Foster’s pro-
posal. Despite this breach, the other affiliated unions voted to go ahead;
the final vote was twelve to two in favor—not unanimous, as Foster later
reported. A list of twelve demands was presented, which included the
right of collective bargaining, reduction of hours, standardized wage
scales, and abolition of company unions.*

As Foster had likely anticipated, the decision to go ahead with the
strike vote, as well as the formalization of the steelworkers’ demands,
gave the organizing campaign an important boost. Again, he knew from
his experience with the stockyards campaign that such an action would
help bring workers into the unions. Two days after the decision of the
National Committee, he met with Tighe and Davis of the Amalgamated.
“They stated frankly that they would do the best they can to make the
move a success and would go along with it all the way. They showed a
very good spirit,” Foster told John Fitzpatrick. By this time, the Amalga-
mated was not really in a position to resist. After the humiliating rebuff
of their independent overture to Judge Gary, and given the overwhelming
vote of the National Committee to canvass the workers on the question of
striking, Tighe and Davis had to at least appear to go along with the
national movement. A little over a week later, as workers surged into the
unions in anticipation of the strike vote, the officers of the Amalgamated
were even more enthusiastic. To Fitzpatrick, Foster reported that “the
campaign is going along like a house afire now.” In Monessen, six hun-
dred workers signed up in the space of two days, and in McKeesport, the
committee was in the process of distributing one thousand applications to
the respective craft unions. Most importantly, according to Foster, the
Amalgamated was “going along fine with the strike vote proposition.”
He had had a “long talk with Mike Tighe and he takes a very friendly
attitude towards me.” The Amalgamated had one important reason to
support the idea of a strike vote: it promised to boost membership. Be-
tween August 1, 1918, and December 1920, the union would sign up
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seventy thousand members. Thus, Foster was encouraged in late July, as
the unions were taking the vote. “I think there will be good cooperation
all along the line in this big move,” he told Fitzpatrick. “From all indica-
tions at this end of the line, I think we have the steel companies on the
hip.”%

The response to the strike vote was overwhelming; upward of 90 per-
cent voted in favor of authorizing their internationals to call a strike.
However, the committee itself did not have the authority to call a strike
or set a date; this power still rested in the hands of the internationals.
Again, Foster took the initiative. On September 4, he called a “special
meeting” of the committee, where he outlined the increasingly vigorous
steps the steel companies were taking to interfere with the organizing ef-
fort. He reported that it was necessary that “some measures” be consid-
ered “to protect our men and to defend their rights.” In late August, Fitz-
patrick, Foster, and Davis had called on Gary at his offices in New York;
their overtures for a conference were summarily rejected. This is what led
to the futile appeal to Woodrow Wilson in the White House on August
28.

Thus, at the “special” meeting of the committee, “the advisability of
setting the strike date was discusse[d] pro and con at great length.” It was
finally decided to convene the committee in Washington, and invite the
presidents of the internationals with the power to put out a strike call to
attend. At this important conference, a thorough review of the situation
was made. It could not have surprised many in attendance that Gary had
continued to refuse to negotiate with the National Committee. Foster
confronted those present with a series of telegrams and letters from steel
organizers across the country stating that “unless the National Commit-
tee does something they would have to take the matter into their own
hands.” A typical telegram from Youngstown read: “We cannot be ex-
pected to meet enraged workers who will consider us traitors if strike is
postponed.” He argued that “conditions are as favorable for a deter-
mined stand in the steel industry as they are likely to be.” Joseph Manley,
an associate of Foster’s from Home Colony, the SLNA, and the ITUEL,
who was the representative of the Bridge and Structural Iron Workers on
the committee, stated that he believed the “situation is such that defensive
action is absolutely necessary.” Foster proposed that “if no action is
taken now our movement will rapidly go to pieces, thru spasmodic
strikes. To stop the movement now is out of the question.” He even voted
against sending yet another telegram to Woodrow Wilson seeking inter-
vention with Gary. However, he was in the minority, and the telegram
was sent. Wilson’s reply, received the next day, contained no assurances;
the strike date was then set for September 22. According to Foster, Tighe
was the one who finally proposed the date.3¢
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United States that the strike be at least postponed, insisted on that disas-
trous struggle.”?’

Foster himself received some pointed personal challenges. James Kline,
the influential president of the Biacksmiths Union, argued that Gompers
was wrong in urging a delay. “You will not be able to hold the men in the
shops longer than the 22nd,” he wrote. Workers “feel the humiliation of
being ignored and when statements are made to Chambers of Commerce
by the Capitalists to ‘treat ’em rough,” and that they have the ammunition
and foodstuffs enough inside the plants to last them a long while, they are
red-blooded enough to go to a test.” Besides, “delays are going to put
members in the ‘O.B.U.” [One Big Union or IWW].” From the other side
in the developing war, Foster received a number of arrogant missives.
One sheriff wrote to forbid meetings of “your Anti-American move-
ment,” warning that he “represents the majesty of the law, and is abso-
lutely required to maintain peace at all hazards, and hence is given what-
ever powers are necessary to this end.” An “Employer” wrote “strike—
you fools and get your licking. The public is sick and tired of your arro-
gance. . . . Such undesirables as you should be deported with the rest of
the IWW and the quicker it is done the better for the Country. You agita-
tors are never satisfied unless you are breaking up homes and causing
misery. The only thing that will settle you is powder and shot and you
will get it, if you keep up your performance.” It was simply not in Foster’s
character to decline such challenges.*®

The type of movement that William Foster had helped build among the
nation’s steelworkers in 1919 is indicated by the fact that by the sched-
uled date of the strike many workers had already walked out. By Septem-
ber 20, the Friday before the strike date, five hundred immigrant workers
had ceased work at the Pittsburgh Steel Company in Monessen. Also,
mills in Martin’s Ferry, Ohio, as well as the Laughlin Plant of the Ameri-
can Sheet and Tin Plate Company in Pittsburgh were closed by early
walkouts of immigrant steelworkers. Only hours before the strike, con-
stabularies rode their horses through an “unauthorized” meeting of “po-
tential” strikers in North Clairton, clubbing onlookers and arresting
strike leaders. In Allegheny County, a proclamation was issued that pro-
scribed gatherings of three or more individuals in one place; in Mc-
Keesport, local unions were prohibited from holding even business meet-
ings. Nationally, approximately a quarter-million steelworkers were on
strike by the end of September. This represented nearly half of the indus-
try’s total work force. In western Pennsylvania, however, the strike was
not as immediately successful as in other districts. Here, a fundamental
divergence arose between native-born and immigrant workers; the latter
proved much more willing to strike. As a result, local authorities found it
easier to attack the strike movement in the area surrounding Pittsburgh as
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essentially “un-American.” The local and national press followed suit. A
correspondent for the New York Tribune, filing his front-page dispatch
the day before the strike, reported from Pittsburgh that “foreign steel
workers have been told by labor organizers that the general strike of the
employees of the steel mills, which is to begin tomorrow, is the revolu-
tion. . . . There is no doubt that many of the Slav workers, with hazy but
rosy visions of the Russian economic revolution in their minds, think that
Monday will mark the beginning of the revolution in America.”%

In other districts, the unity of the strikers was more pronounced, at
least in the first weeks. Skilled and unskilled, native and immigrant work-
ers stood together. In Gary, South Chicago, and Johnstown, for example,
the mills were nearly empty on the first day of the strike. Even in numer-
ous smaller steel towns, including some in the Pittsburgh district like
Donora or Monessen, workers successfully ignored intimidation and
stayed away from their jobs.*® For Foster, of course, the dominant meta-
phor for the organization and conduct of the strike was warfare. His
classic account of the strike, The Great Steel Strike and Its Lessouns, is
replete with references to wartime “tactics,” and he often refers to the
actions of authorities in the steel towns as if the conflict had been an
armed battle.*! To a significant degree, he was correct. Burgesses and
police chiefs deputized numerous citizens in preparation for the strike,
and often laid away storehouses of weapons to be used in the event of
violence. An atmosphere of oppression descended over the towns of the
Pittsburgh steel district. Heavily armed mounted constabularies patrolled
streets in immigrant neighborhoods. As a syndicalist Foster had, years
earlier, proposed that capitalism had “organized the whole fabric of soci-
ety with a view to keeping the working class in slavery.” The belief that
strikes were capable of creating systemic and generalized crises for capi-
talism had provided much of the framework for Foster’s conception of
labor organizing in the 1910s. During the 1919 steel strike, he observed,
western Pennsylvania was “controlled body and soul by the Steel Trust.
The whole district has the psychology of a company-owned town. All
authority centers in the steel industry. From there practically every insti-
tution takes its orders.”*? Foster’s conception of society as system was
seemingly vindicated by many of his experiences during the steel strike,
but in many places, labor achieved a significant degree of power and unity
when forced to confront capital on its own terrain.

There was a much larger sense of the stake for labor as well. Hundreds
of local unions throughout the United States, from the Theatre Ushers in
Brooklyn and Ice Cream Wagon Drivers in Washington, D.C., to the Gar-
ment Workers in New York City contributed over $400,000 to the strike
effort.®3
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Like the McKees Rock strike of 1909, the 1919 strike was a movement
in which unskilled, immigrant workers, heretofore considered unorgan-
izable by the AFL, played a large role. Foster pointedly termed the opposi-
tion to the strike by civil authorities a “white terror.” He noted that “the
backbone of this strike are the foreign workers.” Before the Interchurch
World Commission, he repeated the standard AFL line on immigration:
“Any criticism about the unions being un-American is all to be directed
against the employer for bringing that class of men over here and putting
them into his mill. We organize them after they get here—we don’t bring
them over here.” Although the American-born worker “makes the best
type of union man,” he is “hard to organize,” Foster continued. How-
ever, the immigrant worker, he asserted, “has that group idea very
strongly developed,” since in Europe he had come to learn that “if there
is any possible chance for him to do anything he feels that it is as a group,
not as an individual.” During a strike, the immigrant “is a splendid
fighter. He has the American beaten when it comes to a fight.” Foster,
characteristically, was optimistic about the possibility of organizational
unity among the foreign-born and unskilled steelworkers; otherwise he
would not have attempted the drive in the first place. Nevertheless, deep
ethnic divisions marked the conduct of the strike. In Johnstown, for ex-
ample, immigrant strikers held their own meetings in separate neighbor-
hood enclaves, and picketed in national groupings at the mill gates. Na-
tional Committee organizers sought to convince more skilled native
workers that “hothead” demands of immigrant strikers for the establish-
ment of industrial unionism and the immediate satisfaction of shop-floor
grievances could be delayed, or at least settled within the context of tradi-
tional AFL-style bargaining.**

Foster seemed obsessed with the figure of Fannie Sellins, a highly effec-
tive United Mine Workers organizer and activist who was shot to death
during a violent confrontation between unionists and vigilantes in Au-
gust. The national office of the committee had grotesque photos of the
dead Mrs. Sellins displayed prominently on its walls, and Foster men-
tioned her death whenever the opportunity arose. Despite Foster’s at-
tempts to make her into a martyr, Judge Gary argued that his company
had no plants in Breckinridge where Sellins was killed, and the press
made very little of her murder. Foster later wrote to Upton Sinclair that
the fact that she had been killed at a non-U.S. Steel plant “was purely an
accident, as any of the other steel companies would have been just about
as glad to do the job.” Those who were implicated in the shooting were
not brought to trial until four years after the fact, and were finally acquit-
ted by a jury that issued a statement implying that Sellins’s death was
justified because of her involvement in “bolshevik” activities.*’
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Foster’s office in Pittsburgh was unprepossessing. Mary Harris
(“Mother”) Jones remembered that chairs were not allowed in the office
during the steel strike since any gathering would then be construed as a
“meeting” and hence subject to regulation by the authorities. Besides the
photos of Fannie Sellins, many posters were on the walls; one was a war-
tine poster entitled “Americans All,” showing men of many different na-
tionalities fighting under the American flag. The office employed only a
stenographer and a publicity director; Sylvia Manley, Foster’s adopted
daughter, worked as a secretary. Esther was a frequent visitor. There was
no reception area outside the small office, so organizers, strikers, and
reporters filed in and out in an unregulated flow. Mary Heaton Vorse,
who had the opportunity to observe Foster during the strike, remembered
him as an indefatigable worker who, despite the long hours he put in at
the strike center, remained “composed, confident, unemphatic and im-
perishably unruffled.” Journalists generally focused on Foster’s executive
ability and found that unlike the stereotypical radical of the time, he was
“quiet mannered” and “soft-spoken.” He had “an unusual memory and
carries in his head what most men would keep in elaborate files,” accord-
ing to one reporter; “the general judgment of those who have been in
close contact with him is that he is a leader of exceptional ability.” The
New Republic even noted that Foster “speaks elaborately of the details of
the scientific management of strikes.” At a time when it was often as-
sumed that the “distorted” minds of radicals were readily discernible in
their supposedly misshapen features, Foster’s physiognomy seemed nor-
mal enough. “He has a good head, small ears, keen, clear eyes, the jaw
and chin of a leader of men,” one reporter observed. On the other hand,
John Brophy, then a delegate from the UMW to the National Committee
who saw Foster speak several times, recalled that while Foster lacked the
grandiloquent style of a Fitzpatrick, Gompers, or John L. Lewis, he
“talked a vigorous militant language, in the conventional terms of trade
unionism.,”*

From the very beginning of the strike, Foster was portrayed as the
brains and active force behind the organizing drive. One steel company
official even referred to the strike as being led, not by the AFL, but by the
“Foster organization.” To some extent, individuals who had a stake in
the failure of the strike sought to portray Foster as the plotting “genius”
behind the movement in order to discredit it. However, much of the or-
ganizational impetus for the strike had in fact originated with Foster.
Within the organization itself, there were unmistakable signs of Foster’s
influence. Two close associates of his, former SLNA members Joseph
Manley and Samuel Hammersmark, showed up in the National Commit-
tee’s minutes as playing significant roles in the organizing campaign.
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Manley, Foster’s son-in-law, surfaced as the committee’s delegate from
the Bridge and Structural Iron Workers in July 1919, at a crucial point in
the organizing drive, and served with Foster and one other individual on
the important committee in charge of organizing the strike vote. Ham-
mersmark was a local organizer in the Youngstown district. J. G. Brown,
a friend of Jay Fox’s for whom Foster had worked as a timberworkers’
organizer in Washington, was a member of the national organizing com-
mittee, and belonged to the “flying squadrons” that spoke in the steel
towns despite the prohibitions of local authorities. One observer de-
scribed Brown as Foster’s “chief aide in the conduct of the strike.” Later,
he took over the steel committee after Foster resigned.*’

An important question in the minds of observers of the strike in its first
days was the extent to which Samuel Gompers supported the strike. De-
spite Foster’s claim in The Great Steel Strike and Its Lessons that Gom-
pers’s last-minute request to delay the strike was “qualified,” the meaning
of the AFL president’s entreaty had been unmistakable, and the National
Committee’s rejection of his request provided a powerful argument for
those who sought to portray the movement as being in the hands of
radicals.*®

How did the AFL president perceive Foster’s role? In his autobiogra-
phy, Gompers remembered that he had listened to a speech by Foster at
a CFL meeting before the war in which he stated that he “supported in
full the fundamental principles, the ideas, the methods, philosophy, and
policy of the American Federation of Labor.” Gompers claimed to have
been convinced by Foster’s change of heart: “He was a man of ability, a
man of good presence, gentle in expression, a commander of good En-
glish, and I encouraged him.” As a result, Gompers was, initially at least,
“really pleased with his selection as secretary of the organizing commit-
tee.”* There is no question that without Gompers’s acquiescence, at
least, the officers of the internationals would not have participated in the
campaign in the first place. However, as the committee’s organizing ef-
forts took shape throughout 1918-19, Gompers may have had some mis-
givings. The AFL assigned a high-ranking organizer the task of secretly
monitoring the content of Foster’s speeches.’° It was during this period
that the Stockyards Labor Council was engaging in open warfare with
Dennis Lane’s Butcher Workmen international in Chicago; the SLC had
been organized by Foster and Fitzpatrick along much the same lines as the
steelworkers’ committee. Gompers, whom Foster later characterized as
“nobody’s fool,” was undoubtedly aware of Foster’s radical past in the
early stages of the steelworkers organizing campaign. If Gompers himself
did not remember Foster’s disruptive attacks on the AFL at the Budapest
conference cf the international trade union secretariat in 1911, then
James Duncan, an AFL vice president who had witnessed Foster’s perfor-
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mance there, undoubtedly reminded him at some point early in the cam-
paign. Foster offered to resign if his secretaryship proved harmful to the
movement.’!

However, Gompers went along with the organizing campaign. To
some degree, he had little choice. As the steelworkers’ campaign esca-
lated, Gompers was hardly in a position openly to resist, especially given
the fact that Foster repeatedly emphasized that he intended to employ
only strict “trade union principles.” Because he was in Europe during
crucial periods, Gompers was not in an advantageous position to exercise
close control over the development of the organizing drive. Moreover, the
steel campaign, at least initially, promised to increase AFL. membership
quite dramatically. Yet, at the crucial point when it was necessary for
Gompers to demonstrate some control over the steelworkers movement,
too much momentum had already accrued. When the strike date arrived,
the public pressure increased even further on Gompers to take a stand. In
the first week of the walkout, the New York Tribune editorialized that
“for the first time in its history, the American Federation of Labor turned
over its vast power, its good will, its organization, to a wild revolution-
ary, an avowed advocate of violence and bloodshed.” The question was:
“What does Mr. Gompers say?” At the same time, it was not unusual for
newspapers to interpret Foster’s actions as an attempt to take over the
leadership of the AFL from the aging Gompers. “If the strike is successful
it is expected by labor leaders here that Foster, who has been the chief
figure in it, would bulk large in the councils of the AFL, and might suc-
ceed in giving the policy of that organization a turn in a more radical and
socialistic direction,” the New York Times warned.> Gompers may have
overestimated the degree of control he could exercise over both the strike
and his “dangerous ward,” as one newspaper described Foster. He was
undoubtedly dismayed by the position he found himself in, and resentful
of the roles played by Foster and Fitzpatrick.

Inevitably, Foster’s authorship of Syndicalism became an important pub-
lic issue. Congressmen and senators fulminated against the phrases it con-
tained, editorialists expressed outrage, and AFL officials sought to por-
tray Foster’s pamphlet, written seven years earlier, as inconsistent with
the aims of the strike. Several of the more violent and radical passages in
the small book were quoted at length in many newspapers and maga-
zines. The rhetoric of Syndicalism and the fact that Foster had written the
tract were as much as many Americans ever knew about the strike.’® In-
deed, Foster’s pronouncements seemed to lend credence to widely held
suspicions that radicals and bolsheviks were conspiring to undermine
American institutions. Foster’s statement in Syndicalism that the radical
trade unionist must be absolutely “unscrupulous” in his methods height-
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ened the tension, and rendered his own disavowals problematic. The un-
fortunate phrase “boring from within” was resurrected, and, moreover,
his methods seemed to fit perfectly not only with Foster’s avowed aims in
Syndicalism, but with his later pronouncements in Trade Unionism: The
Road to Freedom. While he accused the steel companies of ordering mas-
sive reprints of Syndicalism for distribution in the steel towns and among
the press, Foster himself passed out copies of Trade Unionism at strike
headquarters in Pittsburgh.** Although the rhetoric in this pamphlet was
much less violent and anarchist in tone, it essentially reaffirmed the mes-
sage of Syndicalism that radicals should “bore from within” in the AFL
in order to bring about the new society. If Foster tried to illustrate the
evolution of his views by distributing Trade Unionism, he was only partly
successful. “Foster’s Latest Pamphlet Shows Views Unchanged,” the New
York Tribune headlined.>> At the same time, because his intelligent and
quiet demeanor seemed to contrast so starkly with his writings, Foster
posed more of a threat, somehow, than other “agitators.” “Critics of
Foster believe that, owing to his manner of address and his appeal to
thought, he is doubly a menace,” one observer noted. Foster seemed to
embody too many contradictions to fit comfortably into the mold of the
archetypical American radical during the developing red scare.

Yet he was the leader of a movement that expressed the deep contradic-
tions and schisms of American society at the end of the Progressive era.
Although he was American-born, a highly skilled railway worker, and an
adherent of the methods of the AFL, he had taken a large hand in organiz-
ing a movement that many Americans associated with the foreign-born,
or those whose “citizenship” was considered ambiguous. At one point, he
found it necessary publicly to affirm his citizenship “in face of doubts that
he is an American.” Speaking on the floor of the House of Representa-
tives, Congressman John G. Cooper of the Mahoning district in Ohio
proclaimed that Foster was a leader of the radical element within organ-
ized labor, which is “especially appealing to men of foreign birth who
have little or no conception of American ideals and institutions.” Further-
more, Foster himself, “by his own words, shows his unfitness as a labor
leader and disqualifies himself as an American citizen enjoying the protec-
tion of the American flag.”*® One writer proposed that Foster was “a
revolutionary of the Lenine type,” while another observer noted that
“this man Foster is a native-born citizen. He is a most dangerous leader
and a dangerous domestic enemy.”*” Thus Foster seemed, as an individ-
ual, to symbolize the collapsing of previous social categories, and the re-
ordering of traditional conceptions of radicalism and its origins. As his
statements in Syndicalism suggested, Foster had little or no regard for the
rhetoric of “democracy” or the traditional “rights” of workingmen and
citizens. Yet as a new type of labor radical, one who putatively sought
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looked to workers’ empowerment through unionism as the most impor-
tant end that radicals could pursue, given the “underdeveloped” state of
workers’ consciousness at the time. Foster believed, as did many capital-
ists, in the radical implications of the new unionism. The problem, of
course, was how to convince revolutionaries and socialists that trade un-
ionism was implicitly radical, while maintaining the vital advantage of
“legitimacy” that protected the movement from various forms of repres-
sion.

Foster’s solution to this problem entailed a full-blown rationale for
deception, which he clearly explained in his more recently published writ-
ings—not just in the rhetoric about revolutionary “unscrupulousness” in
syndicalism, which company publicists and newspapermen delighted in
quoting, but also in his later polemic, Trade Unionism: The Road to Free-
dom, published in 1916. In Trade Unionism, Foster’s belief in the neces-
sity of deception is more understated, but the implication is clear. Because
trade unionism “strikes at the very heart of capitalism” and is a “radical”
solution, its advocates must dissemble and deceive:

True, the Trade Union Movement itself doesn’t generally propagate the
idea that it aims at the overthrow of the wages system. But this is because it
has not yet become conscious of its full mission. Consequently, too much
weight should not be given such conservative slogans as “A fair day’s pay for
a fair day’s work,” and “The interests of Capital and Labor are identical.”
These expressions are not basic. In actual practice little or no attention is
paid to them. They are for foreign consumption. Their purpose is to deceive
and disarm the opposition. This form of deception, which is usually uncon-
scious, is used by all aggressive social movements.

Foster’s rationale for this tactic was bound up with Social Darwinism,
and his habitual dismissal of the social conventions of modern capitalism
as epiphenomenal. “Even the great ruling capitalist class finds [deception]
indispensable. Strong as it is this great class would be speedily squelched
did it not continually hide its nefarious schemes of exploitation under a
hypocritical mask of patriotism, morality, benevolence, and the like.”
Shortly after the conclusion of the steel strike, Foster again reflected on
the necessity for subterfuge, using many of the same phrases as in Trade
Unionism. Why have radicals dismissed trade unions as “merely pallia-
tive bodies?” It is because, “like various other aggressive social move-
ments,” unions have to instinctively camouflage their aims, in order “to
pacify and disarm the opposition. This is the function of such expressions
as, “A fair day’s pay for a fair day’s work,” “The interests of Capital and
Labor are identical,” etc.”® It was a common-sense approach, but it ef-
fectively limited Foster in the war of labor against capital to the gray
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nether world of “deceptive” phraseology and hard organizational imper-
atives.

For Foster, the steel strike was part of an essentially radical enterprise,
yet this did not entail the necessity of establishing or even advocating
industrial unionism as a primary issue. Earlier in the decade, as a result of
his visit to Germany, he had decided that industrial unionism did not, as
a form of organization, necessarily indicate the existence of revolutionary
consciousness among workers. In the United States, he believed, true in-
dustrial unionism was an unrealistic objective at the time. He had an
important tactical reason to reject the idea of One Big Union during a
period when the term was often associated either with the IWW or “for-
eigners.” However, Foster later claimed that he had sought, through the
strike, to “break down the old system of craft unionism and lay the basis”
for the development of industrial unionism.’® Foster was characterized by
the Interchurch World Commission as having “combatted the natural
tendency of sections of the rank and file toward industrial unionism.”
The commission took pains, in its reports on the strike and its outcome,
to emphasize that the strike had been conducted according to accepted
“trade-union methods.” Foster, it was reported, “was constantly com-
plaining of fighting the radicals, meaning those who wanted a general
strike called.” David Saposs was closest to the mark when he termed the
organizational theory behind the steel strike as “opportunistic-industrial
unionism. %

Saposs, a close acquaintance of Foster’s who had occasion to discuss
the strike with him, affirmed Foster’s long-held animus against the “uto-
pian” TWW, which, because of its impossibilist perspective, “narrows its
function to propaganda purposes only.” Neither was Foster in sympathy
with “the one big union idea which would scramble together the workers
of various crafts and industries. . . . This he regards as artificial and vi-
sionary.” Fitzpatrick, at one point, was quoted as saying that “only idiots
believe in the general strike.” “Mother” Jones, at a Chicago Federation of
Labor meeting, had a purely pragmatic, ecumenical message for strikers
and radicals: “I want to say to you men and women: Stop quarreling
about ‘isms.” Put aside your sentimental rot, get into the trenches and
demand a civilization where men can live.” Eugene Debs, who was not
ordinarily sympathetic to AFL-style unionism, wrote from his prison cell
in Atlanta that “If I should get out of this prison today, I would be in Gary
or Pittsburgh tomorrow.” He now warned that the nation’s workers
might “lay down their work and be swept into a revolution with cyclonic
fury” in sympathy with the steel strikers.®! Foster knew, quite realisti-
cally, that the central issues for most steelworkers in the fall of 1919 were
wages, hours, and working conditions. However, his belief in the neces-
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sity of the “evolution” of the labor movement did not prevent him from
bringing up the issues of a steelworkers’ department and universal mem-
bership transfer in AFL councils. If the extent of the walkout confirmed
that a truly “general” strike was an untenable proposition at the time,
Foster welcomed and encouraged indications of solidarity with the steel-
workers. Shortly after the strike began, he expressed enthusiasm over the
fact that in some districts railway trainmen and switchmen refused to
participate in the hauling of steel to and from the plants that had been
struck. At the same time, he was always careful to present his objectives
in prosaic terms. When asked whether he favored the socialization of the
steel industry, he replied that “I’'m just an organizer. I'm not a steel man.
I organized the packing industry, and then moved on. After I get through
with this strike I’ll take up something else.”®2

It 1s impossible to know whether Foster hoped statements such as these
would reassure authorities. In any event, as the strike entered its first
months, local police, civic groups, and elected officials treated the strikers
as if they were dangerous revolutionaries. Gary and Chicago, where or-
ganizers had initially met with their most encouraging successes, were the
focus of much anti-“bolshevik” activity. Syndicalism was widely circu-
lated in Gary by U.S. Steel and the Loyal American League as evidence
that extremists were in control of the strike. Foster, according to the
league, believed in “the overthrow of American institutions . . . and the
domination of all America by the labor tyranny known as syndicalism.”
Unfortunately, amid such hysteria, the real issues of the strike in Gary
were obscured. Workers’ demands for collective bargaining, an eight-
hour day, six-day week, and increased wages became secondary concerns
in the local press. The Gary Daily Tribune advocated the denial of free
speech to radicals and the deportation of “disloyal” aliens, while the
organ of the CFL, The New Majority, was banned during the strike.
State and then federal troops arrived in the city in response to the entreat-
ies of General Leonard Wood. The “steel city” was quickly transformed
into a garrison town. Machine-gun squads were established at strategic
points, and infantry patrolled the streets. Martial law was declared, strike
meetings were restricted, picketing was prohibited, and the military
raided the homes of Gary’s socialists and radicals. Despite the assiduous
efforts of the Army Intelligence Division, investigators failed to turn
up any concrete evidence that the strike in Gary was led by radical
elements.

Foster wrote soon after the strike that “ours are days when the organ-
ized employers, inspired by a horrible fear of the onward sweep of revolu-
tion in Europe and the irresistible advance of the labor movement in this
country, are robbing the people over-night of their most precious rights,
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shown that it is dangerous to permit the congregation of large numbers of
people during times of stress and excitement.”®’ Numerous full-page ad-
vertisements were taken out in newspapers claiming that the strike was a
failure and urging workers to return to the plants. Mary Heaton Vorse
attempted to generate a publicity campaign to counter the propaganda
and accusations, but Foster, much to her dismay, couldn’t “bear to spend
a cent for anything but relief.” In the meantime, in Pennsylvania, “civil
liberties became a dead letter.” The Wall Street Journal justified the re-
pressive measures with the imprecation that “the leaders of the steel strike
are apostles of violence with the destruction of any form of law as a first
principle.”%

Foster proved unable effectively to refute such charges. On October 3,
he was called to testify before a Senate committee that had been hurriedly
assembled to investigate the strike. If one were to specify a vital and most
illuminating moment in Foster’s life as a radical, this was surely it. His
testimony embodied the contradictions, dangers, and tautologies that
would pursue him in his later career as a Communist. He had always
been, in a certain sense, an “invisible” man; now the protean labor organ-
izer, radical, anarchist, “bolshevik”—each label had been applied with
equal conviction—was called publicly to account.

Foster’s performance must be considered in light of two basic facts.
First, he was in a situation where a complete and convincing renunciation
of his radical past would undoubtedly have helped to relieve the public
pressure that was being brought against the strike and its leadership.
Secondly, Foster had no compunction about not telling the truth to the
committee; indeed, he was theoretically committed to the necessity of
“camouflaging” labor’s cause. Besides, ominous statements had been
made recently by men in government. Representative Julius Kahn, chair-
man of the Military Affairs Committee of the House of Representatives,
had proposed that in light of Foster’s authorship of Syndicalism, the steel
strike leader might be prosecuted for murder. As in the Haymarket affair
in the previous century, the possibility was raised that a radical could be
tried for a crime simply by appearing to advocate it. Here, the focus was
on Foster’s statement, in Syndicalism, that strikebreakers should be “ex-
terminated.” By 1919, Foster may have reasoned, quite realistically, that
if society would not tolerate activities that it deemed radical, then society
could not reasonably expect a radical to be forthright about his motives.®”

Almost immediately, the issue of Foster’s authorship of Syndicalism
was raised. Although the booklet had the names of two authors on its
cover, Foster assumed complete responsibility for these writings. He was
asked, straightforwardly, if he believed in “the doctrine of revolution”
that the pamphlet contained. He equivocated, noting that the small book
had been written “eight or nine years ago; I do not know exactly when,”
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and that “since then I have become possibly a little less impatient, a little
less extreme, possibly, in my views, considerably so, in fact. . . . Today [
am an advocate of the system of unionism as we find it in America and
England.” When asked again if he believed in the doctrine of Syndicalism,
Foster replied, “How far [my ideas] have changed I am not going to make
an issue in this campaign if I can help it.” At one point he responded,
when pressed, that he no longer entertained such views, and that he no
longer called himself a syndicalist.®®

Yet further on, he carefully stated that he did not believe in syndicalism
only as it was expressed in the pamphlet. Samuel Gompers, sitting next to
Foster at the hearings, “hissed” at him to make a categorical repudiation,
but the circumspect former railwayman remained evasive. He expressed
an undeniable truth when he stated that “if I was still a believer in that
book and tried to use it and put it into practice I would not be in the
position I am in.”%® Even so, the next day, the New York Times headlined
that “He Dodges Direct Answers: Admits Belief in Employees’ Control of
Industry, Extermination of Scabs, and Race Suicide.” Even in his post-
strike evaluation, Foster equivocated on the issue of whether or not he
remained a believer in the tenets of Syndicalism.”® Foster’s testimony
stood as lesson in the difficulties that faced the radical seeking the cover
of “legitimate” institutions. Occurring at the height of the postwar “red
scare,” the congressional hearings were a rehearsal for later inquisitions
that Foster would endure as a Communist. The irony of his situation at
the steel strike hearings was that, at the point of his very highest visibility
in American life, as a radical with a political identity he came closest to
disappearing. “I have no teachings or principles,” he pleaded. “I apply
the principles of the American Federation of Labor as best I understand
them.””! His statements that he had sold Liberty Bonds during the war
and supported AFL unionism made him an easy target of criticism by the
IWW and later, by factional opponents in the Communist party.

If the steel strike was a very public event, subject to the manipulations
of politicians, newspaper editors, and publicity men, it was at the same
time a “private war.” At this level as well, the steel strikers were facing
defeat in the last months of 1919. The prospect of some kind of federal
mediation of the strike had disappeared once and for all in early October,
when the President’s Industrial Conference proved unable to force Judge
Gary to enter into negotiations.”? Gary’s refusal to move toward union
recognition during the conference appeared to confirm that the original
decision not to postpone the strike had been an appropriate one. Eacour-
aged by the inability of labor to exert effective pressure in the realm of
purely public affairs, the steel companies stepped up their efforts to defeat
the strike in the mill communities, where their power seemed equally for-
midable. Company-influenced newspapers claimed that the strike had
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been defeated. Workers feared for their future livelihoods as an extensive
network of company spies and agents infiltrated the communities in order
to identify strike leaders and unionists. Black strikebreakers were re-
cruited from the South in increasing numbers. After the strike, Foster laid
much of the blame for widespread use of blacks in the struck mills at the
feet of the unions: “Many of them sharply draw the color line, thus feed-
ing the flames of race hatred.” In the future, the success of unionization
required that unions “open their ranks to negroes, make an earnest effort
to organize them, and then give them a square deal when they do join.”
However, at the height of the strike, he made an ill-considered assessment
of the motives of the black work force, and in so doing revealed his grow-
ing pessimism on the possibility of unity. “The colored worker,” he as-
serted, “is not very responsive to trade unionism. He seems to feel that the
best way he can solve his problem is to break down the white working
man. He acts as a scab at all times.””?

Given the degree of official repression and opposition to the walkout,
it is remarkable that workers stayed out as long as they did. However,
many were able to survive on Liberty bonds that they purchased during
the war, and many immigrants relied on their savings. In the National
Committee office in Pittsburgh, Foster, when told over the phone of an
organizer who had been arrested, replied sardonically: “Dig up your Lib-
erty Bonds and buy a little liberty.””* As the strike wore on, it became
clear that the forcible interdiction of free speech and assembly extended
even to the highest levels of the National Committee. On November 7,
when Foster arrived in Johnstown to address a meeting of steelworkers,
a group of plain-clothes policemen and prominent businessmen forcibly
escorted him back to the train station, ordering him to leave town. The
largest hall at the local Labor Temple had been jammed with strikers
waiting to hear him speak. Organizers continued to be arrested in
Johnstown despite this publicity.”

Faced with such opposition, the strike began to lose momentum. There
was some strike relief, but as the walkout continued, families found it
increasingly difficult to survive. In Monessen, one resident remembered,
“they starved, let me put it very straight to you. The strike [failed] simply
because the people didn’t have any food and didn’t have any money to
pay their mortgages, what have you.””® In November, production in the
steel mills began to rise significantly. Skilled, native-born American work-
ers returned steadily to their jobs; the Amalgamated made a crucial deci-
sion to allow certain of their members to honor previous contracts. By
early December, the National Committee had sent a telegram to its organ-
izers acknowledging that the strike was lost. Judge Gary, however,
showed that he was willing to maintain the level of hyperbole that had
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prevailed throughout the strike; he proposed that the nation had been
saved from “the closed shop, Soviets and the forcible [re]-distribution of
property.””’

In order to discredit the movement, employers, the national press, and
local authorities had emphasized Foster’s prominent role in organizing
and carrying out the strike, implying that he was something of a self-
appointed dictator. However, it is possible to see that Foster was a central
figure in the movement without subscribing to the notion that he was
merely hungry for power or a “master conspirator.” Above all, Foster
was an opportunist who was impatient with the niceties of union “de-
mocracy.” Understanding that significant resentment existed in the mill
towns toward the steelmasters, he had worked diligently to develop an
organizational vehicle through which rank-and-file grievances could be
addressed; in so doing he was able to exercise a significant degree of indi-
vidual leadership. However, as the employers perhaps understood, Fos-
ter’s leadership represented a challenge to traditional craft union ideals
about the way in which strikes should be conducted. According to tradi-
tional formulae, the conduct of a strike was to be carefully circumscribed
by elaborate procedures that combined membership approval with “con-
trol” by the international officers. At National Committee meetings
where often only half of the affiliated international unions were repre-
sented, Foster developed aggressive policies and then presented the inter-
national leadership with a series of faits accomplis. William Hannon, the
representative of the Machinists on the National Committee, commented
revealingly on the conduct of the strike machinery:”®

The steel strike was handled differently from any strike that 1 have ever
been connected with. In practically every other strike . . . the officers of the
International organizations affected have handled the situation, acting as an
executive committee to direct the strike. In this strike, the Secretary of the
National Committee assumed the leadership, the International representa-
tives having but little to say about its direction. Of course, when the Na-
tional Committee met, the action taken was generally approved.

David Saposs, who witnessed several National Committee meetings,
later recounted how “Foster was an exceedingly able man and at these
national committee meetings [AFL leaders] were helpless. They couldn’t
take issue with Foster or with Fitzpatrick—they were tongue-tied.”
Moreover, at the level of a national organizing campaign, the old-style
skills of the craft union leaders seemed irrelevant. “It was something that
they didn’t know anything about and they might have been good at nego-
tiation, but it was so strange, so foreign to them that they felt helpless and
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they acquiesced with everything that Foster and Fitzpatrick suggested.
They were glad to get the damn thing off their hands. They never had any
faith in it anyhow.””?

Foster himself became a leadership symbol to the strikers and organiz-
ers. In the last weeks of the strike, Heber Blankenhorn, an investigator for
the Interchurch World Commission, recounted how Foster had faced a
district organizers’ meeting for five or six hours. “Men’s nerves [were]
rasped by three months of strike with all sorts of accusations of bad faith,
betrayal, shortage of commissary, etc.” Foster, despite his pleas that he
had come only “to listen,” was forced to speak the moment he arrived.
“At the end of the session, criticism had quite disappeared, no personal
criticism of him stood anywhere and there was a general feeling that eve-
rything had been explained and everything done that could be done.”
Foster took some pride that his skills also encompassed the ability of the
“modern” trade unionist to channel radicalism among the rank and file
into “constructive” channels. He told Blankenhorn that his role as the
conflict ended was to argue against radicals who could “sweep an entire
meeting off its feet and get wild applause for any sort of drastic pro-
posal.” In reality, according to Foster, the radicals “have no reason in
their plans,” or “really have no plans but only very destructive criticism.”
Even so, David Saposs, who interviewed numerous steelworkers as an
investigator for the Interchurch World Commission, remembered that
Foster was the figure to whom most steel strikers attached their personal
loyalty.8

As the strike ended, Foster pushed for the continuation, rather than
disbandment, of the National Committee. “The fight must be made a
permanent one,” he proposed. This in itself may have been interpreted as
a rather ominous move by AFL officials, since the Amalgamated had
withdrawn from the committee almost immediately upon the demise of
the strike and had claimed that the committee had been infringing on its
jurisdiction in the late stages of the conflict. D. J. Davis of the Amalga-
mated claimed later his union had withdrawn “because irresponsible men
had been appointed [as organizers] by Secretary Foster, in charge of vari-
ous cities.”®! Foster proposed that a large corps of organizers stay in the
field, and that a steelworkers’ bulletin in several languages be distributed
regularly. Activist nuclei would be maintained in each steel community.
“A vigorous campaign of education and reorganization will be immedi-
ately begun and will not cease until industrial justice in the steel industry
has been achieved,” Foster promised, quite optimistically.3?

Nevertheless, he resigned as secretary of the steelworkers’ committee in
favor of his friend J. G. Brown effective February 1. He later claimed that
he had resigned “entirely of my own volition,” but admitted also that
he desired that a “new phase of the work go ahead with a clean slate,”
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presumably meaning that he wished that the committee not be further
discredited by his presence.®®> However, it was rumored that Foster had
had a direct hand in choosing Brown to continue as secretary, and that
Foster and “other radical members” of the committee continued to deci-
sively influence its deliberations.® Meanwhile, workers returned to work
bitter, uncertain, and discouraged. In Monessen, strikers were required to
personally apologize to the plant superintendent before reclaiming their
old positions, and in Colorado workers submitted to mandatory physical
examinations and signed statements vowing their cooperation with man-
agement and loyalty to their country. “A feeling of despondency runs
through the ranks of the workers,” Saposs reported after the strike.
“Many vow that they will never join a union again.” While some workers
felt that they had “demonstrated their power quite effectively against
these giant corporations,” the predominant feeling seemed to be that “the
steel corporations are invincible and that striking is useless.” In the spring
and summer of 1920, Roger Baldwin and the newly formed American
Civil Liberties Union inquired with the National Committee about the
possibility of beginning some kind of free speech campaign in Western
Pennsylvania in support of a new organizing drive. Brown replied that the
withdrawal of the Amalgamated had caused the collapse of the commit-
tee’s organizing work, and that he was “winding up its affairs.”%’

Despite Foster’s claim after the walkout that it had “raised the prestige
of the trade union movement wonderfully with the steel workers,” the
strike was unmistakably defeated. The prospect of collective bargaining
in the steel industry was as dim as it ever was, and the power of the
companies in the mill towns remained undiminished and was, perhaps,
even enhanced. The steel strike was, as Foster put it in more sober mo-
ments, a “tremendous defeat” for unionism and had a lasting effect on all
American workers in the sense that it foretold the powerlessness of labor
in the face of the open-shop movement of the 1920s. It was not until 1923
that the eight-hour day was finally established in the steel industry.3¢
Moreover, the crushing of the unions in 1919 showed how easily a pro-
gressive labor cause could be crippled by accusations that its leadership
was “red.”®” Thereafter, radicals would never be as comfortable in the
“legitimate” American labor movement, and many, including Foster,
searched for other avenues by which to pursue their aims. Foster himself
would never openly lead another strike.

Despite its defeat, the steel strike and its complex lessons became part
of the historical consciousness of an emerging generation of activists and
organizations. Men like John Brophy and Philip Murray, who were cen-
tral in the establishment of the CIO nearly two decades later, participated
in the 1919 organizing campaign. Roger Baldwin, who helped to found
the American Civil Liberties Union in 1920, walked picket lines in Chi-
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cago during the strike and offered Foster a position on the body’s first
national board.®® The packing and steel campaigns provided the Commu-
nist party with its first substantial issue in the labor movement of the early
1920s, “amalgamation.”

As for Foster, the steel strike marked the high point in his career as a
labor radical. The historian Philip Taft termed the organizing campaign
“one of the great organizing feats in American labor history.” However,
the movement’s defeat was also an ominous affirmation of Foster’s own
problematic position in American society. Theodore Dreiser, in a 1941
tribute to Foster, wrote that the steel strike was “where, perhaps for the
first time, America began to see itself clearly.”® Dreiser did not explain
what he meant by this remark, but the 1919 strike was remarkable at
least in part because it acted to momentarily precipitate and clarify the
deep divisions that had developed within American society in the first
decades of the twentieth century. Most importantly, in respect to a con-
sideration of Foster’s life, it was an event that symbolized that the bound-
aries of American citizenship had become more tightly constricted and
more explicitly delineated. During the years in which Foster was most
active in the American labor movement, immediately before and after
World War 1, the exclusion and deportation of aliens, immigrants, and
dissenters reached an unprecedented level. Anarchists, Wobblies and
“bolsheviks” were the primary targets of chauvinist hysteria. Between
1912 and 1917, as one historian put it, the United States Congress “aban-
doned the conviction that radicalism could be a home-grown phenome-
non.””® In this atmosphere, Foster was deemed most “dangerous” be-
cause he was a radical and also most demonstrably an American.

During this period Foster also sought, as did thousands of others, to
achieve economic citizenship through unionization. Such citizenship may
have represented to some a vehicle by which workers could merely
achieve a larger share of an expanding American capitalism. To others it
meant gaining the means to resist the increasingly powerful and arbitrary
control of managers and foremen in the workplace. For the leadership of
one of the largest sectors of the economy, the organizing campaign and
the empowerment that it promised was perceived as radical enough to
deserve unyielding opposition and suppression. If the steelmasters justi-
fied their intransigence by invoking their own paternalistic and ultimately
benign interest in their employees and their communities, the history of
the decline and dissolution of American steel towns must stand as testi-
mony to the fragility of their intentions. Yet this history is also a
testimony to the limitations of Foster’s vision. Needless to say, the estab-
lishment of powerful, integrated industrial unions in the 1930s did not
prevent what took place in the steel industry in later decades. During
Woodrow Wilson’s second Industrial Conference, which met immedi-
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ately in the aftermath of the steel strike, a group of labor leaders was
asked by The Survey to propose solutions to the “labor problem.”
Among the replies were “Equal Citizenship,” “Nationalization,” and a
“National Labor Board.” Foster’s solution, predictably enough, was
“Organization.” For him, unionization would remedy the central prob-
lem in the steel industry: “property rights are supreme and human rights
negligible. The representatives of property have complete control.” In the
Great Steel Strike and Its Lessons, Foster concluded that “when our mili-
tants generally adopt English methods, and turn their whole-hearted at-
tention to building up and developing the trade-union movement—that
hour will be the dawn of a new day for American Labor.”’! Much of
Foster’s later career would show the immense difficulties involved in
accomplishing this vision.



Chapter 6

LABOR ORGANIZER AND COMMUNIST

This is not the first time that I have been a guest of a city,
and as I looked around me I saw many others who had
been guests of the American government and of almost
all other governments in the world. But it certainly
was the first time that any of them were honored
guests. . . . You can tell my enemies to go to hell.
—Jack Johnstone, writing to John Fitzpatrick from
Petrograd during his first visit to Russia

IN A 1924 article in which he described his role in the Chicago Federation
of Labor during the meatpacking and steel campaigns, Foster reflected
that his position had been that of “a free lance in the general trade union
movement.” To a certain degree, this was an accurate description. He did
not belong to any explicitly revolutionary organization at the time that he
gained his most notoriety as a radical, even though the leadership Chi-
cago Federation of Labor was classified in some official circles as “revolu-
tionary.”! During the 1910s, he had woven ephemeral groupings of trade
union radicals around his unique brand of anarcho-syndicalism, but
these had dissolved by 1918-19, the years of the most militant strike
activity in American history. These organizations drew their inspiration
from broad and eclectic sources. In addition to referring to trends in the
international labor movement, they seemed peculiarly suited to the ag-
gressive activities of many radical unionists during the Progressive Era.
They sought, in varying degrees, to combine elements of the radical syndi-
calism of the IWW with the pragmatism of the Socialist party’s “boring
from within” approach. Yet the SLNA and the ITUEL bore certain char-
acteristics that marked them as uniquely personal organizations. Foster
was advertised prominently as secretary-treasurer of each of the syndical-
ist leagues, and their founding manifestos were authored by him. He him-
self had refused, for various reasons that seemed to him purely realistic,
to adapt his radicalism to membership in either the IWW or the Socialist
party. In a sense, his greatest successes at the end of the decade were
personal successes; no particular workers’ organization ultimately en-
hanced its power or gained prestige as a result of the packinghouse and
steel organizing drives.
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In notes for a 1923 article entitled “What Lies Back of Foster,” David
Saposs meditated on the role of the “free-lance” radical within the labor
movement. These “borers from within” had come to appreciate, through
their experiences, that “aggression leads to isolation,” and that an essen-
tially pragmatic attitude was the soundest way to further their goals.
Also, they sensed that American workers and labor leaders had grown
“touchy” on “isms,” and that “any idea that appears tainted with ‘high
browism’ or foreign contact” impaired their usefulness to labor organiza-
tions if they were so labeled. Free-lancers thus keep “their [social] aspira-
tions and ultimate ideals under cover.” Foster, according to Saposs, em-
bodied the difficulties and contradictions of the “detached” labor activist
within the AFL. He did not publicly criticize AFL leaders or officers dur-
ing the steel strike, and “resented criticism of his own course by the intel-
lectuals and revolutionary radicals.” While the- free-lancer found it al-
ways necessary to subordinate his own goals while working behind the
scenes, if the steel strike had been successful, Saposs conjectured, Foster
would have been able to assert his independence of AFL officials and step
out of his subordinate role. Then, he could have been more free to speak
his mind. However, more often the free lance had to content himself with
remaining a “regular” in order to remove suspicion from himself. Saposs
was a friend of Foster’s at the time, and understood his motives as well as
anyone. “His is very largely the position of the stepchild or adopted citi-
zen, he is there by sufferance,” Saposs wrote.?

In the period immediately after the steel strike Foster’s organizational
affiliations changed, yet Saposs’s insights into the nature of his career
remained essentially accurate. In the previous decade, he had been seek-
ing the status of “radical regular” in the AFL. In the early 1920s, he
would become both a Communist and a free-lance radical working
within the AFL; however, in each case he remained, for the time being,
“in” but not “of” each organization. In each cycle he showed that he was
willing to accommodate his views somewhat to his new affiliation, but
the process was not entirely opportunistic. In the 1910s, his activities in
the AFL were not inconsistent with his earlier theorizing about the way in
which the wages system would eventually be abolished. In the early
1920s, he might have inflected his radicalism in a more conservative di-
rection, as John Fitzpatrick eventually did, in order to maintain a signifi-
cant role within the Chicago Federation of Labor. Instead, he became a
part of the central leadership of the Communist party. However, despite
a period of experimentation with united front labor politics in the 1920s,
the sine qua non of Foster’s radicalism remained his idea that the revolu-
tionary movement in this country would develop out of the trade unions.
Immediately after and during the steel strike, the newly founded Ameri-
can Communist parties did not come close to sharing this view, and the
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tactics and orientation of the Socialist party were based on an under-
standing of political citizenship that Foster rejected. Thus Foster once
again determined to create a league encompassing the militant minority
within the AFL, while at the same time publicly promoting his particular
brand of syndicalism, which some critics called “Fosterism.”3

When he resigned as secretary of the National Committee for Organiz-
ing Iron and Steel Workers in late 1919, Foster did so with the idea in
mind of creating a new organization of trade union militants. This objec-
tive was momentarily delayed; it would be nearly a year before he was
able to pull together another syndicalist league. In the meantime, his ac-
tivities seemed to lack coherent purpose. Certainly the events of 1918-19
had provided him with much to ponder. Later, he wrote that the defeat of
the steel strike required a revision in his strategy. His hopes of using the
steel strike as an entering wedge in a campaign to organize American
mass-production industries were gone, as also was his “hope of over-
throwing the Gompers machine by the mass organization of the unorgan-
ized.”*

Did Foster, as a result of the defeat of the packing and steel campaigns,
begin to doubt that his strategy of revolutionizing the AFL from within
could be successful? As would be true throughout his career, his “scien-
tific” perspective on the inevitable development of unionism remained the
basis of his faith when the workers and the unions failed to perform as
anticipated. However, Foster was no grim determinist; he blamed the de-
feats of the immediate postwar period in large part on the lack of a well-
organized militant minority in the AFL, and his statements at the conclu-
sion of the steel campaign indicate that he felt that the next phase of his
activities in the labor movement must proceed as much along educational
as organizational lines. Foster occasionally used the term “education”
interchangeably with “sabotage,” but his formation of yet another educa-
tional league after the war can also be seen as consistent with his admira-
tion of the ideas of Lester Frank Ward, a progressive theorist whose writ-
ings Foster admired at the time.’ His shifting focus in 1920 was in part
reflected by the fact that immediately after the strike he concentrated his
energies on writing his classic account of the conflict, The Great Steel
Strike and Its Lessons. It was a relatively unusual undertaking for a labor
organizer. He wrote to Roger Baldwin in February, 1920 that “for the
past few weeks (or should I say for the past few years) I have been so
damned busy that I hardly know which end of me is up. . . . [ am so busy,
as peculiarly busy in fact as a fish out of water—I, a roughneck, am writ-
ing a book.”¢

Foster’s nebulous status in 1920 is illustrated by his lack of direct in-
volvement in the “outlaw” railroad strike of that year. As a result of
wartime legislation, American railroads had remained under federal con-
trol, and strikes were thus prohibited. However, the government repeat-
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edly refused to grant wage increases in the industry in spite of the steadily
increasing inflation, and after the government control was lifted in March
1920, wildcat strikes of switchmen, engineers, conductors, and firemen
spread throughout the nation. Attorney General A. Mitchell Palmer pub-
licly accused Foster of being behind the walkout, but Foster issued a blis-
tering denial. He asserted that he knew none of the individuals who were
advertised as strike leaders, and dismissed Palmer’s accusations as an at-
tempt to boost his campaign for president. Still, the strike suggested to
Foster the need for organizational coherence among the militant railroad
employees. He noted that it was likely that “there never was a big strike
in this country more spontaneous and unplanned than the one in ques-
tion.” Indeed, in its monthly reports to the Department of Justice early in
1920, Military Intelligence reported that Foster “and his former associ-
ates are now in Chicago, where an active interest in railway circles is
being manifested by them.”” When he formed the Trade Union Educa-
tional League later in the year, much of its propaganda was aimed at
discontented railroad shop workers.

Although he was not listed as an official delegate, the “red radical” of
the recent steel strike attended the AFL convention in Montreal in June.
The issue with which the convention was most concerned was the Plumb
Plan for nationalizing the railroads. Since 1919, the International Associ-
ation of Machinists and its Socialist president, William Johnston, had
lobbied intensively in Congress for some form of continuance of federal
administration after the war ended, even though during the red scare,
nationalization was met with intense opposition. The New York Times
editorialized that the Plumb Plan was “a venture into radical socialism—
a very long step towards the principles of Lenin and Trotsky and of Soviet
Government.” Nonetheless, at the 1920 AFL convention, the IAM dele-
gation was influential in securing approval of a resolution favoring gov-
ernment ownership. Foster was seated with the Railway Carmen delega-
tion during the voting on the issue, and knew Martin Ryan, the union’s
influential president. Foster interpreted the convention’s approval of the
Plumb Plan as a defeat for Gompers, and may have felt that the AFL
president’s days were numbered, since even Matthew Woll, one of Gom-
pers’s most trusted associates, voted with the railroad unions. A Wobbly
who was in Montreal at the time and who was acquainted with Foster
carefully noted his demeanor. “Foster was in high favor around the con-
vention hall. He was a conspicuous figure around the lobby and among
the groups of delegates. I met him in the lobby after the roll call vote on
the Plumb Plan resolution, and [he] said to me in great glee, ‘You see what
we’re doing? We’ve put the skids under the old man.’”#

The support of Socialists like Johnston in pushing through the Plumb
Plan resolution cannot have failed to impress Foster, for the only serious
contenders as an alternative leadership to that of Gompers were the So-
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cialists. As far back as 1912, writing for La Vie ouvriere, he had recog-
nized the importance of this socialist opposition; despite his profound
mistrust of their policies, he predicted that “the capture of the AFL by the
socialists will mark a deep change in the workers’ movement.”’ In addi-
tion, Johnston’s JAM aggressively took up the issue of amalgamation in
the immediate postwar period; this was a progressive program that was
very close to Foster’s own position on the problem of pushing the AFL
toward industrial unionism. Thus, it is not surprising that in May of
1920, months after the formation of the Communist and Communist
Labor parties, Foster was a prominent guest at the Socialist party’s na-
tional convention in New York. In a well-received address, he envisioned
a new strike in the steel industry that would be a signal for a general strike
of all workers. “When the big strike comes, we want the steel workers,
the mine workers, the railroad men and every trade in,” he proposed.
When he was introduced, the New York Times noted, Foster was greeted
with “a tremendous demonstration of approval.” Only the mention of
the name of Eugene Debs, who was incarcerated at the federal penitenti-
ary in Atlanta, gained a more enthusiastic reception by the delegates.!

Despite his prominence in labor and radical circles after the steel strike,
Foster drifted in his “free-lance” role in 1920. He resigned his position as
a Brotherhood of Railway Carmen organizer, and was unable to secure
employment as a car inspector because he had been blacklisted in Chi-
cago.!! His position in the AFL was ambiguous, as illustrated by his
status at the Montreal convention. As if to underline his uncertain situa-
tion, Foster became business manager for the New Majority in July. This
would be perhaps the most incongruous position he would ever hold, for
Foster was temperamentally unsuited for office work despite his tremen-
dous organizing ability. His job required that he work to increase the
paper’s circulation and promote labor party initiatives among Chicago
unionists. His tenure proved to be quite unsuccessful; the newspaper ran
up huge deficits during the summer of 1920. During this period, New
Majority noted, there was a notable “apathy” among unions affiliated
with the CFL in generating subscriptions. The AFL national office pres-
sured many locals of international unions to withdraw support from Fitz-
patrick’s labor party initiative. Interestingly enough, beginning in No-
vember, immediately after Foster’s resignation and the defeat of the
Farmer-Labor party ticket, the paper began to generate surpluses once
again. Nonetheless, his resignation was abrupt, and the New Majority
implied that this had created a “burden” for the editorial staff.!?

The end of the steel strike marked the beginning of a kind of “united
front” period for Foster, in which he found himself involved with causes
and groups that were not strictly trade unionist in orientation. During the
strike, he began an interesting relationship with the American Civil Liber-
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ties Union. In November 1919, he had invited the ACLU to investigate
civil liberties in Pittsburgh. As the strike wore down, he proposed that
ACLU speakers in Pennsylvania might “help get civil rights for the strik-
ers” and generally “open up” the situation.!* Although these proposals
came to nothing with the collapse of the strike, Foster’s relationship with
the ACLU showed that he had begun to look outside purely working-
class organizations for support of his initiatives and ideas. B. W.
Huebsch, a member of the ACLU national board, published Foster’s
book on the steel strike. Beyond the ACLU, liberals seemed to receive
Foster positively. In 1920, the publication of a sympathetic interpretation
of the steel strike by the Interchurch World Commission, an interdenomi-
national body of socially conscious Protestant clerics, drew widespread
negative comment by a variety of groups that had been opposed to the
unionizing drive, including the National Civic Federation. The commis-
sion itself, during its investigation of the strike, questioned Foster in a
sympathetic manner and refused to resort to the kind of red-baiting that
the Senate investigatory committee had indulged in. Articles in the New
Republic were uniformly supportive of Foster and his activities. The diffi-
culties encountered by unions in gaining favorable publicity and free
speech seemed uppermost on Foster’s mind when he assented to Roger
Baldwin’s request that he become a member of the national board of the
ACLU. “Altho [sic] I make it an inflexible rule to belong only to strictly
trade union organizations,” he wrote, “I feel that I should make an excep-
tion in the case of your body. If there is anyone in this country who
should realize the necessity of free speech and do all possible to achieve it,
it is my humble self.”

Foster remained mostly aloof, though, as organized labor sought to re-
define and reassert its citizenship in the first years of the decade. Despite
his syndicalist background, he could not have helped being exposed in
1920 to the widespread sentiment among unionists that some type of
political action by labor would be necesssary in the postwar environment.
John Fitzpatrick had been a persistent opponent of Samuel Gompers’s
nonpartisan political stance, and had helped create the Labor party of
Cook County in 1918. In April 1919, he polled a sizable fifty thousand
votes in his candidacy for mayor. In November, as the steel strike waned,
Fitzpatrick called a conference in Chicago that resulted in the formation
of the American Labor party. During the summer of 1920, the new party
merged with the Committee of Forty-Eight, a group of ex—Bull Moosers
and Liberals led by Amos Pinchot; the result was the Farmer-Labor party.
In 1920, Parley Parker Christensen ran for president and Max Hayes for
vice president under the aegis of the new party; in November, they polled
three hundred thousand votes. The labor party movement in 1920 had
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broad support, not only among Chicago unionists, but also among gar-
ment workers in New York City, the International Association of Ma-
chinists, the railroad brotherhoods, and mine workers. For Fitzpatrick,
the widespread use of the injunction against strikes in Chicago and the
successes of the British Labor party were powerful arguments impelling
him toward involvement in labor politics.!®

During the steel strike, Foster had refused to allow labor party exhor-
tations to be published in the National Committee’s official strike bulle-
tin. Finally, John Fitzpatrick prevailed upon him to allow some publicity
to enter the strike literature.’® By 1920, however, there are indications
that Foster the syndicalist was developing closer ties with the labor party
movement. He was a delegate at the Farmer-Labor party convention in
Chicago in 1920. Two of his closest associates, Samuel Hammersmark
and J. W. Johnstone, had also established significant relationships in this
direction. Hammersmark was the secretary treasurer of the Cook County
Labor party in 1920. Though he resigned in May 1921, as late as 1922,
his name appeared on a Cook County Farmer-Labor party primary elec-
tion ballot. Johnstone was head of the party’s organization committee in
1920.17 Harry Ault, a friend of Foster’s from his days in Seattle, was
prominent at the FLP’s founding convention in Chicago in 1919, and
helped establish a ticket in Washington State during the 1920 elections. In
a letter to Ault, Foster seemed positively disposed toward his efforts:
“From the faint echoes of the strife reaching here it would seem that you
fellows have a dandy chance to carry your state. If so it will be an epoch-
making achievement. More power to you, say I.” Working as business
manager for the New Majority, Foster himself occupied a prominent po-
sition on the Farmer-Labor party’s official organ. Later, he wrote that
“during the course of the meat packing and steel campaigns my old Syn-
dicalist anti-politics had started to collapse. So much so that by 1920 1
had begun to be active in the Labor Party, then centering in Chicago.”!®

This, however, was somewhat of an overstatement. The alacrity with
which Foster dropped his affiliation with the New Majority, and the fact
that he was willing to embark upon a new venture almost immediately
after the November elections suggests that he had been thinking along
other lines for some time. Writing to Ault in October, he hinted at his
plans: “After the election a few of us here are about to launch a project
which I think will interest you very much.” By mid-November, the Trade
Union Educational League had come into being. Its headquarters during
its first months of existence was in the Chicago Federation of Labor
Building at 166 West Washington Street. While Foster had broadened his
scope somewhat since the steel strike, the new league was essentially a
reprise of the Syndicalist League of North America and the International
Trade Union Educational League, albeit with minor adjustments. For in-
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stance, Foster now called much more explicitly for industrial unionism.
In a letter to Upton Sinclair, he asserted that “it seems to me that it is time
that the left wing of the great labor movement develop an industrial pro-
gram. It had one fifteen years ago, but that led to the IWW and all these
years of impotency. The time is ripe for another, and the new one, if it is
to fare better than the last, must call for the development of the inevitable
industrial unionism thru the old trade unions.”*® Foster was clearly ex-
cited about the prospects for starting up another syndicalist league, and
it is easy to imagine that despite his uncertain affiliation (and income)
during this period, he worked day and night to develop contacts and a
credible program for his new venture.

One of the few published documents relating to the new league con-
tains a classic statement of “Fosterism.” The emphasis on the militant
minority, the belief in the “evolutionary process to industrial unionism,”
the reference to trends in the international labor movement, and the al-
most overwhelming sense of personal leadership are reflected in this one-
page leaflet, called quite simply “A Statement of the Aims of the Trade
Union Educational League.” Although it implores the reader to subscribe
to The Labor Herald, there is no evidence that any issues of this newspa-
per ran until 1922. It concludes with a request that “all workers desirous
of making a real effort to put the labor movement upon an industrial
basis are requested to communicate with the undersigned [Foster].” In
some respects, this statement of aims is even less radical than that of the
previous ITUEL. While there is an overt emphasis on industrial unionism,
it is unmistakable that progress in that direction would be gradual and
“natural” rather than revolutionary. It is enough for Foster merely to
point out that unions “are constantly broadening and extending their
scope of action. This they are doing through a whole series of get-together
devices, familiar to all experienced trade unionists, such as amalgama-
tions, federations, departments, local councils, joint agreements, com-
mon organizing campaigns and strikes, extensions of jurisdictions to in-
clude women, negroes, the unskilled, etc. etc.” There is no talk of the
abolition of the wages system or a labor party. It was a program calcu-
lated to find approval among a wide spectrum of progressive unionists.2’

True to the putative intent of his new league, Foster departed on a long
speaking tour for the Amalgamated Clothing Workers in late November.
His friend David Saposs, educational director of the ACW, organized the
tour. The ACW had been able to donate the huge sum of one hundred
thousand dollars to support relief for the steel strikers in 1919. In 1920,
the fact that Foster was engaged by the union to embark upon a lecture
tour during which he would supposedly promote the program of his new
league illustrated his strong ties with progressive trade unionists. Indeed,
a central focus of Foster’s lectures, the need for the amalgamation of craft
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unions, while consistent with his earlier statements, was essentially con-
gruent with the views of Sidney Hillman, the Socialist president of the
Amalgamated.!

In early 1921, Foster gave a lecture for an organization called the Chi-
cago Workers’ Institute that developed into an acrimonious debate with
his audience. He began his talk with an admonition: “Quarantine your
ideas by taking them away from the unions where the masses are, or
spread them by fighting the conservatives on the floor of the unions—that
is the choice you radicals have to make.” This led to a hot dispute with
IWW partisans in the crowd, who violently objected to his arguments. He
accused radicals of having “violated the first principle of working class
solidarity. They have forsaken the real organizations of labor, based
upon common economic interests, and have formed outside organiza-
tions, based upon a revolutionary creed.”??

It is impossible to know whether or not his audience that evening in-
cluded Communists, but if so, Foster’s message could not have helped but
antagonize them. The two American Communist parties that had been
founded in Chicago by dissident left-wing factions of the Socialist party
at the height of the steel organizing campaign were, at the time of Foster’s
speech, entering into unity negotiations. However, the two parties would
not finally merge until May. At their inception, the Communist groups
resorted to underground, conspiratorial tactics, partly as a result of their
members’ infatuation with the revolutionary élan of the Bolsheviks, and
partly because they were driven below the surface of American life by the
red scare and the Palmer raids. Although in early 1921 the issue separat-
ing the two parties was the difficult question of whether or not the move-
ment should emerge from the underground and engage in “legal” tactics,
on the issue of unionism and the AFL, there was still a general consensus.
The Communist Labor party endorsed the “revolutionary industrial un-
ionism” of the IWW), “whose long and valiant struggles in the class-war
have earned the respect and affection of all workers everywhere.” The
Communist party merely noted that “the A.FL. is reactionary and a bul-
wark of capitalism. It is actually an enemy to the workers.”?3

However, during the steel strike, both the IWW and the fledgling Com-
munist parties had seemed uncertain about how they should react to the
unrest. On the one hand, they offered sharp critiques of Foster’s syndical-
ist aims and methods. The Communist gave him a nickname that must
have seemed appropriate to those who scorned his “evolutionary” ap-
proach to industrial unionism: “E. Z. Foster.” The organ reiterated that
the AFL, into which Foster sought to organize the workers, was in fact
“the arch enemy of the militant proletariat.” As a result, both Communist
parties had no immediate program for the strike, and did not have a plan
for organizational work. All that was offered were two slogans: “Make
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cism, his disdain for ideological expressions of “democracy” and nation-
alism, his opportunism, and even his vision of the future workers’ society
are consistent with what came to be labelled “Bolshevism.” It is no coinci-
dence that when he arrived in Moscow, he was in the company of many
of the leading figures in European syndicalism. Pierre Monatte, whom
Foster had befriended in Paris in 1911, Alfred Rosmer, Gaston Monmos-
seau, and Tom Mann were all syndicalist acquaintances of Foster’s who
were in the process of entering the Communist movement at the time.
Many European syndicalists were entranced by the writings of Lenin,
whose State and Revolution, published in 1919, repudiated the idea of
gradualist political action and called for the immediate destruction of the
state in a revolutionary upheaval. Lenin’s writings, at the time, were
called “Blanquism with sauce tartare.” His proposal that the proletarian
state was only transitional (“in a community without class antagonisms,
the State is unnecessary and impossible”) was appealing to anarcho-syn-
dicalists and radical unionists who had been accustomed to thinking of
Marxists as political reformists. However, the relationship between inter-
nationalist syndicalism and Communism would prove to be a difficult
one.*!

For Foster, it was the publication of Lenin’s “Left-Wing” Commu-
nism: An Infantile Disorder that accelerated his interest in Communism.
This pamphlet, which became available in the United States in 1921, was
an acrid polemic against the separatist assumptions of the new Western
Communist parties. The Bolshevik leader discussed an issue close to Fos-
ter’s heart: the problem of revolutionary work within reformist trade un-
ions. The pamphlet was written in the spring of 1920, when the possibil-
ity of revolution in Europe seemed increasingly remote and a number of
revolutionary uprisings had failed disastrously. Lenin referred sardoni-
cally to those Communists who, in light of recent developments, did not
understand the need to “compromise” and “maneuver” within reaction-
ary trade unions by whatever means necessary. “We cannot but regard as
... ridiculous and childish nonsense the ponderous, very learned, and
frightfully revolutionary disquisitions . . . to the effect that Communists
cannot and should not work in reactionary trade unions,” he wrote.
Communists “must imperatively work wherever the masses are to be
found.” In this pamphlet, Foster “found revolutionary dual unionism
condemned and the boring from within policy endorsed much more
clearly and forcefully than we had ever expressed it.” It is safe to conclude
that what initially drew Foster to the Communist movement was not
Marxist philosophy, but rather a powerful exposition of a particular
tactic.3?

However, despite what he later termed his “joy and amazement” at the
appearance of the pamphlet, there were aspects of Left-Wing Commu-
nism that were inconsistent with “Fosterism.” Ever since his experiences



162 CHAPTER 6

in Seattle with Hermon Titus and the Workingmen’s party, Foster had
rejected the concept of a leading role for a political party in the labor
movement. In 1912, his advice to his fellow syndicalists had been simple:
fight political Socialists in the unions. James P. Cannon, a Communist
and the future founder of the Socialist Workers’ party, evidently had
some contact with Foster in 1920 or 1921 before the latter’s trip to
Moscow. At that point, Foster was still suspicious of the Communists’
political orientation and close relationship with the IWW. Although the
aftermath of the steel strike found him experimenting with a labor party
idea, this was a venture whose leadership was drawn from labor unions.
For Lenin, however, there was no doubt of the leading role of the party.
He began his disquisition on trade unions in Left-Wing Communism by
invoking this principle: “Actually, all the directing bodies of the vast ma-
jority of the unions, and primarily, of course, of the all-Russian general
trade union centre or bureau . . . consist of Communists and carry out all
the instructions of the Party.”33 Foster would spend much of the rest of
his career grappling with the implications of this conception of the role of
unions in the revolution.

Despite these problems, the powerful example of the Bolshevik revolu-
tion and the pronouncements of Lenin on the necessity of “boring from
within” finally inspired Foster to visit Russia. The Bolshevik leaders al-
ready knew of Foster as a possible U.S. ally. Lenin himself had received a
copy of Foster’s The Great Steel Strike and Its Lessons from John Reed in
the fall of 1920. Reed occasionally discussed American conditions with
Lenin, and wrote to him that Foster “has original ideas, a number of
which are very valuable. I know him personally.” That Reed may have
known Foster “personally” by late 1920 is suggestive of Foster’s previous
ties with the fledgling Communist movement in the United States. Reed
may have met Foster at the 1919 convention of the American Federation
of Labor, where the radical journalist interviewed a number of officials.>*

The formal invitation to visit Moscow came from Foster’s old acquain-
tance, Earl Browder. Browder’s political wanderings found him in New
York in 1920, a member of the United Communist party. It was his ac-
quaintance with American radical trade unionists, including Foster, that
would provide him with his first substantial responsibility as a Commu-
nist. Browder was assigned the task of recruiting an American delegation
to the forthcoming first congress of the Red International of Labor Un-
ions (RILU) or Profintern in Moscow, and he promptly went to Chicago
and looked up Foster. He found Foster to be a “sort of ‘lone wolf’ sort of
operator”; moreover, “E.Z.” Foster was still suspicious of Marxist poli-
tics in early 1921, according to Browder. Browder understood that Foster
was “in cold relations with the official leadership of labor,” and Foster
later admitted that at the time of his first contacts with the Communists
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his newly organized TUEL “faced a most unpromising struggle for exis-
tence.” After reading Left-Wing Communism, he sensed that there might
be a place for him and his struggling league in the Communist movement.
The role of traveling radical delegate was of course a familiar one for him.
The internationalist ideal retained a powerful appeal to Foster, as it did
for many other American and European syndicalists. In advance of the
Bolsheviks, syndicalists had taken steps toward the creation of a revolu-
tionary international of labor unions as early as 1913.%°

Foster joined the international Communist movement during a period
of retreat and reassessment for both. In the period immediately after the
revolution in Russia, the Bolsheviks had no real use for an international
trade union policy; given the perceived imminence of revolution in west-
ern Europe, what was most important was the organization of workers
into Soviets or workers’ councils under the leadership of Communist par-
ties. By September 1919, however, such tactics seemed increasingly irrele-
vant. After the war, instead of joining Soviets, masses of European work-
ers had flooded into the reformist trade unions. In order to counter the
prestige of the reformist International Federation of Trade Unions or
“yellow” international, the Bolsheviks moved to create a “red” trade
union center, and European and American syndicalist organizations, in-
cluding the IWW, were invited to join, even though the new international
was founded with the intent of reasserting the predominance of politics
within the trade unions.3¢

At the first formal Profintern congress, convened in July 1921, a large
delegation of syndicalists argued stubbornly against the idea that the
Communist union movement should be ultimately and organically con-
nected to the Communist political apparatus. However, Alfred Rosmer
and Tom Mann, two of Foster’s old syndicalist acquaintances, were
among those who argued for closer cooperation between the trade unions
and the Communist parties. Solomon Lozovsky, the head of the Profin-
tern, assailed the syndicalist aloofness from politics, maintaining that
politics was nothing other than “the active opposition of one class to
another.” He argued indignantly that to speak of the separation of eco-
nomic and political action was nonsensical. Foster, never punctilious
about theory, either agreed or acquiesced. His experiences of 1918-19
had driven home the idea that industrial struggles were to some extent
political in nature. More important, he was more often thinking in terms
of centralization and discipline, as his frequent mixing of strike and mili-
tary terminology illustrated. According to the Bolsheviks, the revolution
could not succeed without “the strictest discipline, without complete cen-
tralization.” In other words, the Russians and their allies replied to the
syndicalist invocations of spontaneity and decentralization with the argu-
ment that the class war must be fought with thoroughly “modern” organ-
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izational methods—a difficult argument for syndicalists like Foster to re-
sist. The writer André Tridon had written as early as 1912 that “syndical-
ists are modern if anything. . .. The past is dead and the future is un-
known. The immediate needs of the present hour are to them the sole
object of interest.”3”

Ironically, while Foster was undoubtedly sympathetic with the Bolshe-
viks on these points, he may have calculated at first that he could have his
TUEL and the advantages and prestige of international affiliation without
sacrificing a great deal of independence. Reflecting the intense contro-
versies at the congress, its final “Program of Action” contained several
compromises. The four points of the resolution affirmed main tenets of
the revolutionary syndicalists: the importance of direct action, industrial
unionism, workers’ control, and organization of factory committees. Dif-
ferences of interpretation between Communists and syndicalists on each
point were left unresolved. It was publicly acknowledged that the links
between the RILU and the parties of the Communist International would
be of “an organic and technical character,” but that neither organization
would be subordinate to the other. Recognizing the importance of gradu-
ally winning the allegiance of the organized sectors of the working class
in the West, the Comintern early on tended to allow a degree of independ-
ence for the Profintern, which E. H. Carr has termed “by far the most
powerful and important” of the Comintern’s auxilliary organizations.
During the 1920s, the Profintern developed into “more than a mere sub-
sidiary organ.” However, in an unpublished Profintern protocol, it was
determined that “On all bureaux established by the [Profintern], the
Communist party of the same country shall have adequate representation
with decisive vote. Where disagreement arises between the party and the
bureau, the position of the party shall prevail, pending appeal to and
decision by the [Central Executive Committee of the Comintern].” Brow-
der and William D. Haywood signed a document at the congress which
stated that “in case of disagreement between the American Bureau of the
RILU and the Communist party, the party decision prevails until final
decision in Moscow.” Foster’s own “instructions” from the RILU upon
being appointed “special representative” of the RILU in the United States
carried the same requirement and stipulated that “your work in the
United States will be to follow STRICTLY the principles and general poli-
cies laid down by the Congress of the RILU.” To keep an eye on things,
Browder, in acting as Foster’s assistant, would also function as “informa-
tion agent for the Executive Bureau of the RILU in Moscow.”38

With regard to the matter closest to Foster’s heart, the Profintern was
quite specific: “The question of creating revolutionary cells and groups
inside the American Federation of Labor and the independent unions is of
vital importance. There is no other way by which one could gain the









LABOR ORGANIZER AND COMMUNIST 169

American society. In Syndicalism, he had proposed that capitalism had
organized all dimensions of society in its own image. The only “space” or
independent social sphere that might be established was within the trade
union movement. However, by 1922, his faith in the transformative
power of labor unions, as well as his belief in the inevitable evolution of
unions into higher forms of organization, had been dramatically called
into question. Within this historical context of defeat, he was led to posit
an alternative teleology, as well as a more explicit (because it had seem-
ingly been actualized by the Soviet Communists) vision of the “new soci-
ety.” It is not surprising that his understanding of capitalism as a “total”
form of social organization caused him to project as its alternative a total-
izing, uncategorical revolutionary ideology. He quoted Zinoviev approv-
ingly: the Communist party “is an organization dealing with all sides of
all questions, without any exception.” Foster wrote admiringly that the
party, “if it is omnipresent, it is also omnipotent. Although it is entirely
unofficial in character, it has the deciding voice in all social questions.”*®

While certain aspects of Soviet society appealed to Foster and seem-
ingly confirmed aspects of his earlier speculations, there is no doubt that
a careful observer would have entertained doubts about the survival of
the revolution in the summer of 1921. Traveling near Leningrad, Foster
saw that “the countryside was devastated, many bridges were lying in
rivers, the people were poverty stricken.” In Moscow, the whole popula-
tion seemed to be “living on the edge of starvation, everybody looked thin
and wasted.” Significant political dissent existed as well; “it was the pe-
riod of the Kronstadt revolt and many peasant uprisings” and “numerous
threatening strikes” in Moscow. Foster’s dry and empirical dispatches as
well as the abundant evidence of the fragility of the revolution suggests
that he was first attracted to Communism because of the power and disci-
pline of the Party, not because of any messianic faith in the future of the
socialist ideal in Russia.*

In the midst of this, Foster witnessed a spectacular ritual affirmation of
his revolutionary ideal. “Once in a while one has an experience that can
never be forgotten so long as life lasts,” he wrote. In June, he was present
at a mass demonstration held in Red Square in honor of the Third Con-
gress of the Communist International. In the huge cobblestone square, he
watched a parade of the Red Army, after which Leon Trotsky in plain
military uniform reviewed the troops. It seemed to be a completely differ-
ent scene from years eatlier, when as a young man he had observed Kaiser
Wilhelm review his troops on the eve of World War 1. The Soviet officers
were “conspicuous by their lack of the usual military swagger and blus-
ter.” Foster was overwhelmed by this display of the power of the Red
Army. The symbolism here was democratic and international, with heter-
ogeneous groups of civilians, students, factory groups, and trade union-
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ists marching with crack military regiments. Yet the Communist party
groups particularly impressed Foster. The party, he noted, “is the brain
and backbone of the Russian revolution,” its elite shock troops. In un-
characteristically exaggerated prose, Foster proposed that “no capitalist
country possesses armed forces which, man for man, could meet them
successfully in battle.” Significantly, the party groups marched at the very
head of the parade. “In Russia the Communists are first in war and every-
thing else.” He watched them march by “with more interest than I have
ever bestowed on any other body of human beings in my life.” Foster
reflected that “it seemed as though 1 saw the soul of the revolution.”
Witnessing this military display was clearly the emotional high point of
Foster’s first visit to the new Soviet Union.*

Before he left the Soviet Union, Foster went on a day trip with five
other international delegates to what Foster described as a “workers’ rest
home” approximately twenty miles from Moscow. Accompanied by Sol-
omon Lozovsky, the party drove to a confiscated Russian estate where
they were warmly greeted. The other guests were supposedly workers
who had been chosen by their unions to enjoy the privilege of a vacation
at the retreat. Foster’s personality was ascetic, almost to an extreme. Yet
it is striking that beginning in 1921, he was always afforded the trappings
of prominence and a degree of physical comfort in the Soviet Union that
he never enjoyed in the United States. This would be true, quite literally,
to the day of his death. In 1921, the group was shown around their hos-
tel, which “was furnished with the still-barbaric splendor characteristic
of Russian mansions, with gilt and gold everywhere.” After a hearty din-
ner Foster and the others played Russian games. The next day there was
fishing, as well as boating, swimming, and hikes throughout the estate. In
the evening, a concert was given in the huge ballroom, followed by a
singing of the “Internationale.” Foster had witnessed a demonstration of
the fruits of the revolution, seemingly available to everyone according to
merit.’!

It is interesting to imagine how Foster conceptualized the new order in
the Soviet Union. Prominent Communists seemed to have access to privi-
leged treatment. During the parade that he witnessed, the army seemed to
him well fed, despite the scarcity of food. Foster understood that there
was a certain inequality in the distribution of goods, despite the egalitar-
ian impulses behind the revolution. There is no evidence, however, that
participation in the privileges accorded Communist party membership in
the Soviet Union prompted contradictory feelings in Foster, who had al-
ways written bitterly about inequality in the United States, and who ded-
icated his life to the idea of working-class empowerment. The sacrifices
and hard work of the few extraordinary militants in the Soviet Union
justified their special status. On the other hand, there is no doubt that
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Foster harbored the revolutionary’s ambivalent feelings about the inert
masses. Occasionally, his assumptions about the deep inadequacy of the
workers could be expressed quite brutally. In an advertisement for the
pampbhlet he wrote on his experiences in Russia, Foster wrote honestly

about the role of the “militant minority”:5?

I am not astonished or discouraged that the workers are making a poor job
of establishing the new society in Russia—I have had too much practical
experience with the masses to expect anything else. Have I not organized as
many as three or four thousand packinghouse or steel workers in a single
union and then searched in vain among them for even one skilled or adapta-
ble enough to keep the simple financial accounts of the organization or con-
duct its meetings? What, then, could I expect from the even less experienced
Russian workers with the enormous tasks of the Russian revolution sud-
denly thrust upon them? Nothing more than the shrieking incompetence and
indifference of the masses that I found-—with a few live wires doing all the
real work.

However, after his return to the United States, Foster wrote that “by their
heroic and wonderful achievements in the past the Russian workers breed
confidence for the future.”*3

In his later autobiographical accounts, written after years of participa-
tion in Party factional fights, Foster’s descriptions of his visit to the Soviet
Union are characterized by an inflated literary style that seems to border
on cynicism. In 1921, “in the midst of . . . chaos and ruin, triumphant
over its world of enemies,” he wrote, “stood the brave Russian working
class, led by the indomitable Communist Party with the great Lenin at its
head.” He had realized at the time that he “must stand shoulder to shoul-
der with the embattled Russian workers, win, lose, or draw.” He had
been, in 1921, “deeply certain that the Russian workers had found the
way to Socialism and eventual Communism.” As for his own views, “in
Leninism I found the answer to every major revolutionary problem.”3
While traces of this kind of rhetoric are evident in his writings in 1921, by
1937 examples would abound in his prodigious output of books, pam-
phlets, and articles. Foster’s public presentation of his politics was char-
acterized by a peculiar doubleness, rendering his political “self”
problematic. His gradual adoption of the inflated style of the Commu-
nists symbolizes as much as anything the devaluation of the rhetorical
means to his political self-definition. In 1921, joining a vigorous debate in
American labor circles about the nature of the new Soviet regime, Foster’s
propaganda often seemed cold and ersatz.

Foster’s journey into the world of Communist politics was also a jour-
ney into a lexical environment that was different from the one in which he
had been immersed during his years in the Chicago labor movement. Al-
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though he came to understand himself as a Communist “theoretician”
only much later in his life, after 1921 he gradually, and perfunctorily,
began to adopt the terminology of orthodox Marxism. It was not an alto-
gether unfamiliar language to him; after all, he had begun his career in
radical politics as a member of Hermon Titus’s Socialist local in Seattle.
However, while working within the Chicago labor movement, where
“isms” were often greeted with skepticism, he had largely eschewed the
phraseology of Marxian radicalism. He believed that he and a small cote-
rie of militants could advance the revolution without embracing the lan-
guage of “ultimate” demands. To a large extent he would continue to
believe this, as his early years in the Communist movement would illus-
trate.

It is impossible to understand Foster’s attitude toward the language of
American radicalism without reference to his organizational ethos, and
the historical context in which this ethos emerged. In his earlier career,
Foster’s thinking had been characterized by a curious combination of ele-
ments of American Progressivism, with its emphasis on organization and
integration, and the nineteenth-century anarchism of the “Chicago Idea.”
Increasingly, however, he embraced the undemocratic implications of the
organizational ethos, and rejected the assumptions of the anarchists,
which he considered retrogressive and threatening to his conception of
the way a revolution would be brought about. What Foster admired
about the Russian Revolution was the discipline (and power) of the Com-
munist party, and its ability to inspire the submission of individual will to
a larger, ultimately progressive imperative. Despite the fact that elements
of his syndicalism would remain with him during his career as a Commu-
nist, Foster conceived of his entrance into the Communist movement as a
kind of conversion, an act that was radically discontinuous from his ear-
lier politics and which set him free, so to speak, from his own history.
According to From Bryan to Stalin, in 1921 he accepted his new identity
as a Communist “without difficulty, though I had been a syndicalist for
a dozen years.”*’

Foster’s admiration of the revolution and his willingness to become a
Communist are consistent with the central assumptions of the “borer
from within,” that the primary responsibility of those seeking fulfillment
of a particular goal is to seek first a viable organizational base. “The
Russian Communist Party was the highest type of organization ever pro-
duced by mankind,” he concluded.’® Once inside, the true voice of the
“borer from within” can be found only with difficulty because it has been
confined by the requirements of the organization. This never really troub-
led Foster, for unlike American socialists like Eugene Debs, he would
always be more concerned with the structure of the revolution than with
its moral authenticity. In addition, his belief that it is natural for a pro-
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gressive movement to “camouflage” its aims with “phrases” confirms his
devaluation of the language of revolution. This devaluation was part and
parcel of Foster’s whole analysis. “The Socialist party in this country col-
lapsed because it was built upon talk, instead of upon the solid founda-
tion of the trade union movement,” he wrote shortly after becoming a
Communist.*’

In Foster’s world, power and “talk” were oppositional categories, not
related to each other in any stable way. The influence of the Communist
party derived from its organizational strength, which in turn originated
with the skill and energy of the cohesive, elite militants of the Leninist
vanguard. On the other hand, according to him, the Socialist party had
“degenerated into a movement of the poor and discontented of all
classes.” In Foster’s mind, the Socialist party was associated not only with
an expansive definition of citizenship and the politics of inclusion but also
with “talk” and powerlessness. Communism was fundamentally exclu-
sive, and associated with organization and the conquest of real power. It
is striking that this series of oppositions contains intimations of gender:
like many of his contemporaries, Foster associated organization (and ex-
ecutive ability) with manhood and Socialist politics with traits like
“utopianism” and impracticality. In the class war the rhetoric of citizen-
ship was futile and empty; the socialists, Foster averred, had given up the
“vitalizing” doctrine of the class struggle.’® These themes can be traced
backward as well as forward in Foster’s autobiographies. In a more basic
and elemental sense, this aspect of his politics was consistent with his
portrayals of his childhood: he was opposing the Catholicism of his
mother, which he had rejected at an early age as ineffectual and supersti-
tious, with the militant, insurrectionary Fenianism of his father.

Foster returned to the United States at the end of the summer of 1921.
During the journey home, he had much to ponder. In the aftermath of the
steelworkers’ organizing campaign, he had brought together another
syndicalist league, but the direction this organization would take seemed
uncertain. Was the Trade Union Educational League to become only a
clearinghouse for the ideas of progressive unionists, or a center for the
dissemination of a more radical program? Foster’s aversion to “talk”
meant that he would not be entirely comfortable with either orientation.
However, if the league was to be an organizing vehicle, how could mo-
mentum for unionizing drives be built in the context of the defeats of
1918-19? As Foster considered these questions, he was entering into an
uncertain relationship with the American Communist movement. There
is no evidence, however, that he was particularly wary of his new allies;
indeed, he seemed to embrace the Communists and the Russian Revolu-
tion wholeheartedly. His accounts of his visit to the Soviet Union, written
before he became a Communist, exude a sense of vindication. He secretly
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joined the American Communist party soon after he returned from
Moscow. David Saposs remembered that when he, his wife, and Esther
met Foster at the train station in Chicago upon his return from the Soviet
Union, he seemed like a “new man.”® Thus, once again Foster returned
to the United States inspired, convinced that practical trade union mili-
tants in America could learn important lessons from the experiences of
European revolutionaries.



Chapter 7

THE “FREE LANCE” AND THE
COMMUNIST PARTY

The fate of the Communist party depends upon the
control of the masses, through the capture of the trade
unions, without which revolution is impossible.
—William Foster, 1923

ArTHOUGH William Foster secretly became a Communist shortly follow-
ing his return from Moscow in September 1921, he would remain some-
what of a “free lance.” For nearly a year and half, he publicly denied that
he belonged to the Party. This denial represented more than simple pre-
varication or wariness about possible prosecution; the defining character-
istic of his career in the 1920s would be his discomfort with his new allies,
his uncertain fit within the early Communist movement. In his first years
as a Communist, the Trade Union Educational League would be the pri-
mary focus of his activities. The dichotomy was not a rigid one, but dur-
ing this period the two organizations developed along different lines. The
early Communist movement, based primarily in New York, sought un-
abashedly to impose the model of the Russian Revolution on its activities
in the United States. In this milieu, Foster was often viewed as a trade
unionist without deeply held Communist convictions. On the other hand,
despite his admiration of the Russians, once Foster returned to the United
States in 1921, he sought to create a radical movement for industrial un-
ionism that would be peculiarly adapted to American conditions. He ex-
pected that his TUEL, centered in Chicago, could function relatively
unhindered within the Communist party apparatus as its trade union
section.

It is striking that very little of the practical program that was called
“Fosterism” in the war years changed after he became a Communist. In
March 1921, shortly before his trip to Moscow, Foster defined the issue
that would be the Communist party’s central focus in the labor move-
ment in the early 1920s: amalgamation. For him, amalgamation was as
much a result of natural “evolution” in the unions as it was a strategy
developed by devoted militants seeking to reorganize the existing trade
union bureaucracy. Its advocates “have no plan or theory, but [work]
pretty much as immediate circumstances dictate,” he noted. Events after



176 CHAPTER 7

the war showed that the railroad unions in particular were ready for the
next phase in this evolution. “Amalgamation of the sixteen railroad craft
unions into one industrial union—that’s the railroader’s next step,” Fos-
ter proposed.!

In Foster’s conception, amalgamation meant full-scale industrial un-
ionism. A decade earlier he had denied that the labor movement must
move toward centralization in lockstep with the gigantism of large corpo-
rations, and had decried the “utopianism” of IWW-style industrial un-
ionism. Now, following a series of demoralizing defeats, the earlier feder-
ation idea seemed outmoded. Whereas industrial unionism had been as
much a state of consciousness as an organizational form in Foster’s un-
derstanding of revolutionary tactics, now the idea of solidarity became
more purely instrumental. The duty remained, however, for a few radical
specialists to work within the existing unions to achieve their aims. While
trade unions were revolutionary “at heart and in their daily actions,”
their structure was to be elaborated with networks of minority organiza-
tions, shop steward and shop committee movements, amalgamation com-
mittees and educational leagues. Beyond the workplace, labor politics
should be subordinated to the initiative of that fraction of American
workers who were organized: “The trade unions are the only possible
basis for a successful Labor Party.” However, Foster still had no coherent
idea about the role of politics in establishing his planned fusion of the
unions. He would prove unable effectively to manage his new relation-
ship with the Communists during his first years in the party, and while he
understood the strength of labor’s impulse to political action in these
years, he viewed the labor party initiatives of both Communists and pro-
gressives with a mixture of resignation, suspicion, and contempt.?

Nonetheless, by early 1922 Foster had come to believe that with the
support of the Communists, the TUEL could develop a radical and realis-
tic movement for industrial unionism in the United States. He achieved
some noteworthy successes. For a brief period, amalgamation occupied
the center of debates over the future of the labor movement in the United
States, and the TUEL and a small but active group of non-Communist
militants openly challenged the defensive posture assumed by much of the
mainstream leadership of the American Federation of Labor following
the setbacks of the war years. Yet, Foster’s uncompromising aversion to
any form of “class collaboration” set him apart from many progressive
unionists during this period, and his deep ambivalence about the role of
politics in the labor movement would sharply limit the scope of the small
movement for industrial unionism begun by him and his dedicated group
of union radicals.

While Foster calculated that the future of the TUEL lay with the Com-
munists, his antipathy toward the Socialist party gradually sharpened.



THE “FREE LANCE” AND THE PARTY 177

During the steel strike he had worked closely with Socialists like James
Maurer, president of the Pennsylvania Federation of Labor, and after the
war he was still held in high regard by figures like Kate Richards O’Hare
and Eugene Debs. His growing involvement with the Communists obvi-
ously rendered such relationships more problematic, despite the fact that
he joined the Communist party at a time when it was being pressured by
Moscow to act more like the Socialist party from which it had split in
1919. Foster’s affiliation with the Communists after his return from Rus-
sia coincided with the Comintern’s turn toward a united front perspective
and its campaign to convince the American Communists to assume a
more realistic attitude toward the trade unions. In the last months of
1921 the Communists organized the Workers® party as a “legal exten-
sion” of their underground party even though many Communists still
quite adamantly refused to participate in “open struggles.” Despite these
changes, a defining characteristic of this stage of Foster’s career would be
the retention of his disdain for the Socialist party and the democratic
ideals it represented. When a delegation of Communists approached Eu-
gene Debs seeking his support shortly after his release from the Atlanta
Penitentiary in the spring of 1922, he promised a meeting with Foster, but
had other things to say as well. “The Communists are finally waking up
to the fact that they should work in the unions. But perhaps they do this
with the wrong motives—not to build up a vigorous labor movement, but
simply to use the unions as channels of Communist propaganda,” he told
the delegates. “Some groups propose to take orders from men in Moscow
who know absolutely nothing about American conditions. I know more
about American psychology and conditions than all the leaders in Russia
know in five years, and I will not accept my orders from a maniac like
Zinoviev.” Debs went on to ask, “since when, I want to know, has social-
ism become synonymous with Communism? I am not a Communist and
I don’t want to be one, and I do not believe in MINORITY RULE.”3

Partly as a result of his association with the Communists, Foster the
dangerous wartime labor leader achieved an intensely controversial pub-
lic identity in the first years of the decade. The New York Times termed
him “America’s most prominent exponent of Soviet Russia’s regime.”
This, of course, would have implications for his activities in the labor
movement, where Foster preferred to portray himself as only a “radical
regular,” and where, in the early 1920s, discretion would become ever
more highly valued. At the University of Wisconsin, the influential labor
economist John R. Commons stirred up criticism when he invited Foster
to address a mass meeting at the University Armory. Commons remem-
bered that in a classroom meeting, Foster gave “the most scholarly ac-
count I have heard of the evolution of Communist doctrine from Marx to
DeLeon to Lenin.” At Columbia University the faculty refused to allow
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Foster to speak on campus, shunting him to an off-campus location
where he was attacked by egg-throwing protesters. Charlie Chaplin in-
curred the curiosity and wrath of red hunters when he held a reception for
Foster at his home in Hollywood.*

In his first years as a Communist, Foster remained a flexible tactician
who was untroubled by the nuances of Marxist theory. His earliest pro-
nouncements added up to an inchoate version of American exceptional-
ism, the idea that unique conditions in the United States required funda-
mentally different tactics than those pursued by other Marxist parties.
While still in Moscow, he wrote that America was the exception to the
idea, still “prevailing in Marxist circles,” that nations with the greatest
industrial development also have highly developed labor movements.
Furthermore, his experiences led him to believe that ethnic diversity and
a high degree of prosperity did not explain America’s particularly weak
labor movement. Rather, it was purely because of the intellectual “back-
wardness” of American militants that the unions were peculiarly attenu-
ated in the United States; the strategizing of labor radicals was too often
infected with the impractical, utopian ideal of dual unionism. This kind
of analysis did not go unchallenged. Later, responding to another airing
of this idea, one Comintern authority, Z. Leder, accused Foster of confus-
ing the American labor movement with the American labor bureaucracy,
and pronounced that “Foster does not perceive the obliquity of his polit-
ico-historical outlook.” Leder implied that the central assumptions of the
militant minority were fundamentally flawed; “We must not forget that
human beings and organizations alike, are merely the instruments of his-
tory,” he intoned. Despite the fact that the review carried the imprimatur
of high-level official sanction, Foster wrote an impertinent private rebut-
tal to its author and complained bitterly about its publication to Solomon
Lozovsky, the head of the Profintern.’

Lozovsky, whom Foster had met during his first trip to Moscow,
proved to be an important political ally in the Russian party apparatus.
A short man with a large black beard and a nervous manner, Lozovsky
remained director of the Profintern from its founding until its dissolution
in 1937. A Bolshevik exile who had returned to Russia in 1917, he was
nonetheless expelled from the party the following year because of his
views on trade unions: he was an early and vociferous advocate of union
independence from state control. Nonetheless, by 1920 he had surfaced
once again as secretary of the All-Russian Union of Railway Workers and
shortly thereafter as head of the Profintern. During his long subsequent
career, he was known as an agile politician and “survivor”; after his serv-
ice as head of the Profintern he was elevated to deputy foreign minister, a
post he held from 1939 to 1946. In his later years, the American party
held him in high esteem: in an unusual gesture, it presented him with an
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American automobile as a gift. A popular figure with Western journalists,
Lozovsky managed to evade every Stalinist purge but the last. He was
arrested in 1949 for “plotting against Stalin” and was executed in 1952
for conspiring to “tear the Crimea away from the USSR” and create a
Jewish state as a bulwark of American imperialism on Soviet territory. He
was rehabilitated in 1956. Nikita Khrushchev remembered Lozovsky as
an intensely committed and indefatigable antifascist, and recalled his de-
mise with particular regret.

During Foster’s visit to Moscow Lozovsky had promised financial sup-
port for the TUEL, and soon after arriving back in the United States
Browder wrote a letter reminding him of the agreement. “The plans made
with Borden {Foster] are being carried out. . . . We don’t need a great deal
but we must have our journal,” he importuned in a letter intercepted by
the Bureau of Investigation. In early 1922, Browder telegramed that not-
withstanding the sale of ten thousand copies of Foster’s pamphlet The
Russian Revolution, the league still needed ten thousand dollars to start
up the Labor Herald. He promised Lozovsky that “Foster will lead Na-
tional Movement. Starting throughout country March to organize Left
Wing under name of TUEL. Connections estimated in 500 towns; Foster
comes out publicly for RILU.””

However, when the Labor Herald finally appeared in March, it would
have been difficult to identify it as a Communist journal. Its opening
statement of principles did not mention anything about a labor party,
dictatorship of the proletariat, or support for the Soviet Union, even
though the Russian Revolution was cited as proof of the validity of the
concept of the “militant minority.” All this was in line with Foster’s belief
that all “aggressive” social movements had to “camouflage” their aims,
yet he immodestly declared that “the launching of the Trade Union Edu-
cational League marks a turning point in American labor history.”®

Before the first issue of the Labor Herald appeared, Foster mailed out
preliminary circular letters that carefully outlined the rules, objectives,
and methods of his organization. He imagined a movement that would be
national in scope and focus, in which all of its adherents acted in syn-
chrony under the guidance of an elite cadre of militants. The campaign to
organize the TUEL “will be carried out somewhat along the principles of
a military drive,” he wrote. His first mailings went to one thousand “spe-
cially selected live-wire workers.” Membership was limited to members
of the trade unions in good standing, but the organization was divided
into sections according to industry rather than craft. An “army” of radi-
cals would exercise influence in the labor movement through “rigid appli-
cation of modern organizational methods.” These methods “are the very
heart of the league’s program,” he wrote. The first objectives were not
centered around any particular grievance of labor against their employ-
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ers. The initial step of the local leagues would be a campaign to amalga-
mate the sixteen railroad craft unions, with the aim of influencing an
upcoming convention of the AFL railway employees department.

In Foster’s rhetoric and strategizing, there was a predictable blending
of modern business and revolutionary methodology: mass mailings, mar-
keting, sales, and bureaucratic efficiencies were all adopted to insurrec-
tionary purpose. All League members would be required to subscribe to
the Labor Herald: “anyone who does not realize the necessity of a power-
ful official organ can be of no service to the League.” Moreover, an enter-
prising militant “can make considerable money” selling subscriptions.
The circular letters carefully outlined the order of business for the first
meetings of the local groups, with precise guidelines for election of offi-
cials. In presenting his aims to local unionists and workers, Foster drew
upon the familiar dichotomies. At one meeting in New York, he made it
clear that his organization had no place for “utopian dreamers.” He had
come to New York to “talk business,” and there would be “no oratory,”
just plain “man to man” talk about the task of revolutionizing the labor
movement.’

As he began the campaign for industrial unionism among the railroad
unions, Foster’s new organization quickly gained the attention of the Na-
tional Civic Federation, which in turn sought to involve the United States
Department of Justice in suppression of his activities. As the first issue of
the Labor Herald was circulated, the Civic Federation sent copies of Fos-
ter’s “correspondence and material” to the presidents of the railroad
companies. Moreover, the federation asked J. Edgar Hoover to “get in-
side” the TUEL and supply the names of “key” men. The “leading labor
men” of the NCF could then see to it that the TUEL leaders were expelled
from their unions, it was explained. The Justice Department was assured
by the NCF that this process would remain “absolutely discreet.” Wil-
liam J. Burns, the director of the Bureau of Investigation, wrote that this
was “a wonderful idea and we will be delighted to help out.”!° Subse-
quently, Burns had his agents follow Foster and take careful notes on his
speeches and meetings. The erstwhile private investigator assured one
concerned citizen that the bureau was “keeping in touch with all of {Fos-
ter’s] movements.” Robert H. Lovett, then assistant attorney general,
wrote to a concerned vice president of the Pennsylvania Railroad that the
Bureau of Investigation considered “Foster’s organization as one of the
most dangerous in this country today.”"

The small group of radical unionists who worked with Foster and the
TUEL operated in an extremely difficult economic environment in late
1921. That year saw a major depression, during which the unemploy-
ment rate hovered near 20 percent. Employers, unnerved by the huge
increase in union membership that had occurred during the war years,
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took advantage of the high rate of joblessness and aggressively pursued
the “American Plan” to introduce “freedom of choice” and the open shop
in union strongholds. Unemployment and insecurity would shadow
workers in large sectors of the economy throughout the decade; some
well-informed observers estimated that it was as high as 13-15 percent in
1929 on the eve of the stock-market crash. In this context, the TUEL early
on focused its efforts on “education” of embattled unionists rather than
organization of the vast majority of unorganized workers. From its incep-
tion the TUEL offered little to unemployed workers.!?

As the economy lurched into recovery after 1922, TUEL cadre would
face other strategic challenges. The decade witnessed a significant overall
rise in real wages and decline in working hours for most industrial work-
ers, but also an exponential increase in the intensity of most jobs and a
suffocating constriction of traditional forms of shop-floor independence
as managers resorted to a variety of techniques to boost productivity.
Time-and-motion experts and machine-paced production lines were now
ubiquitous features of many workers’ worlds. Perhaps most symbolic of
the industrial ethos of the 1920s were the successes of Henry Ford in
thoroughly mechanizing and subdividing the work process while provid-
ing his workers with an unprecedented standard wage. To workers con-
fronted with the tribunes of modernity on the shop floor, the TUEL of-
fered the prospect of a stronger, more militant unionism and an end to
“class collaboration.” More penetrating criticism of the newest forms of
industrial production was generally absent from the propaganda of the
league. Despite the fact that the paradigmatic Ford regime was exhaust-
ing and dehumanizing for many assembly-line workers, Foster was an
admirer of Ford’s techniques. He was delighted that Fordism was being
widely imitated by Communist industrial managers in the Soviet Union in
the 1920s; he predicted that this would enable the Soviets to catch up
with the United States in consumption and industrial production within
a decade.!

In contrast to the war years, the leadership of organized labor was in
a coldly pragmatic and minimalist mood, weakened by a number of
major defeats. Samuel Gompers, in particular, actively sought to repress
the initiatives of radicals within the AFL, and his regime generally acqui-
esced to the introduction of new techniques of managerial control on the
shop floor. Yet, spreading rank-and-file discontent with conservative un-
ionism and the activities of the TUEL would test Gompers’s approach
severely. Most importantly from Foster’s perspective, progressives and
socialists in the unions, despite their experimentation with “new forms of
struggl